Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission Reports of Governing and Major Subsidiary Bodies



Twenty-second Session of the Assembly

Paris, 24 June - 2 July 2003



Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission Reports of Governing and Major Subsidiary Bodies

Twenty-second Session of the Assembly

Paris, 24 June - 2 July 2003

UNESCO 2003

IOC-XXII/3 Paris, 30 July 2003 Original: English

(SC-2003/CONF.214/CLD.37)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	I	Page
1.	OPENING	1
2.	ORGANISATION OF THE SESSION	3
2.1	ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA	3
2.2	DESIGNATION OF THE RAPPORTEUR	3
2.3	ESTABLISHMENT OF INTRASESSIONAL COMMITTEES	3
2.4	INTRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTATION AND TIMETABLE	3
2.5	ANTON BRUUN AND N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES	4
3.	STATUTORY REPORTS	4
3.1	STATEMENT OF THE CHAIRMAN ON THE STATE OF IOC	4
3.2	REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY ON PROGRAMME AND BUDGET IMPLEMENTATION	4
3.3	REPORT OF IOC ACTIVITIES (2001–2002) TO THE NEXT UNESCO GENERAL CONFERENCE	
3.4	PRESENTATION OF THE DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET 2004–2005: BACKGROUND ASSUMPTIONS	6
4.	PROGRAMME MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS BY THE ASSEMBLY	7
4.1	GENERAL POLICY ISSUES	7
	4.1.1 Medium-term Strategy for IOC	7
	4.1.2 Report of the Consultation of Member States on Resolution XXI-5	
	4.1.3 Guidelines for the Establishment of Regional and Project Offices4.1.4 Progress Report on the Implementation of the New IOC Publishing Policy	
	4.1.5 Feasibility of Establishing a Regular Process for the Assessment	
	of the State of the Marine Environment	. 11
	4.1.6 Follow-up of Key Recommendations of the External Evaluation4.1.7 Results of the External Audit of Science Sector Focused on	. 13
	Hydrology (HYD) and the IOC (Managing and Governing for Results)	. 14
4.2	OCEAN SCIENCES SECTION	. 15
	4.2.1 Role of IOC in the Development of Standards for Ocean Research	
	and Operational Oceanography	
	4.2.2 Terms of Reference of the Programme Elements in Ocean Science4.2.3 Report of the 6th Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel on	
	Harmful Algal Blooms	
	4.2.4 Activities of SCOR Relevant to the IOC	19

4.3	OCEA	AN SERVICES SECTION	19
	4.3.1	Progress Report on the Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management	19
	4.3.2	Report of the 2nd Session of the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy	
	4.3.3	Report of the 17th Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange	
4.4	OPER	ATIONAL OBSERVING SYSTEMS SECTION	23
	4.4.1	GOOS Activities	23
		4.4.1.1 Report of the 6th Session of the Intergovernmental Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System	
		4.4.1.2 Draft Memorandum of Understanding between UNEP and	
		IOC Concerning the Relation between UNEP's Regional Seas Programme and GOOS	26
		4.4.1.3 Memorandum of Understanding between the International Council	20
		for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES) and the IOC	27
	4.4.2	Review of the Structure of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS):	
	4 4 2	Final Report	28
	4.4.3	Second Report on the Adequacy of the Global Observing System for Climate	30
	4.4.4	Draft Memorandum of Understanding between IOC and WMO Regarding	50
		Regulatory and Procedural Aspects of the Conduct of the Joint WMO-IOC	
		Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM)	31
	4.4.5	JCOMM Observation Programme Area: GLOSS Group	22
4.5	DECI	of Experts Adequacy Report ONAL ACTIVITIES	
4.5			33
	4.5.1	IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean (IOCINCWIO):	22
	4.5.2	IOCINCWIO-V Report IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific (WESTPAC):	33
	-1.012	WESTPAC-V Report	34
	4.5.3	The African Process and NEPAD	36
		4.5.3.1 The African Process for the Development and Protection of the	
		Marine and Coastal Environment in Sub-Saharan Africa and NEPAD	
		4.5.3.2 GOOS–AFRICA and ODINAFRICA.4.5.3.3 UNESCO Cross-cutting Projects on the Application of Remote Sensing.	
	4.5.4	Memorandum of Understanding between IOC and	
		the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (CPPS)	41
	4.5.5	IOC Activities in the Caspian Sea	41
4.6	UN C	ONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS	42
	4.6.1	Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology	42
4.7	CAPA	CITY-BUILDING, TEMA AND PUBLIC AWARENESS	43
	4.7.1	Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans (POGO)	44
	4.7.2	UNESCO-IOC Strategy on Capacity-Building for Remote Sensing	45
	4.7.3	Information Strategy	45
	4.7.4	Training and Technology Transfer in Africa for the Implementation	
		of Article 76 of the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)	46

5.	ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT	47	
5.1	DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET 2004–2005 4		
5.2	ELECTIONS OF THE OFFICERS OF THE COMMISSION AND MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL		
	 5.2.1 Election of the Chairperson of the Commission 5.2.2 Election of the Vice-Chairperson of the Commission 5.2.3 Election of the Members of the Executive Council 		
5.3	DATES AND PLACE OF THE TWENTY-THIRD ASSEMBLY AND THE THIRTY-SEVENTH AND THIRTY-EIGHTH SESSIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL		
5.4	THEMES OF THE NEXT A. BRUUN AND N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES		
6.	ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS AND SUMMARY REPORT	49	
7.	CLOSURE		

ANNEXES

- I. AGENDA
- II. ADOPTED RESOLUTIONS
- III. ADDRESSES
 - A. Opening address by Mr Koïchiro Matsuura, Director-General of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)
 - B. Opening address by Professor Su Jilan, Chairman of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO
 - C. Statement by Vice Admiral Conrad C. Lautenbacher, Jr. USN (ret.) Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere

IV. LECTURES

A. THE BRUUN MEMORIAL LECTURES, 2003

- Gas-hydrates a Potential Source of Energy from the Oceans by Harsh K. Gupta
- Energy from the Sea: the Potential and Realities of Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion (OTEC), by Patrick Takahashi

B. N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES, 2003

- Capacity-Building for Oceanography in Africa: the Case of Biological Oceanography in the IOCEA Region, by Kwarme A. Koranteng
- Capacity-Building for Oceanography in Africa Realities and Prospects: a Case Study of the IOCINCWIO Region, by Julius Francis
- V. REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE RESOLUTIONS COMMITTEE
- VI. PROGRESS REPORT ON THE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR OCEANOGRAPHIC DATA AND INFORMATION MANAGEMENT
- VII. GUIDELINES FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF IOC DECENTRALISED OFFICES

IOC-XXII/3 page (iv)

- VIII. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN WMO AND IOC REGARDING REGULATORY AND PROCEDURAL ASPECTS OF THE CONDUCT OF THE JOINT WMO–IOC TECHNICAL COMMISSION FOR OCEANOGRAPHY AND MARINE METEOROLOGY (JCOMM)
- IX. IOC MEMBER STATES
- X. LIST OF DOCUMENTS
- XI LIST OF PARTICIPANTS
- XII. LIST OF ACRONYMS

1. OPENING

The Chairman, Professor Su Jilan, opened the 22nd Session of the IOC Assembly at 10.00hr on Tuesday 24 June 2003.

The Director-General of UNESCO, Mr Koichiro Matsuura, addressed the Assembly. Mr Matsuura restated the high importance that UNESCO gives to the work of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission. This is illustrated by the fact that, in the UNESCO Medium-term Strategy (2002-2007), IOC is justly recognised as one of the two *flagship programmes* of the Organisation. IOC receives widespread recognition for its leadership and support of international scientific programmes and is recognised as being a reliable and effective partner when working with other UN bodies. The scope of the co-ordination needed in ocean activities is broad, extending across the social, economic and environmental aspects of sustainable development and responds to the principle enunciated in the preamble of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS): that the problems of ocean space are closely interrelated and need to be considered as a whole. The effective use of UNCLOS by Member States depends on the ability of the UN system to work together as a whole, utilising a clear division of labour. The Global Environmental Conventions adopted after UNCED, Agenda 21 and the recent series of World Summits have extended the responsibility of the UN system into new areas of work. Further co-operation, partnership and co-ordination on issues related to oceans and coastal areas are thus essential if effective and coherent action is to be achieved in this new international context. The new UN System Chief Executives Board for Co-ordination, in which UNESCO participates together with all the other Heads of UN Agencies, and its two high-level Commissions are trying to improve governance in the UN by giving a more executive character to the co-ordination role of its senior executives. Sadly, as a result of this reform, some of the standing co-ordination mechanisms, especially the former Sub-Committee on Oceans and Coastal Areas, have ceased to function. However, as requested by the World Summit on Sustainable Development and by last year's UN General Assembly Resolution on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, efforts are being made to identify and recommend a new mechanism. The Director-General encouraged IOC Member States to participate in the discussions that are taking place in the UN General Assembly on these issues.

3

4

The Director-General expressed his appreciation to the IOC governing bodies for approving an indicative budget and programme sufficiently in advance to be considered in the UNESCO planning process. He noted that this innovation has been acknowledged by the External Auditor as an improvement in the UNESCO internal governance practices, since it adds to the transparency and accountability of UNESCO's system of governance.

The return of the USA to UNESCO next October will create a unique opportunity to break the sequence of budgets that have been approved under the Zero Nominal Growth policy. The Director-General expressed his expectation that the General Conference will go along with the proposed \$610 million budget, a budget that would provide for the first time in many years a modest but real growth. The UNESCO Programme will be focused on a few main priorities. Although the management of water resources is UNESCO's first priority in the Natural Science Sector, IOC also will benefit from a substantial increase in its regular budget under the 610million-dollar budget scenario, fully compensating for the loss of the USA's contribution to the IOC Trust Fund. The Director-General, recognising that one of IOC's more pressing needs is to strengthen its Secretariat so that it may respond to the increasing demands on the Programme, reported that he is considering allowing IOC to use part of these new resources to hire personnel under the Limited Duration Assignment regime.

1

2

IOC-XXII/3 page 2

The Chairman, Prof. Su Jilan, in his opening statement, reported on the World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg. Both the Global Conference on Oceans and Coasts hosted by IOC here in Paris in December 2001, and the Extraordinary Executive Council of the IOC, convened immediately afterwards, were instrumental in gaining momentum for the Ocean agenda in the preparatory process. The Commission not only prepared the IOC Declaration to WSSD, but also played an important role in activating and promoting the consideration by the Summit of a full agenda of Ocean issues. There were three outcomes from the WSSD: the Heads of State Declaration; the Plan of Implementation; and the Series of type-II partnerships recognised by the process. It is a remarkable fact that the Plan of Implementation includes a specific reference to IOC in its paragraph 34. That paragraph addresses the important actions and commitments that are crucial for the future work of IOC, one of which is the participation of IOC in the Global Marine Assessment, a regular process to be established by 2004, which will be discussed further in this Assembly. The opening statements made by the Director-General and the IOC Chairman are reproduced in Annex III (A and B, respectively).

The Chairman also called the attention of the Assembly to the IOC guidelines for the Transfer of Marine Technology. Although the Transfer of Marine Technology is also referred to in the Plan of Implementation of WSSD, the IOC initiative attempts to help with the implementation of a critical part of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea. In promoting the transfer of marine technology, we are inviting the international community to use IOC as an honest broker between demand for ocean technology and the suppliers of that technology.

The Informal Consultative Process (ICP) on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, established in 1999 by the United Nations General Assembly, has proved to be a very useful exercise. The IOC has participated in all ICP meetings, assuming an important role in the fields of its competence and being clearly recognised as the focal point in Ocean Sciences and Ocean Services for the UN system. Last year, the 57th General Assembly of the UN, after evaluating the performance of the ICP, decided to extend its mandate for another three years. This is an important development that should have a positive impact on the governance of the ocean. Furthermore, through ICP, a broad recognition by governments that, to improve governance of the ocean, there is an urgent need to improve co-ordination of ocean affairs within the UN system. The role that IOC played in the past through ICSPRO and later on in the ACC Sub-Committee on Oceans and Coastal Areas (SOCA), as pointed out by the Director-General of UNESCO, will need to continue in the future mechanism to be established.

With regard to the internal working of the IOC, the Chairman reported on the interaction of the Officers of the Commission, on behalf of the Member States, with the Executive Secretary. Regular meetings have been held twice a year between the Officers and the Executive Secretary, one of which takes place immediately before meetings of the IOC governing bodies. This has turned out to be a very useful and practical instrument to bring closer together the everyday working of the Secretariat with the guidance of the Member States.

The Chairman called on the participants to stand in silence for one minute as a mark of respect for distinguished individuals who had collaborated with the Commission and had sadly passed away since the 21sr Session. Special reference was made to: Ms Elizabeth Mann-Borgese, a promoter of ocean governance and founder of the International Ocean Institute; Dr George Needler, a distinguished member of I–GOOS from the very beginning and a major contributor to WOCE; and Dr Manuel Flores, Scientific Secretary of the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (CPPS) and a long-standing fisheries expert in Latin America.

5

7

8

9

6

2. ORGANISATION OF THE SESSION

2.1 ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

- 10 The Executive Secretary introduced the Agenda, referring to Document IOC-XXII/1 prov. rev. 2. He noted that the evaluation of the Tsunami Programme requested by the Assembly at its 21st Session will only take place later this year; the findings will be reported to the 37th Session of the Executive Council in 2004. He informed the Assembly of a few minor changes to the Provisional Agenda and Timetable recommended by the Executive Council.
- *11* **The Assembly adopted** the Agenda, which is given in Annex I.

2.2 DESIGNATION OF THE RAPPORTEUR

12 Upon a motion by Argentina, seconded by Spain, **the Assembly accepted** with gratitude the offer by Mexico to provide the Rapporteur for the present session. **The Assembly designated** Mr Francisco Brizuela Venegas as the Rapporteur to act on behalf of the Member States to ensure the accuracy of the report of the Assembly.

2.3 ESTABLISHMENT OF INTRASESSIONAL COMMITTEES

- 13 **The Assembly accepted** the recommendations of the 36th Session of the IOC Executive Council, acting as the Steering Committee for the Assembly under Rule of Procedure 19(2), on the establishment of intrasessional committees, as follows:
 - (i) <u>Nominations Committee</u> (Agenda item 5.2): the Committee was chaired by Professor Dieter Kohnke (Germany) and had the following composition: Chile, China, Indonesia, Iran, Kenya, Russian Federation and USA;
 - (ii) <u>Resolutions Committee</u> (Agenda item 6): the Committee was chaired by Dr Geoff Holland (Canada) and had the following composition: Brazil, Chile, China, France, Japan, Republic of Korea, Russian Federation, Tanzania, United Kingdom and USA;
 - (iii) <u>Financial Committee</u> (Agenda items 3.4 and 5.1): this open-ended Committee was chaired by Dr David Pugh (United Kingdom), IOC Vice-Chairman, and had among its members: Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, France, India, Iran, Japan, Republic of Korea, Portugal, Russian Federation, Sweden, United Kingdom and USA.

2.4 INTRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTATION AND TIMETABLE

- 14 The Executive Secretary introduced the documentation for the Session. As was the case for IOC-XXI and EC-XXXV, the Action Paper (Document IOC-XXII/2) incorporated all information necessary to adopt decisions; it included references to relevant Annexes to the Action Paper, to information documents, and contained draft texts for the Draft Summary Report of the present session of the Assembly, as well as some Draft Resolutions.
- 15 **The Assembly expressed** its satisfaction of the Secretariat's effort in the preparation and circulation of documents required by the Assembly in the four working languages, and in particular of the Action paper.

16 **The Assembly adopted** the Revised Provisional Timetable (Document IOC-XXII/1 add. prov. rev. 2). The List of Documents is given in Annex X, the List of Participants in Annex XI, and the List of Acronyms in Annex XII.

2.5 ANTON BRUUN AND N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES

- 17 Dr Harsh K. Gupta, Secretary to the Government of India at the Department of Ocean Development, and Dr Patrick K. Takahashi, Emeritus Director of the Hawaii Natural Energy Institute, School of Ocean and Earth Science and Technology, University of Hawaii at Manoa, delivered the Bruun Memorial Lectures 2003 on "Energy from the Sea."
- 18 Dr Gupta made a presentation on "Gas-hydrates a Potential Source of Energy from the Oceans." The methane stored within and trapped below the hydrated sediments is estimated to be twice the amount of the total fossil-fuel energy reserves of the world.
- 19 Dr Takahashi addressed specifically "Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion (OTEC)", a technology that extracts clean, renewable solar thermal energy from temperature differences in the ocean. By describing OTEC as part of the essence of ocean energy, the author showed the way towards a sea of change, a *Blue Revolution*.
- 20 Dr Kwarme Koranteng, Director of the Marine Fisheries Research Division, Ministry of Food and Agriculture, Ghana, and Dr Julius Francis, Executive Secretary of the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association, delivered the N.K. Panikkar Memorial Lectures 2003 on the topic "Oceanography in Africa."
- 21 Dr Koranteng made a presentation on "Capacity-building for Oceanography in Africa: the Case of Biological Oceanography in the Central Eastern Atlantic Region." Some relevant capacity-building programmes of IOC and associated bodies were examined with a view to assessing possible impacts on oceanography in the IOCEA region.
- 22 On the same subject, Dr Francis spoke on "Realities and Prospects: a Case Study of the IOCINCWIO Region." The summaries of the Bruun and Panikkar lectures 2003 are given in Annex IV.

3. STATUTORY REPORTS

3.1 STATEMENT OF THE CHAIRMAN ON THE STATE OF IOC

23

24

The Chairman combined his statement on this Agenda item with his opening statement (Agenda item 1), covering the recent developments in the work of the Commission and its perspectives for the coming years. The Chairman's overall statement (covering Agenda items 1 and 3.1) is given in Annex III Part B to the present report.

3.2 REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY ON PROGRAMME AND BUDGET IMPLEMENTATION

The Executive Secretary introduced this item. He highlighted the IOC role in the preparation of the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD), which involved the coordinated work of IOC Member States, in close co-ordination with the Secretariat, to maintain the visibility of Oceans at the Summit. As a result of this work, Ocean issues are well covered in the Implementation Plan of WSSD. IOC received full recognition and was given the responsibility of playing a key role in building local capacity in marine science and sustainable management of the oceans and their resources. An important item of his presentation referred to the African Process and the achievements of the Partnership Conference, chaired by President Chissano of Mozambique and attended by other African Heads of State during WSSD. The Executive Secretary noted the inclusion of the outcomes of the African Process in the framework of the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) and the important contributions of African Member States and the expected donors. He then made a presentation on the most salient results of the IOC Programmes, showing the degree of accomplishment of the Data Buoy Cooperation Panel and the Argo floats deployment. He expressed concern regarding the gap between the available observation products and the developing countries' level of utilisation of them.

- 25 The Executive Secretary also introduced the document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 2 Progress Report on Budget Execution (2000–2001, and 2002) containing an overview of the current status of revenue and expenditure in relation to the IOC Regular Programme and the IOC Trust Fund Special Account, 1 January 2000–31 December 2001 and 1 January 2002–31 December 2002. He drew the attention of the Assembly to the satisfactory level of programme implementation achieved by IOC in the current biennium. The introduction of SISTER and SAP as management tools in UNESCO has enabled the Commission to achieve significant improvements in programme evaluation, accounting and budgetary systems, a need that had been identified in Recommendations 2.10 and 4.11 of the External Evaluation Report. The detailed reports in SISTER are online and open for consultation by UNESCO permanent delegations up to the Main Line of Action level. The Executive Secretary also presented updated information on the Member States' contributions to the IOC Special Account in 2003.
- 26 Some Member States expressed concern about the current level of staffing in the office of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific (WESTPAC); others addressed different aspects of the programme of IOC. Several Member States indicated that the chances of effectively coping with the growing workload of the Commission are seriously affected by the continuous staff reductions in UNESCO. This is in sharp contrast to the advice of the External Auditor who requested UNESCO to consider doubling the number of permanent posts in the IOC from 9 to 18 in a reasonable period of time.
- 27 **The Assembly invited** the Executive Secretary to expose his vision of the potential impact of the USA's return to UNESCO in October 2003.
- 28 Three scenarios of budget ceiling prepared by the UNESCO Secretariat for 2004–2005 all have direct financial implications for IOC: the Zero Nominal Growth Scenario (ZNG), with a total budget ceiling of \$544 million; the Reduced Real Growth Scenario (RRG), with a total budget ceiling of \$576 million; and a Real Growth Scenario (RG) with a total budget ceiling of \$610 million. In the RRG scenario, IOC would be reinforced with half a million USD relative to the previous biennium, while in the RG Scenario an additional \$1 million would be dedicated to Main Lines of Action 1 & 2. These reinforcements are a partial (RRG) or a total (RG) compensation for the potential loss of direct contributions from the United States to the IOC Special Account following its return to UNESCO. However, the Executive Secretary pointed out that, everything considered, despite this important contribution, the IOC will essentially receive a "zero nominal growth" budget, at a moment in which all the rest of UNESCO's programmes are experiencing a real increase in their resource base, in some cases amounting to a very significant increase.
- 29 The Executive Secretary also informed the Assembly of the recent developments in the co-ordination of UN programmes relating to oceans, following the abolition of the ACC Sub-Committee on Oceans and Coastal Areas (SOCA). Resolution A/57/RES/141 on *Ocean Affairs*

IOC-XXII/3 page 6

and the Law of the Sea adopted by the General Assembly on 12 December 2002 invited the Secretary-General of the UN to establish an effective, transparent and regular interagency coordination mechanism on oceans and coastal issues within the United Nations system. This highlevel decision was based on a recommendation of the Informal Consultative Process (ICP) on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, which was endorsed by the World Summit on Sustainable Development. The Executive Secretary reported on the main issues discussed and the conclusions of the 4th meeting of the ICP (New York, June 2003), highlighting the usefulness of this forum to informally exchange reviews and positions on difficult issues, such as the responsibilities of flag States, unregulated, unreported fisheries, fishery subsidies or the establishment of Marine Protected Areas in the High Seas. The Executive Secretary believed that the process had reached a level of maturity that made it a very important instrument to improve ocean governance.

30 **The Assembly welcomed** and **accepted** the report of the Executive Secretary on the execution of the Commission's Programme and Budget for 2001–2002.

3.3 REPORT OF IOC ACTIVITIES (2001–2002) TO THE NEXT UNESCO GENERAL CONFERENCE

- 31 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. The 30th Session of the General Conference of UNESCO in 1999 approved a modification of the Statutes of the Commission and confirmed the functional autonomy of IOC and the requirement to report directly to the General Conference. The External Auditor, in his Report (165EX/29 Add.), recommended that UNESCO, IHP and IOC *should tailor their performance information reports to their different governing bodies, reflecting the different roles of the General Conference (...) and the IOC Assembly.* Following this recommendation, the Executive Secretary decided to bring to the attention of the Assembly this draft report and proposed that it should highlight the achievements of IOC for the period with respect to the main results expected in the UNESCO Medium-term Strategy 2002–2007 (31 C/4).
- 32 With some amendments proposed by Member States, to include statements on the finances and regionalisation of the Commission's activities, **the Assembly adopted** the Report by the IOC on its Activities (2001–2002), for submission to the 32nd General Conference of UNESCO.

3.4 PRESENTATION OF THE DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET 2004–2005: BACKGROUND ASSUMPTIONS

- 33 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. He briefly referred to the summary of the budgetary outlook made under item 3.2 and to the recommendations of the 166th Executive Board of UNESCO, on the draft Programme and Budget that are relevant to IOC. Pursuant to Resolution XXI-13, the Executive Council at its 35th Session identified the Main Lines of Action (MLAs) for the Programme and Budget for the biennium 2004–2005, as an early input to the preparation of the UNESCO Draft Programme and Budget for 2004–2005 (referred to as Draft 32 C/5). These MLAs are integrated into the Draft 32 C/5 as approved by the IOC Executive Council.
- 34 **The Assembly requested** the Chairman of the open-ended sessional Financial Committee to discuss the 32 C/5 proposal and to report back to the Assembly under Agenda item 5.1.

4. PROGRAMME MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS BY THE ASSEMBLY

4.1 GENERAL POLICY ISSUES

4.1.1 Medium-term Strategy for IOC

- 35 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. The Medium-term Strategy of UNESCO for 2002–2007 (31 C/4) and the Programme and Budget (C/5 Series) are the programmatic pillars of UNESCO, as approved by the UNESCO General Conference in Resolution III/1, adopted at its 31st Session in October–November 2001. The Strategy aims at projecting a new vision and a new profile for the Organisation as a whole.
- 36 The External Evaluation of the IOC, carried out during the biennium 1998–1999, recommended that the IOC governing bodies and the Executive Secretary give priority to the development and implementation of an appropriate system of strategic planning and programme evaluation compatible with the needs and working methods of the Commission. Pursuant to this recommendation, the IOC Assembly at its 21st Session decided that the Officers and the Executive Secretary of the IOC should develop a differentiated Medium-term Strategy to help the Commission meet the new challenges effectively.
- 37 The Draft Medium-term Strategy for the IOC (2004–2007) is based on a four-year period so as to be in phase with the current Medium-term Strategy of UNESCO, which spans 2002– 2007. However, and for the same reason, it is desirable that, after this initial period, the Mediumterm Strategy of IOC should fully correspond to that of UNESCO. The proposed IOC Mediumterm Strategy focuses on the modalities of action to accomplish the IOC commitments under the UNESCO Medium-term Strategy. The IOC document takes into account comments of the Executive Council at its 35th Session on a preliminary draft (IOC/EC-XXXV/2 Annex 8).
- 38 Taking note of the recommendation of the 36th Session of the Executive Council, **the Assembly concluded** that there was no need for the establishment of an open-ended sessional working group to develop a final version of the IOC Medium-term Strategy (2004–2007).
- 39 **The Assembly decided** to amend the Draft Medium-term Strategy for IOC (2004–2007) with (i) a paragraph recalling that the IOC has been accorded flagship status by the UNESCO General Conference and (ii) a paragraph recalling the collaboration between IOC and the other scientific programmes of UNESCO (IHP, IGCP, MAB, MOST) and their focus on sustainable development, **and instructed** the Executive Secretary to ensure that this be reflected in the IOC Medium-term Strategy and in the UNESCO Medium-term Plan and associated budget.
- 40 **The Assembly endorsed** the amended Medium-term Strategy for IOC (2004–2007).

4.1.2 Report of the Consultation of Member States on Resolution XXI-5

The Executive Secretary introduced this item. In the last two decades, the IOC has pursued a series of initiatives to improve its function, structure and financing, consistent with the Commission's functional autonomy within UNESCO. As a result of these efforts, the new Statutes of IOC were elaborated and finally adopted by the 31st General Conference of UNESCO, and the new Rules of Procedure were adopted by the IOC Assembly at its 21st Session. As instructed by the Assembly, the Executive Secretary, by Circular Letter 2009, sought the views of Member States on how to address the further development, consolidation and strengthening of the Commission, and prepared a report for the 35th Session of the Executive Council based on the responses received. IOC-XXII/3 page 8

- 42 In view of the small number of responses received by the opening of the 35th Session of the Executive Council, the Council decided to continue the process of inviting the views of Member States. Consequently, Circular Letter 2049 was issued. The Executive Council at its 35th Session also asked the Executive Secretary to report on the matter to the IOC Assembly at its 22nd Session. Document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 5 summarises the responses received from 19 Member States.
- 43 The two important policy conclusions from this exercise are: (i) the great majority of the Member States that participated in the consultation did not support the creation of a special intersessional intergovernmental group to address the issues highlighted; (ii) a majority of them did not see a need for changing the current legal framework under which IOC functions within UNESCO.
- Given the new responsibilities that IOC and its Member States are facing, particularly in support of the sustained operation of observation networks and the provision of timely ocean data and data products, the need for a stronger legal instrument might deserve reconsideration *ab initio* in the medium term.
- 45 The Executive Secretary noted in particular some specific suggestions for improvements contained in document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 5, including the request to reinforce regional structures and IOC's regional presence, which is addressed in part through the Draft Guidelines for the Establishment of Decentralised Offices (see Agenda item 4.1.3), and a request to reinforce National Oceanographic Committees and the links between these Committees, the Permanent Delegations, the National Commissions for UNESCO, and the IOC (see Agenda item 4.1.7).
- 46 **The Assembly requested** the IOC Officers to follow up the suggestions for improvements contained in document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 5 with a view to incorporating them into their regular monitoring of the work of the Commission.
- 47 **The Assembly considered** the issue of the legal and financial frameworks of the Commission to continue to be of major importance and that it should be revisited when required by the development of existing and new responsibilities of IOC and its Member States. **The Assembly concluded** that the potential of the existing legal framework has not yet been fully exploited and that it provides room for improved efficiency in particular at the level of regional co-operation.

4.1.3 Guidelines for the Establishment of Regional and Project Offices

- 48 The Chairman informed the Assembly that Dr Thomas Ajayi, Chairman of the Intersessional Working Group on Guidelines for the Establishment of IOC Decentralised Offices had retired and could not attend the 22nd Assembly and therefore continue his role in this matter. The Chairman IOC had therefore requested Dr Guillermo Garcia Montero (Cuba) to accept the chairmanship of the Working Group and he had kindly accepted.
- 49 Dr Garcia introduced this item. Referring to document IOC-XXII/2 Annnex 6 (*Draft Guidelines for the Establishment of Decentralised Offices*), he recalled that the Working Group was established in 2002 by the Executive Council at its 35th Session, with the following terms of reference:
 - (i) to establish definitions of "regional office", "programme office" and "project office" and their appropriate terms of reference;

- (ii) to recommend issues to be taken into consideration in assessing the need for the establishment of regional, programme and project offices (taking into consideration costs, objectives, existing UNESCO and other structures, benefits, other specific concerns);
- (iii) to recommend minimum criteria for the hosting of regional, programme and project offices including policies for resource commitments;
- (iv) to recommend approval requirements for the establishment of regional, programme and project offices;
- (v) to recommend appropriate hierarchies of responsibility and reporting for regional, programme and project offices;
- (vi) to recommend elements to be used for the performance evaluation of regional, programme and project offices;
- (vii) to prepare framework Memoranda of Understanding for regional, programme and project offices.
- 50 In addition, the Intersessional Working Group was invited to take into consideration: (i) the terms of reference of existing regional, programme and project offices; (ii) the existing review reports (and their recommendations) of existing regional, programme and project offices; and (iii) the concerns of national governments relating to the establishment of such offices. The Group was tasked with submitting its proposed guidelines to the IOC Assembly at its 22nd Session, in 2003.
- 51 The Group has been able to respond to the terms of reference (i) to (vi), and its draft report was sent to IOC Member States under IOC Circular Letter 2061, in February 2003, inviting their comments, and to the IOC regional, programme and project offices. Only a few responses were received; all were positive.
- 52 **The Assembly appreciated** the quality of the Intersessional Working Group's document which was very much in harmony with the UNESCO policy of decentralisation. With a view to allowing the Member States to contribute to the document, **the Assembly established** a Sessional Working Group, chaired by Dr Garcia. The Sessional Working Group proposed a few modifications and clarifications of the document.
- 53 **The Assembly recognised** that the GOOS offices may need further attention, since they may not currently fit any of the three identified types.
- 54 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to review the present status of existing offices, in consultation with the host countries, taking into consideration the adopted guidelines, and to report to the 37th Session of the IOC Executive Council.
- 55 **The Assembly requested** the Intersessional Working Group on Guidelines for the Establishment of IOC Decentralised Offices to complete its task by preparing the framework Memoranda of Understanding for regional, programme and project offices, for submission to the IOC Executive Council at its 37th Session.
- 56 **The Assembly adopted** <u>Resolution XXII-1</u>.

4.1.4 **Progress Report on the Implementation of the New IOC Publishing Policy**

- 57 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. The IOC External Evaluation team and the Assembly (at its 21st Session) posed the problem of the substantial secretariat time and financial resources consumed in the obligatory preparation of often excessively detailed and repetitive documentation, and the imbalanced use of the working languages of the Commission, as well as the late delivery of the documentation for governing body sessions. In 2002 the Secretariat reported to the Executive Council on this issue and the Council adopted a decision on a new publishing policy for the IOC. In so doing, the Executive Council recognised that the issue was not only an administrative one, but also a matter of visibility and credibility. Some improvements in the direction of a more reliable and efficient network of communication, a CDbased archival system and fund-raising for publications were also identified as necessary elements of a comprehensive response to the problems. The Executive Council instructed the Executive Secretary to report on these matters.
- 58 The Executive Secretary reported on the preparation of the documentation for the present session of the Assembly. Twenty working documents plus the Action Paper were prepared, of which, all, except the Provisional Timetable, were available and sent for translation in French, Spanish and Russian by mid-April. Nine reports and executive summaries, all translated, were produced at the same time, for the consideration of the Assembly. This is a significant improvement in terms of delivery. The Action Paper contains as many draft resolutions as possible at the date of its preparation and was designed to be a stand-alone document for the whole session. Nevertheless the Secretariat considered it counter-productive to limit too drastically the information needed by Member States for their decision-making; accordingly, 16 annexes and addenda to the Action Paper were produced and translated. Moreover, the Executive Secretary felt that certain documents, such as the financial documents and the report of the Executive Secretary, could not be shortened easily. The estimated cost of translation and printing for this session was \$47,000, which shows no decrease compared to the past exercises.
- 59 Since the implementation of the new IOC publishing policy in March 2002, 90 reports and IOC main-series publications were produced, of which, 8 were in electronic format only; this ratio is due partly to previous commitments to publish in paper. Eight posters and four brochures were issued; they included the IOC document prepared for the World Summit on Sustainable Development, *One Planet...One Ocean*, which was issued in six languages and attracted much attention. A new book titled *Les humeurs de l'océan—Effets sur le climat et les resources vivantes* (The Changing Ocean—Its Effects on Climate and Living Resources) has been published by the UNESCO Publishing House as No. 4 of the Ocean Forum Series; English and Spanish translations will be published soon.
- 60 The Executive Secretary informed the Assembly that the new version of the IOC list of publications and depository centres contained in a compact disk would be mailed to delegates in July 2003. It would also include the IOC publications available on the Internet and a capture of the IOC website, deemed particularly useful to countries with difficult Internet access. The IOC electronic library has been adapted to make better use of the facilities and the know-how of the central services of UNESCO in that domain. This is expected to improve the accessibility to IOC publications and save time and resources in the IOC secretariat.
- 61 The building of a reliable and efficient network of communication is under way based on a single database of all IOC contacts. The Executive Secretary invited Member States to identify one single co-ordinating body for liaison with the IOC in each country. Increasingly, information from the IOC Secretariat is being circulated by e-mail to IOC Member States. For this method to be fully effective, however, each State must nominate just one official e-mail address.

- 62 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to proceed with the revision of the guidelines on the preparation of documents and reports, for inclusion in the IOC Manual, taking fully into account the comments and advice expressed by Member States during the present session. Several Member States favoured executive summaries for all reports, shorter reports and some standardisation of format when warranted. It was agreed that, during the transition from paper to electronic reports, some redundancy was necessary as Member States acquire the new technology and skills.
 - **The Assembly expressed** its satisfaction with the timely provision of reports and the electronic formatting used for this Assembly.

4.1.5 Feasibility of Establishing a Regular Process for the Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment

63

- 64 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. He recalled that the IOC Executive Council, at its 35th Session, considered Decision 21/13 of the Governing Council of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), adopted in February 2001, calling for a feasibility study on the establishment of a regular process for the Global Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment (GMA) that will build on ongoing assessment programmes. The Decision stressed the active involvement of governments and regional agreements on the assessment of the state of the marine environment and singled out the IOC as a competent organisation capable of contributing to GMA. The IOC Executive Council, by Resolution EC-XXXV.3, instructed the Executive Secretary to: (*i*) explore with UNEP and other relevant partners the feasibility of IOC leading the assessment programme, including the mobilisation of necessary funds through governments, international agencies and donor organisations, as well as co-operation with other global assessment programmes; and (*ii*) report to the next ordinary session of the Assembly on the development of this matter, including the financial and human-resource implications of IOC leading the assessment programme.
- 65 The World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD, 26 August–4 September 2002), in its Plan of Implementation, called for the establishment by 2004 of a regular process under the United Nations for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socio-economic aspects, both current and foreseeable, building on existing regional assessments. Taking note of this call by WSSD, the matter was considered by the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) at its 57th Session.
- Welcoming the outcome of the WSSD, in December 2002, the 57th Session of the UN General Assembly (UNGA) adopted Resolution A/57/141 and decided to establish, by 2004, a regular process under the United Nations for the global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socio-economic aspects, both current and foreseeable, building on existing regional assessments. The General Assembly also requested the Secretary-General, in close collaboration with Member States, relevant organisations and agencies and programmes of the United Nations system, other competent intergovernmental organisations and relevant non-governmental organisations, to prepare proposals on modalities for a regular process for such global reporting and assessment, taking into account the recently completed review by the Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection (GESAMP), and to submit these proposals to the General Assembly at its 58th Session for its consideration and decision, including on the convening of a possible intergovernmental meeting.
- 67 The Executive Secretary emphasised that, in view of Resolution A/RES/57/141, the UN General Assembly expects to play a direct role in the GMA initiative, which is consistent with

IOC-XXII/3 page 12

the role that it has traditionally taken with respect to UNCLOS and ocean governance issues. The hypothesis that the report of the GMA should be addressed to the General Assembly, and that its implementation should be endorsed *ab initio* by an intergovernmental meeting, could make of this initiative a significant contribution to the improvement of ocean governance.

68 The Executive Secretary pointed out that a review titled A Survey of Global and Regional Marine Environmental Assessments and Related Scientific Activities, which constitutes a contribution to the feasibility study on the establishment of a process for regular GMA, has been carried out by the UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre in collaboration with, and with funds from: UNEP; IOC; the Federal Ministry for Education and Research in Germany; the Ministry for the Environment in Iceland; and the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs in the U.K.

- 69 Also pursuant to Resolution A/57/141, the UN Department of Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea (DOALOS) has contacted Member States and all relevant organisations mentioned in Resolution A/57/141 to solicit proposals on modalities for a regular process for global reporting and assessment of the state of marine environment. These proposals will be integrated and presented to the 58th Session of the General Assembly for consideration. An interagency meeting to facilitate this process will take place at IOC Headquarters in September 2003.
- 70 Given that broad consensus was reached on the recommendations of the Bremen consultative meeting (Technical Workshop for Establishing a Regular Process for the Global Assessment of the Marine Environment, Germany, March 2002, document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 7) among the representatives of national institutions, governments, regional and global organisations and programmes, and in response to the call from the Secretary-General of the UN, IOC could adopt these recommendations as the principal bases of the GMA.
- 71 As to the financial and human-resource implications of IOC leading the GMA, the framework encompassing the regional and global aspects of a credible, significant and legitimate GMA that emerged from the Bremen meeting would have minimum financial implications of \$9.2 million for a five-year process.
- 72 The IOC could, however, take the leading role only on assessments for specific scientific themes as inputs to the regional and global assessment reports. In this case, the annual budget needed would be about \$300,000. The annual budget for the thematic working groups within the Ocean Sciences Section, which can be regarded as activities that could provide scientific underpinning for a GMA, is \$130,000. With appropriate extrabudgetary funding, the cost of carrying out thematic assessments would not be an unbearable burden on IOC.
- 73 The Delegate of Portugal recalled the willingness expressed by Portuguese authorities to the Executive Secretary, during his visit to Lisbon in conjunction with the Third Meeting of IOC/ABE-LOS, to consider hosting the proposed intergovernmental meeting establishing the assessment of the marine environment process as contained in Resolution 57/141, and to assist IOC in establishing a technical secretariat for the GMA if welcomed by all parties concerned.
- 74 **The Assembly commended** the Executive Secretary's follow-up of the GMA initiative and his report to the Assembly.
- 75 **The Assembly acknowledged** the need for the proposed global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, and restated its view that the development of a GMA is one of the most important co-operative international developments in ocean affairs and that it could benefit significantly from close interaction with the relevant IOC programmes. The GMA

would also benefit from IOC's experience of interagency advisory mechanisms, such as GESAMP, UNEP–IOC–IMO GIPME Programme and active participation in the UNEP Regional Seas Programme.

76 **The Assembly stressed** that the GMA will require an effective interagency mechanism to ensure co-operation and co-ordination within the UN system, particularly in respect of resources and funding, and that the GMA should be a policy-relevant but not a policy-prescriptive process.

77 **The Assembly adopted** <u>Resolution XXII-2</u>.

4.1.6 Follow-up of Key Recommendations of the External Evaluation

- 78 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. Since the publication of the External Evaluation Report in 2000, the Assembly and the Executive Council have requested the Executive Secretary to report regularly on follow-up actions and implementation. At its 35th Session, the Executive Council decided moreover that the follow-up of actions should be prioritised.
- 79 The three levels of issues addressed in the Evaluation Report are: (i) the strategic positioning of IOC, including its status as a competent international organisation in the field of marine research; (ii) its current performance/efficiency as a body with functional autonomy within UNESCO; and (iii) the quality of the management.
- 80 Many of the original recommendations of the External Evaluation Team (document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 8) have been incorporated into the IOC Statutes and Rules of Procedures and/or into the proposed IOC Medium-term Strategy. Following the guidance of the Executive Council (at its 35th Session), the document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 8 refers only to pending key recommendations.
- 81 In his follow-up of the UN General Assembly Resolution A/57/141 on the establishment of an effective, transparent and regular interagency co-ordination mechanism on oceans and coastal issues within the United Nations system, the Executive Secretary, in co-ordination with representatives of Member States, arranged for this matter to be put on the agenda of the 2nd and 3rd sessions of the Informal Consultative Process (ICP) on Oceans and Law of the Sea, the 57th and 58th UN General Assemblies and the World Summit on Sustainable Development. Referring especially to paragraph 49, Part A, of the report of the 3rd Session of the ICP, pursuant to Resolution A/57/141 and to a request from the UN Assistant Secretary-General for Policy Coordination and Interagency Affairs, the Executive Secretary explained the views of the IOC Secretariat on co-operation and co-ordination with respect to ocean and coastal-area issues, proposing a two-tier approach. (i) An open-ended group of representatives (at Director level) of programmes and agencies with appropriate technical expertise, to meet regularly, at least once a year, to review ongoing and identify new joint activities by two or more agencies. Meetings could be held jointly with sessions of the ICP of the General Assembly. The new mechanism should not be based on fulfilment of reporting requirements, but should foster programme development and joint-execution/implementation of programme activities through co-operation. (ii) Specific time-limited initiatives with well defined terms of reference should be led and implemented by task-oriented groups. Appropriate modalities of the involvement of organisations outside the UN system could be introduced at this level.
 - **The Assembly strongly supported** the UN Secretary-General's proposal to establish a co-ordinating mechanism and agreed that the IOC should play a lead role if appropriate.

82

88

- 83 **The Assembly agreed** to the proposed two-tier mechanism, including task-oriented groups for addressing specific issues on a limited basis, **but cautioned** against the organisation of too many meetings **and encouraged** the use of e-mail for communications whenever possible.
- 84 The Chairman stressed the importance of evaluation as a continuing task for the IOC and recalled that Resolution EC-XXXV.3 required that the agenda of future Assemblies should take into account the need for such a process. The detailed follow-up to the recommendations of the External Evaluation Report of 2000 would then be subsumed under the more general and permanent evaluation requirement.
- 85 The Executive Secretary reported on the efforts made to invite Member States to establish or strengthen their national co-ordinating structures and specifically referred to IOC Circular Letter 2017 of 27 March 2002 to the Member States, quoting IOC Resolution XII-8 which expressly urged the Member States of the Commission to improve or establish, as required, National Oceanographic Commissions or equivalent bodies. The Resolution also suggested desirable composition and functions for such Commissions or Committees. This had been followed up by IOC Circular Letter 2062 of 17 March 2003 inviting the IOC Member States to nominate an official national co-ordinating body for liaison with the Commission.
- A large number of Member States stressed the importance of National Oceanographic Commissions and shared their experience in setting them up. Some Member States encouraged the limiting of IOC focal points to one national agency.
- 87 **The Assembly urged** those Member States that had still not created a National Oceanographic Commission or Committee to make every effort to do so as soon as possible, **and instructed** the Executive Secretary to provide all possible assistance in such endeavours.

4.1.7 Results of the External Audit of Science Sector Focused on Hydrology (HYD) and the IOC (Managing and Governing for Results)

- The Executive Secretary introduced this item. Document 165 EX/29 Add. issued for the 165th Executive Board of UNESCO in September 2002 focused, in paragraphs 147–210, on IOC governance. The Executive Secretary drew the attention of the Assembly to recommendations made to UNESCO to improve the governance of IOC (paragraphs 173 and 203). The recommendations in paragraph 173 of document 165 EX/29 Add. call for an agreement and understanding among Member States on the major respective roles of the General Conference of UNESCO and the IOC Assembly, in particular with respect to providing strategic direction and monitoring organisational performance; and *consider having [the IHP Council/Bureau and] the IOC Assembly/Council play a role in setting expectations for and reviewing the performance of the Executive Secretary.*
- 89 The Director-General of UNESCO has suggested that it will be for [the IHP Council,] the IOC Assembly and the General Conference to consider these recommendations. However, the Director-General believes that he is probably best placed to judge the performance of the staff members acting as executive secretaries, leaving the governing bodies to focus on the execution of the programme.
- 90 Paragraph 203 of document 165 EX/29 Add. recommends that UNESCO and IOC consider convening country meetings to assist Member States in co-ordinating their involvement within IOC. The Director-General of UNESCO invited the Assembly to approve implementation of this recommendation, drawing on the network of National Oceanographic Commissions/Committees.

- 91 The Assembly agreed that the IOC should assist as appropriate in helping Member States to convene meetings in countries and regions. It called on the IOC Officers to assist in this process for their regions as far as possible. The Assembly instructed the Executive Secretary to consider visiting countries that have not already established National Oceanographic Commissions/Committees with the aim, also as appropriate, of strengthening the national institutions in charge of ocean services and research, the national co-ordinating mechanism on ocean affairs in general, and the IOC National Oceanographic Commissions/Committees in particular.
- 92 Further, **the Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to respond to requests from IOC national liaison bodies or IOC focal points, for information, advice and assistance on the enhancement of institutional capacities related to their involvement in the activities of the IOC.
- 93 **The Assembly also agreed** that it was appropriate for the Director-General to evaluate the performance of the Executive Secretary.
- 94 **The Assembly decided** that a Resolution was necessary to clarify the issues raised by this study based on existing statutory documents.
- 95 The Chairman requested a small drafting group to assist in the drafting of the Resolution and invited Dr Marío Ruivo (Portugal) to chair the group, assisted by Cuba, Canada, India and a lawyer with relevant legal expertise from one of these three Member State delegations.

96 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-3</u>.

4.2 OCEAN SCIENCES SECTION

4.2.1 Role of IOC in the Development of Standards for Ocean Research and Operational Oceanography

- 97 The Head of the Ocean Sciences Section of IOC, Dr Ümit Ünlüata, introduced this item. The Executive Council, at its 35th Session, instructed the Executive Secretary to refine, through consultation with JCOMM on existing and planned future initiatives for the development of standards, the terms of reference and the workplan, and submit them to the present session of the IOC Assembly.
- 98 The JCOMM Management Committee, at its 2nd Session (Paris, February 2003), welcomed the initiative and agreed with the thesis presented by the Executive Secretary on the role of IOC in codifying the standards needed for operational oceanography, noting that, for some measurements, several different techniques might be used to reach the standard required (JCOMM Meeting Report No. 20). The Management Committee also agreed that the first step should be to compile the information, list what was available, and advertise it through the JCOMM website. It considered that a 3–6 month consultancy over a 1- to 2-year period was necessary to compile the available information, starting with the protocols recommended by WOCE and JGOFS, including the protocols that had been developed for the SOOP, VOS and DBCP programmes, and by other international bodies, such as ICES. The IOC–WMO Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM) requested the Executive Secretary of IOC to treat the question of compiling standards for operational oceanography as a priority.
- 99 The Co-president of JCOMM noted that the JCOMM Management Committee also recognises the need to develop standards, to develop an effective mechanism to disseminate the information by a variety of means, and to develop training programmes on the use of standards.

IOC-XXII/3 page 16

The Co-president of JCOMM offered the use of the JCOMM website as an appropriate mechanism for information dissemination and offered JCOMM's full collaboration with the IOC in the development of standards for oceanographic research and operational oceanography.

- 100 Several Member States noted that the workplan and budget information provided were lacking in details, and, in agreement with the JCOMM Management Committee decision, restated the view that an important first step would be to identify existing and planned initiatives for standards development.
- 101 Other Member States stated that, while JCOMM on behalf of IOC should, in the context of operational oceanography, take the lead in prioritising the needs for standards for physical variables, there is also a need for IOC to involve other organisations such as FAO, UNEP, IAEA and IMO in devising mechanisms for addressing the needs for non-physical variables.
- 102 **The Assembly stressed** the view that capacity-building in standards development and use merits special attention, with a view to enabling all Member States to participate fully in international ocean research and operational oceanographic programmes.
- *103* **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to develop a workplan and budget for this activity and to bring this initiative to the attention of Member States with a view to finding adequate resources.

4.2.2 Terms of Reference of the Programme Elements in Ocean Science

- 104 The Head of the Ocean Sciences Section of IOC, Dr Ümit Ünlüata, introduced this item. The Executive Council, at its 35th Session, discussed the terms of reference for the programme elements of the IOC's Ocean Sciences Section (document IOC/EC-XXXV/2 Annex 10). The Executive Council instructed the Executive Secretary to prepare a revised version of the document to be circulated to the Member States. The final version of this document (IOC/INF-1180) was distributed in advance to the Assembly.
- 105 Several Member States stated that the document revealed gaps in addressing coastal and non-living-resource programmes dealing with geology and geophysics and ocean-margin processes, as well as a lack of emphasis on physical oceanographic research and polar ocean science. The Secretariat pointed out that many of the non-living-resource programmes are now being addressed through the Integrated Coastal Area Management (ICAM) and Floating University—Training-Through-Research Programme and that they involve research relevant to the study of coastal erosion, biosphere–geosphere coupling process, and protection of the highseas and deep-sea environment.
- 106 Several Member States noted the need for the Assembly to have an opportunity to review progress and priorities. They stated that there is a clear need for an advisory group for the Ocean Science Section, to assist it in setting programme priorities that better meet the changing needs and ongoing development of the programmes of the Commission. Some Member States emphasised the need for the IOC to address more-applied aspects of ocean science in support of living- and non-living-resource management, environmental assessment and protection, and climate-change assessment.
- 107 **The Assembly endorsed** the terms of reference for the programme elements in the new structure of the Ocean Sciences Section as given in IOC/INF-1180, with the provision that the terms of reference be periodically reviewed by a small scientific advisory group and revised, if necessary, to better meet the needs of the Member States.

108 **The Assembly urged** the Member States to promote, mainly through the IOC regional subsidiary bodies, the IOC ocean science programmes at the regional level and particularly to ensure that their scientists participated in these regional programmes.

4.2.3 Report of the 6th Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms

- 109 The Chairwoman of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms (IPHAB), Dr Beatríz Reguera, introduced this item. The 6th Session of IPHAB (St. Petersburg, Florida, October 2002) focused on strengthening the regional components of the programme, on assisting the development of the IOC–SCOR GEOHAB Programme (Global Ecology and Oceanography of Harmful Algal Blooms) and of the capacity-enhancement aspects of the HAB Programme. The Panel made a number of recommendations to the Assembly.
- 110 Recalling the priority of implementation of IOC programmes at the regional level, the Panel recommended that the IOC Secretariat assess the feasibility of regional HAB activities in three areas: (i) the Benguela region; (ii) North Africa; and (iii) the Indian Ocean.
- 111 The GEOHAB Implementation Plan is now in its final form after review by a team of external experts and SCOR. The Chairwoman of IPHAB requested the Assembly to endorse the GEOHAB Implementation Plan in order for IOC and SCOR to proceed with the implementation. Several countries have already established national GEOHAB research programmes and the European Commission and the US National Science Foundation have issued a joint call for project proposals in the autumn of 2003, which provides an ideal opportunity to seek funding for GEOHAB research. The US NSF and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) have provided significant support to the development of the Science and Implementation Plans, but additional resources are required to implement GEOHAB effectively.
- 112 IPHAB recommended that the IOC ensure that data-quality management and data exchange relevant to GEOHAB be given due consideration, in accordance with the terms of reference for the Group of Experts on Biological and Chemical Data Management Exchange Programme (GE–BCDMEP), and that a GEOHAB Representative be instated in the GE– BCDMEP.
- 113 The Panel reviewed the Draft Strategic Design Plan for the Coastal Ocean Observations Module of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) and concluded that, in its current stage of development, the Draft Strategic Design Plan did not specify the relevant variables for the detection of HABs; the Panel proposed to co-operate with appropriate GOOS bodies to develop effective systems for monitoring harmful species at the appropriate functional level.
- 114 Recognising that the effects of chronic exposure of humans to low concentrations of algal toxins have so far been poorly investigated and that such effects may seriously influence public health wherever seafood, drinking water, or other products contain algal toxins below current regulatory limits, the Panel recommended that IOC consult WHO and invite it to be a partner in a joint task team to assess gaps in current knowledge and to advise on approaches and methods to provide data that may serve to better assess any effects of such exposure.
- 115 The Panel requested the IOC Secretariat to assess the feasibility of providing Member States with emergency assistance to deal with unexpected or unusual HAB outbreaks and, if found feasible, to establish a rapid-response service. It also recommended IOC to study the feasibility of establishing a mechanism to assist Member States technically in the formulation

and preparation of development projects to enhance national or regional capability in HAB monitoring, management and research.

- 116 The Panel decided to continue its Task Team on Algal Taxonomy, particularly to maintain and develop the present on-line IOC Taxonomic Reference List of Toxic Planktonic Algae.
- 117 The Panel was concerned by the limited co-ordination and potential incompatibility of regulations on the contamination of seafood with phycotoxins and the consequent impediment to trade in seafood products; it therefore established a Task Team to identify incompatibilities among the regulations governing various seafood markets and to prepare technical guidelines for providing international compatibility of methodology and legislation regarding the control of contamination of seafood by phycotoxins.
- 118 The Panel revised the HAB Training and Capacity-Enhancement Programme which: continues ongoing activities; raises the priority for capacity-building in monitoring and management; gives priority to activities responding to GEOHAB requirements; and expands the partnership of the IOC Science and Communication Centres with relevant scientific institutions, so as to provide a broader and longer-term platform for capacity-building.
- 119 The Chairwoman of the IPHAB urged the IOC Member States to match the relevant national priorities, and the related funding, with the HAB Programme Workplan in order to actively interact with and support its implementation, and suggested that partial or full coverage of staff costs for the Programme by IOC–UNESCO was a way to free extra-budgetary resources for HAB Programme implementation and to help ensure future commitment of main sponsors.
- 120 **The Assembly endorsed** the IPHAB report and the plan for the development of GEOHAB.
- 121 **The Assembly urged** IPHAB to continue to collaborate with the Coastal Ocean Observations Panel of GOOS and with I-GOOS to ensure that relevant variables are being considered in the implementation of the coastal component of GOOS.
- 122 **The Assembly acknowledged** with appreciation the long-standing extrabudgetary support of, in particular: Denmark, Japan, Spain and the USA, in the development and implementation of the Programme; France, for its reconfirmation of its commitment to partially support an International Project Office (IPO) for GEOHAB; Germany, for the renewal of its commitment to co-operate with the Programme in training and capacity-enhancement; and Spain, for its continued commitment to the operation of the Science and Communication Centre in Vigo, Spain. Many Member States confirmed initiatives at the national level to contribute to and participate in GEOHAB.
- 123 **The Assembly acknowledged** the need to ensure the operation of the IPO for GEOHAB **and urged** Member States to contribute to it.
- 124 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to maintain a high level of priority in the IOC budget for the Programme.
- 125 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-5</u>.

4.2.4 Activities of SCOR Relevant to the IOC

- 126 The Chairman of the Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research (SCOR), Professor Bob Duce, informed the Assembly of the activities of SCOR, with special emphasis on those carried out in collaboration with IOC.
- 127 Among the major joint SCOR–IOC activities are: SCOR–IGBP–IOC Global Ocean Ecosystem Dynamics Programme (GLOBEC); SCOR–IOC Global Ecology and Oceanography of Harmful Algal Blooms (GEOHAB) Programme; SCOR–IOC Ocean CO₂ Advisory Panel, SCOR–IOC Working Group 119 on Quantitative Ecosystem Indicators for Fisheries Management; SCOR–IOC–GCP International Ocean Carbon Co-ordination Project; and SCOR– IOC POGO Fellowship Programme. SCOR and IOC will sponsor a major symposium on the Science of Ocean Carbon Sequestration in 2004. IOC has facilitated the development of the new SCOR–IGBP Integrated Marine Biogeochemistry and Ecosystem Research Project (IMBER) by hosting its science meeting at the UNESCO Headquarters.
- 128 **The Assembly expressed** its appreciation to Professor Duce for his presentation. **It confirmed** its satisfaction with the present joint IOC–SCOR activities and its commitment to sustain and enhance collaborative activities between the IOC and SCOR.
 - 4.3 OCEAN SERVICES SECTION

4.3.1 Progress Report on the Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management

- 129 The Chairman of the Task Team on the Development of a Unified, Comprehensive IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management, Dr Neville Smith, introduced this item. He recalled that the IOC Executive Council created the Task Team at its 35th Session.
- 130 Owing to the heavy calendar in 2002, it had not been possible to organise a session of the Task Team in 2002. In addition, it was felt that the deliberations and decisions of the 17th Session of the IODE Committee (March 2003) would assist the Task Team. Accordingly, the 1st Session of the Task Team was held at UNESCO Headquarters on 23 June 2003. The report of the Task Team Chairman is found in Annex VI.
- 131 The Representative of WMO expressed his organisation's appreciation of the achievements of the Task Team and thanked IOC for involving WMO in this important undertaking. Taking into consideration the related work being undertaken by WMO within the framework of its Future Information System (FWIS), he offered his organisation's active collaboration in the Task Team's work.
- 132 **The Assembly expressed** its appreciation of the work of the Task Team at its 1st Session and urged it to complete its work by the next session of the Assembly.
- 133 **The Assembly strongly urged** the Task Team to ensure that the IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management build upon existing national, regional and international (infra)structures and capacities, and be based upon an assessment of needs, which will then lead to the identification of technological requirements.

4.3.2 Report of the 2nd Session of the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy

- 134 The Chairman of the Intergovernmental Working Group (IWG) on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy, Dr Angus McEwan, introduced this item. He referred first to Document IOC/INF-1175 (*Second Session of the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy*), recalling that, at its 33rd Session, the IOC Executive Council commended the ad hoc Working Group of Experts for its contribution to the preparation of a Draft IOC Data Policy Statement. However, the Executive Council then also noted that the Group could not reach consensus on a draft text and concluded that this matter needed the attention of an Intergovernmental Working Group, comprising representatives of the States members of the IOC Executive Council.
- 135 Resolution EC-XXXIII.4 tasked the IWG to continue detailed discussions on and assessment of existing agreements and practices within and outside IOC, with regard to the exchange of oceanographic and related environmental data and products, with a view to proposing to the IOC Assembly:
 - (i) a statement of the general IOC principles and policy on oceanographic data exchange;
 - (ii) a statement of recommended practices and associated institutional arrangements for the exchange of oceanographic data;
 - (iii) a draft resolution for consideration by the Assembly.
- 136 Since its establishment, the Intergovernmental Working Group met twice (Brussels, May 2001; Paris, June 2002). It prepared a statement, referred to in (i) above, and a draft resolution, referred to in (iii) above. The statement, in the report of the 2nd Session of the Group (document IOC/INF-1175), was also submitted to IODE-XVII (Paris, March 2003). The IODE Committee expressed its strong support for the draft policy prepared by the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy and called on the IOC Assembly to adopt it. The IODE Committee also noted that any policy is only as effective as its implementation and it urged Member States to consider mechanisms for ensuring maximum compliance with the policy, should it be adopted by the IOC.
- 137 Dr McEwan informed the Assembly that important comments had been received from France on the draft policy document and these were made available for discussion before the Assembly.
- 138 Accordingly, **the Assembly established** a Sessional Working Group to address these comments and to agree on a revision of the draft policy statement. The Sessional Working Group, after two meetings, was able to agree on a revised statement.
- 139 **The Assembly expressed** its deep appreciation to Dr McEwan for his role in bringing this important matter to a successful conclusion.
- 140 **The Assembly stressed** the need to ensure correct translation of the Resolution in all working languages to ensure unambiguous understanding and interpretation of the Policy by all Member States as well as other data originators.
- 141 Argentina pointed out that the reference to "international conventions" should refer first and foremost to UNCLOS.

- 142 Many Member States, in welcoming the new policy, pledged their continued and reinforced efforts to maximise the exchange of oceanographic data.
- 143 The Representative of SCOR, also speaking on behalf of ICSU, reaffirmed both organisations' support for "free and unrestricted" exchange of oceanographic data but, while welcoming the new IOC policy, called for caution with regard to the reference to "the right of Member States and data originators to determine the terms of such exchange."
- 144 The Representative of WMO congratulated IOC on the adoption of the new policy which was equally important to WMO. Referring to WMO Resolutions 40 and 25, the Representative complimented IOC on reaching agreement on its new policy after only three years, and he was therefore very pleased to be able to report to WMO the adoption by IOC of its new policy that clears the way for the further successful development of global observing systems.

145 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-6</u>.

4.3.3 Report of the 17th Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange

- 146 The Chairwoman of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange (IODE), Dr Lesley Rickards, introduced this item. The IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange held its 17th Session (IODE-XVII) at UNESCO Headquarters, 3–7 March 2003.
- 147 The Committee reviewed the progress made in several areas of work: IODE co-operation with GOOS and JCOMM; the new IODE Group of Experts on Biological and Chemical Data Management and Exchange Practices (GE–BCDMEP); the new Global Ocean Surface Underway Profile Programme (GOSUD); the development of a marine XML; the Marine Environmental Data Inventory (MEDI); the training system "OceanTeacher"; the dynamic content management system, BeeBox; and the regional networks ODINAFRICA and ODINCARSA.
- 148 The Committee recommended the merging of the GETADE and the JCOMM/IODE Expert Team on Data Management Practices (ETDMP). It established an intersessional working group to examine the future role of WDCs, RNODCs and NODCs, and an ad hoc working group on the implications for IODE of the development of GOOS and the establishment of JCOMM. It called for further support for the ODINAFRICA and ODINCARSA networks, and recommended the establishment of the Ocean Information Technology pilot project, jointly sponsored with JCOMM and GOOS.
- 149 The Committee elaborated the terms of reference for the IODE Review and expressed its strong support for the draft policy prepared by the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy.
- 150 The Committee had strongly supported the establishment of an IODE Project Office and recommended that the IOC accept the offer of the Government of Flanders and the City of Oostende to host the Office in Oostende, Belgium.
- 151 The Representative of the International Ocean Institute (IOI) thanked IODE for the support it has provided to develop the new IOI website and identified this support as fully responding to the call by the UN Secretary-General for improved co-operation between UN and non-UN organisations.

- 152 The JCOMM Co-President, Dr Savi Narayanan, expressed her strong appreciation of the assistance from IODE in developing the data management elements of JCOMM and of IODE's agreement to join its GETADE with JCOMM's ETDMP, thereby avoiding duplication of effort.
- 153 The Representative of the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) informed the Assembly that his organisation maintained a comprehensive database on marine radioactivity and other contaminants which constituted an excellent opportunity for co-operation between IAEA and IODE.
- 154 Many Member States expressed their strong appreciation and support for IODE, describing it as one of the most important programmes of the IOC.
- 155 **The Assembly congratulated** Dr Lesley Rickards on her election as Chairwoman of the IODE Committee and on her excellent report on IODE-XVII.
- 156 Several African Member States informed the Assembly of how ODINAFRICA had benefited their countries, resulting in the establishment of active national oceanographic data and information centres, and the development of products such as atlases and websites, etc.
- 157 Belgium informed the Assembly that continuation of support to IODE by Flanders was being considered favourably, and welcomed new proposals that would integrate data management with GOOS and ICAM.
- 158 The Delegate of the Islamic Republic of Iran and Chairman of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean (IOCINDIO) informed the Assembly that IODE-XVII had welcomed the planned development of an Oceanographic Data and Information Network (ODIN) for the IOCINDIO region (ODINCINDIO) and that consultations with Member States in the IOCINDIO region on the way forward were progressing well.
- 159 **The Assembly expressed** its appreciation of the substantial success of the ODINAFRICA and ODINCARSA projects as examples of IOC capacity-building, **and called on** the Member States to continue to develop ODIN networks.
- 160 **The Assembly thanked** the Government of Flanders (Belgium) for its substantial support for the ODINAFRICA project **and expressed** its hope that such support would be continued.
- 161 **The Assembly thanked** the Government of Flanders and the City of Oostende for the kind and generous offer to host the IODE Project Office **and accepted** the offer.
- *162* **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to proceed with the necessary administrative procedures to establish the Office.
- *163* **The Assembly expressed** its appreciation of Mr Rodney Martinez's (Ecuador) work as regional co-ordinator of the ODINCARSA Project, and of his hard work in the development of this new network.
- 164 **The Assembly stressed** the importance of excellence in quality control, metadata and preservation of data as historical as well as current and future priorities for IODE and its appreciation of the continued balance between data and information management in the IODE programme.

- 165 **The Assembly also stressed** the need to strengthen national data centres as the essential building blocks of the IODE system, without which, the international IODE system could not function.
- 166 **The Assembly welcomed** the great efforts of IODE to forge alliances with other organisations, programmes and projects, as well as its focus on applying new technologies at the national and international level (e.g. OIT) to the management, exchange and dissemination of data, services and products, and IODE's current steps to expand the scope of IODE to include biological and chemical data.
- 167 **The Assembly**, recognising the success of IODE, **appreciated** the need for increased financial and human resources to enable the programme to continue its important work.

168 **The Assembly adopted** <u>Resolution XXII-7</u>.

4.4 OPERATIONAL OBSERVING SYSTEMS SECTION

4.4.1 GOOS Activities

- 4.4.1.1 Report of the 6th Session of the Intergovernmental Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System
- 169 The Chairwoman of the Intergovernmental Committee for GOOS (I-GOOS), Ms Silvana Vallerga, introduced this item. I-GOOS, at its 6th Session (UNESCO Headquarters, Paris, March 2003) presented the four goals of I-GOOS, namely: (i) transferring of science and technology related to GOOS from the research mode into operational mode; (ii) learning from the activity of the regions, and ensuring the coherence between regional activities and global planning; (iii) ensuring that all Member States co-operate in and benefit from the development of GOOS, by capacity-building activities involving the transfer of enabling technologies and expertise; (iv) promoting timely observations in the Exclusive Economic Zones allowed by the new technologies available, with the assistance of IOC/ABE-LOS. Furthermore it created an I-GOOS Board to handle Committee business intersessionally, with a view to improving the efficiency and effectiveness of I-GOOS.
- 170 As a further improvement in the management of GOOS, a Regional GOOS Forum was established. The first meeting of the Forum (Athens, December 2002) brought together the leaders of all of the GOOS Regional Alliances (GRAs), with the principal aims being to ensure that the regional developments were in harmony with those at the global level, to share experience, to assess progress, to identify gaps, to promulgate "best practices" among GRAs, and to create a sense of community amongst them. GRAs are composed of national agencies and organisations committed to the regional implementation of global observation networks.
- 171 The meeting of the Forum was held at that time and place to enable participants to benefit from attending the 3rd EuroGOOS Conference on Operational Oceanography. The Forum participants identified several capacity-building requirements that needed to be met to make the GRAs effective. To strengthen the network of GRAs, as components of a fully operational global system, Forum participants developed a joint proposal to the European Commission, under its Sixth Framework Programme (FP6), for a GOOS Regional Alliances Network Development (GRAND). The European Commission has accepted the proposal.
- 172 In future the GRAs would report on their progress to I-GOOS meetings, and new ones would be created and managed in accordance with a stated policy.

- 173 The next meeting of the Forum is expected to take place in Fiji during the week of 9 February 2004, to capitalise on a major oceans meeting being held there the previous week. Intersessionally the Forum will continue to work to address the common needs.
- 174 The Chairwoman of I-GOOS welcomed some significant recent regional developments, including: (i) the finalisation (Mauritius, November 2002) of the proposal for a Western Indian Ocean Marine Applications Project (WIOMAP); (ii) the first IOGOOS Conference, and the adoption and signature of the IOGOOS Memorandum of Understanding (Mauritius, November 2002); (iii) the 3rd EuroGOOS Conference on Operational Oceanography (Athens, December 2002); (iv) the funding of the Black Sea GOOS ARENA Project by the European Commission; and (v) acceptance of GOOS–AFRICA's "ROOFS–AFRICA" proposal under of the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD).
- 175 In response to a request from the Russian Federation to form a Caspian GOOS, the Chairwoman of I-GOOS noted that Caspian activities would in future be covered by an expansion of Mediterranean and Black Sea GOOS activities regionally.
- 176 I-GOOS recognised the important role of the GOOS Steering Committee (GSC) in providing scientific advice on the design and implementation of GOOS and the important contributions of the GSC's two advisory panels: the Ocean Observations Panel for Climate (OOPC); and the Coastal Ocean Observations Panel (COOP). The COOP's Integrated Design Plan for a Coastal GOOS is being published (as GOOS Report 125 and IOC/INF-1183).
- 177 The Chairwoman of I-GOOS noted that significant progress had been made under the aegis of the OOPC in the implementation of the Global Ocean Data Assimilation Experiment (GODAE) and the Argo Profiling Float Programme.
- 178 Although the GOOS Project Office has managed to increase its staffing to respond to the growth of the GRAs, and to the growth of JCOMM, the Project Office staff at the IOC Secretariat were experiencing overload due to the increase in work imposed by newly created bodies, such as the I-GOOS Board and its subsidiary working groups, the Regional GOOS Forum, the Capacity-Building Panel, the IOC's involvement with the space agencies, and growing co-operation with ICES and PICES. Consistent with IOC staffing policies and practice, the Chairwoman of I-GOOS invited Member States to provide secondments (including "distant secondments" in which the "seconded persons" work from their home institution) to cope with the growing workload and called on Member States to continue implementing and expanding the observing system and to exchange the resulting data, which would make GOOS work for the benefit of all.
- 179 I-GOOS recognized the importance of addressing the assessment and prediction of the ecosystem within the coastal module of GOOS, possibly with the support of pertinent international organisations.
- 180 The United States Under Secretary of Commerce and Administrator of the US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Admiral Conrad Lautenbacher expressed appreciation for the report and made an extended intervention (Annex III Part C).
- 181 The United States is very supportive of the GOOS Programme. We have a remarkable opportunity to develop and implement significant new capabilities in Earth observations beginning with the G-8 leaders' agreement earlier in June 2003 on global observations being one of three priorities in science and technology. Following this, the Earth Observation Summit on 31 July 2003 in Washington DC, will kick off discussion to define a conceptual implementation

plan for Earth observations, which will be delivered to a follow-on Summit in Tokyo in May 2004. Feeding into this is the 2nd GCOS Adequacy Report and the COP-9 meeting in Milan in December 2003.

- 182 In order for the oceanographic community to take advantage of this opportunity, the United States suggested that we agree on a process to develop and prioritise requirements, which in turn will provide the basis for defining specific elements of GOOS. In order to do so, we need to agree on a set of scientifically based, policy-relevant, and easily understandable questions, which we are seeking to answer. This is an important opportunity for I-GOOS to gain commitment and support for GOOS and JCOMM.
- *183* **The Assembly endorsed** the regional GOOS Policy as given in Annex IV of the I-GOOS-VI Executive Summary report.
- 184 **The Assembly also noted** the creation of GRAs as a mechanism for the promotion and implementation of GOOS when appropriate at the regional level, and recognised six GRAs in particular, namely EuroGOOS, MedGOOS, GOOS–AFRICA, Pacific Islands GOOS, Indian Ocean GOOS, and US GOOS, in addition to the three already endorsed by the IOC governing bodies (NEAR–GOOS, by Resolution EC-XXIX.5; Black Sea GOOS, by Resolution XXI-10; and IOCARIBE–GOOS, by Resolution EC-XXXV.5). **The Assembly called for** close collaboration between GRAs and the IOC regional subsidiary bodies.
- 185 **The Assembly thanked** Ms Vallerga for her excellent presentation of the work done by I-GOOS and for her work in developing the GRAND proposal, which seemed poised to further support the development of the GRAs as an interlinked global activity.
- 186 **The Assembly recognised** that recent innovations in the structure, with an I-GOOS Board and Regional GOOS Forum, are working well and make I-GOOS more efficient and effective, as the governmental body responsible for the system. **The Assembly endorsed** the terms of reference and membership of the I-GOOS Board, as set out in Annex II of document IOC-WMO-UNEP/I-GOOS-VI/3s.
- 187 While approving of the overall developments in GOOS capacity-building, **the Assembly requested** I-GOOS to continue the evaluation of the effectiveness of the GOOS structure with a view to ensuring appropriate linkages between national, regional and global activities, in which context, the systematic evolution of performance will be needed.
- 188 **The Assembly appreciated** the important role of the GOOS Steering Committee (GSC) in providing the scientific advice underpinning the development of GOOS, and the energetic efforts of its former Chairman, Dr Worth Nowlin, in guiding the GSC.
- *189* **The Assembly warmly welcomed** the news from the UK that the funding support was in place for the launch of the JASON-2 satellite for ocean altimetry, a key tool for GOOS.
- 190 **The Assembly took note** (i) of the observation of the UK that the use of the term "operational observations" to describe particular activities in support of GOOS might make it difficult for researchers to obtain the needed funds for such activities, and that it might be better that this term be replaced by the phrase "sustained and systematic observations", which would not be prejudicial to researchers' opportunities; and (ii) of the Russian Federation's view that there would be a need eventually for some form of legal instrument regulating the deployment of some oceanographic measuring devices that, despite being deployed in the high seas, can drift into waters under national jurisdiction.

191 **The Assembly adopted** <u>Resolution XXII-8</u>.

- 192 On the occasion of the retirement of Mr Arthur Alexiou, after 18 years of service to the Secretariat, **the Assembly awarded** him an IOC Certificate of Appreciation and a UNESCO Medal for his substantial contributions to the IOC's Climate Programme, and in particular his tireless support for the work of the Ocean Observations Panel for Climate.
- 193 In reply, Mr Alexiou expressed his gratitude for the appreciation, the pleasure he had had working both with and for the Member States, and with the outstanding scientists who had contributed freely to the work of the Panel, and the reward he had received in the many friendships he had made with delegates and Panel members over the years.
- 194 **The Assembly also awarded** Professor Worth Nowlin, an IOC Certificate of Appreciation and a UNESCO Medal for his substantial contributions over many years to IOC's work on climate and the oceans, and in particular for his seminal role in the planning and implementation of the World Ocean Circulation Experiment (WOCE), for his contributions to the Global Climate Observing System (GCOS) Steering Committee and to the JCOMM Management Committee, and for his chairmanship of the Ocean Observing Systems Development Panel (OOSDP) from 1990 to 1995, and of the GOOS Steering Committee (GSC) from 1998 to 2002.
- 195 In reply, Professor Nowlin expressed his appreciation of the award, and thanked the many individuals who had worked closely with him to make GOOS and JCOMM the successes that they are today.
 - 4.4.1.2 Draft Memorandum of Understanding between UNEP and IOC Concerning the Relation between UNEP's Regional Seas Programme and GOOS
- 196 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. IOC Circular Letter 2073 called for a Supplementary Item to be added to the Assembly's agenda in the Operational Observing Systems Section. The item (document IOC-XXII/Supplementary item 3) dealt with a Draft Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) on Co-operation between the UNEP's Regional Seas Programme (RSP) and the IOC's Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS). The draft MOU had been prepared in response to the request of the IOC Assembly, at its 21st Session, that a MOU be prepared between UNEP and IOC as a formal instrument to facilitate co-operation between the RSP and GOOS; the Draft MOU was proposed jointly by the Executive Director of UNEP and the Executive Secretary.
- 197 The Executive Secretary then introduced Mr Ellik Adler of UNEP, who first conveyed the greetings from the Executive Director of UNEP, Mr Klaus Töpfer, to the Assembly. Mr Adler then presented the key points of the document, noting that one of the key drivers for a close association between the RSPs and GOOS lay in the fact that the GOOS regions corresponded very closely to those of the RSPs. Under the MOU, the RSP and GOOS would cooperate and co-ordinate their initiatives in the following key topics (among others):
 - (i) Promoting and enhancing awareness of their respective activities and programmes;
 - (ii) Mutual and cross-participation in relevant GOOS and RSP meetings;
 - (iii) Strengthening global and regional linkages between RSPs and GOOS and its GRAs;

- (iv) Provision of appropriate joint training and capacity-building initiatives to support RSPs;
- (v) Development of appropriate joint activities and projects to advance GOOS and RSPs;
- (vi) Exchanges of data and information.
- 198 The Representative of UNEP stated that interactions between the RSP and GOOS would be facilitated by designated focal points. There was no direct financial implication in the MOU. If the undertaking of a joint activity necessitated a financial contribution, both parties would work together to secure the appropriate funding. The primary benefit would be improved cooperation between two of the key environmentally focused agencies within the UN system, at the programme level where their interests were closely interlocked.
- 199 The Assembly agreed that it was desirable to institutionalise co-operation between UNEP and IOC namely through the Regional Seas and IOC regional subsidiary bodies on a programme-by-programme basis, as needs arose, and that this particular agreement would help in the implementation of the proposed Global Marine Assessment. It would also help to avoid duplication of effort between GOOS and the RSP. The MOU implied a significant commitment of effort arising from the involvement of the GPO and the officers of the GRAs. The Assembly agreed that this should be avoided as much as possible.
- 200 **The Assembly agreed** that the present draft of the MOU was, on the one hand, too detailed and, on the other hand, did not sufficiently address the relationships between the RSPs, GOOS, the GRAs and the IOC Regional Committees and Sub-Commissions. A more simple and clear message was required, with fewer preambular statements.
- 201 **The Assembly invited** Member States to make suggestions in writing for improvements to the draft text, and to send them to the Executive Secretary before the end of October 2003.
- 202 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to produce a final draft of the MOU, taking these comments into account, for approval at all levels of management within the two organisations, and submit this draft to the IOC Executive Council, at its 37th session, in June 2004, for final approval.
- 203 **The Assembly also agreed** that it would be desirable to examine separately the overarching MOU between UNEP and the IOC, which dated back to 1987, with a view to redrafting it into a "compact" between the two organisations.
 - 4.4.1.3 Memorandum of Understanding between the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES) and the IOC
- The Executive Secretary introduced this item. He explained that ICES had recently finished a major Strategic Review, as a result of which, ICES reconsidered its current MOU with the IOC. Bearing in mind that the existing MOU was signed in 1983, and both organisations have since undergone significant changes, it seems advisable to revisit the MOU. The IOC collaborates actively with ICES in several different areas, for instance through the joint ICES–IOC Steering Group on GOOS, and in the HAB Programme, among others. To explore a possible revision to the MOU to adapt to the changing nature of the two organisations, the ICES and IOC Secretariats met in Paris on 10 June 2003.

- 205 Finland supported by Canada reminded the Assembly that ICES, which includes 18 States, also members of IOC, has a considerable interest in improving its involvement in GOOS, an area in which the ICES–IOC Steering Group on GOOS is already working hard to benefit from what both sides have to offer. ICES expected to be able to bring to this and other joint activities its extensive environmental and fishery knowledge and data banks. In turn, ICES will depend on many of the initiatives being developed in GOOS, in order to meet new challenges with respect to ecosystem effects on fisheries and fishing. ICES believes it can play an active and useful role in the design and implementation of GOOS, by specifying requirements for data and information, and by contributing to the design and implementation of the Coastal Module of GOOS in particular. A good example of what may be possible is given by the development of the joint ICES–EuroGOOS North Sea Ecosystem Pilot Project (NORSEPP), under the aegis of the ICES–IOC Steering Group on GOOS, which aims to show how the GOOS approach might help to apply an ecosystemic approach to fishery and environmental management. Similar possibilities are now being explored for the US–Canadian margin and the Bay of Biscay margin.
- 206 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to pursue discussions with ICES with a view to developing a stronger and more detailed MOU on work in the North Atlantic and adjacent areas that would allow joint approaches to issues of common interest.

207 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-9</u>.

4.4.2 Review of the Structure of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS): Final Report

- 208 The Chairman of the GOOS Review Group, Dr Paul Mason, introduced this item. Referring to document IOC/INF-1185, he reminded the Assembly that Resolution XXI-7 had called for a review of the organisational structure of GOOS to be carried out by an external independent Review Group during 2002, and reported to the Assembly at its 23rd Session. The Review Group was appointed by the Chairman of the IOC in February 2002 and comprised Dr Mason (UK) (replacing Dr G. Love of Australia), Dr K. Radhakrishnan (India), Dr John Field (South Africa) and Dr Ichio Asanuma (Japan). The Group reviewed the development and implementation of GOOS, with particular attention to its structure, mandates and *modus operandi*, the activities of its advisory panels, the development of the GOOS Initial Observing System, including its pilot projects, the regional development of GOOS, the national development of GOOS, and the extent to which capacity-building in support of GOOS could benefit Member States.
- 209 The views of the wider community were sought through a questionnaire and through interviews. Twenty-three Member States responded, providing 25 written and 8 verbal responses. Five organisations (JCOMM, SCOR, WMO, I-GOOS and the GPO) responded in writing. Formal interviews were carried out by the Review Group during its meeting in Paris (September 2002), with representatives of GOOS bodies, sponsors (IOC, WMO and ICSU), and industry.
- Analysis of the responses revealed some reasonably clear signals from the community: 88% indicated that the COOP and OOPC were doing an adequate job as advisory panels; 80% indicated that GOOS implementation and governance were consistent with its mandate; 71% indicated that the GOOS Regional Alliances are not well integrated into GOOS; and 57% indicated that the present structure was inadequate. The community was less clear in its response to other questions. There was a more or less even distribution of yes and no answers to questions about whether or not: (i) GOOS capacity-building was effective; (ii) the present GOOS *modus operandi* was appropriate; and (iii) the GOOS Initial Observing System, including its pilot

projects, was adequate. In his judgment a good deal of the confusion about these aspects of GOOS did not reflect poor organisation or performance in GOOS, but rather a combination of inadequate information about the actual state of GOOS (the last comprehensive description being dated 1998), combined with lack of in-depth knowledge on the part of some respondents.

- 211 The Review Group noted a number of concerns over the current arrangements, in particular over I-GOOS's functions and its relation to the GSC. Some of these concerns were linked to the different views of, and possible confusion about, the nature of GOOS itself, and to the possible roles of "implementation bodies". The Group further noted that the recent establishment of JCOMM had provided an essential and previously lacking component of implementation at the intergovernmental level and raised the need to ensure appropriate links between it and the various bodies formally involved in GOOS. While JCOMM and the IODE were outside the Group's terms of reference, it proved impossible to offer sensible advice that did not involve these two bodies. The Group took implementation to be the responsibility of Member States.
- 212 The Review Group judged that the mandate for GOOS was satisfactory and should not be changed. To avoid confusion over the "identity of GOOS", the Group considered that GOOS should stand for the comprehensive, end-to-end Global Ocean Observing System, which includes the acquisition of all types of oceanographic data and marine meteorological data that need to be made internationally available to meet national, regional and global requirements.
- 213 The Review Group judged the *modus operandi* to be stated appropriately though not always pursued with a clear remit or in a wholly satisfactory way. This reflected a lack of effectiveness of I–GOOS in the past in tackling its primary roles, and confusion about the roles of I–GOOS and the GSC in relation to each other and to JCOMM. The terms of reference of I-GOOS and the GSC should be modified to reflect their relations to each other and to JCOMM.
- 214 The Review Group felt that many of the concerns about the functioning of the current structures arose from the absence of national operational oceanographic bodies or even of good co-ordination of oceanographic activities in many nations. This makes national engagement of Member States in GOOS difficult. Encouragement of the development of national oceanographic bodies and national oceanographic co-ordinating mechanisms, involving all organisations that may be expected to benefit from GOOS, is a key issue for IOC.
- 215 The Review Group considered that much of the confusion about GOOS arose from the figure on the GOOS website and in the questionnaire depicting the GOOS structure. The Review Group had greatly simplified that figure, thereby considerably streamlining the structure and clarifying the links between the GSC and I-GOOS and between the GPO and both of those bodies. The Group recognised that useful moves towards effective management of the structure had been made by the creation of the I-GOOS Board, the GSC Executive Committee and the JCOMM Management Committee, which were now linked with each other and with the GPO and with IODE.
- 216 Dr Mason noted, among other things, that the Group recommended that I-GOOS play a stronger role in the co-ordination of regional developments of GOOS, that the GOOS Regional Alliances report to I-GOOS, and that I-GOOS, the GSC and JCOMM combine their separate capacity-building efforts into a single panel.
- 217 **The Assembly thanked** Dr Mason for his excellent report. It noted that I-GOOS is already evolving in such a way that its performance has improved, although more could be done by Member States to make it a fully effective body.
- 218 **The Assembly noted** that, in drawing up a Plan of Action to implement recommendations of the group, it might be appropriate to consider working jointly with other organisations such as UNEP and FAO to deal with the regional needs of countries in relation to coastal GOOS.
- 219 **The Assembly welcomed** the statement from the Representative of SCOR that ICSU was committed to continuing its sponsorship of the GSC so long as it retained its independent status as a source of scientific advice.
- 220 **The Assembly noted** that: (i) the success of GOOS is dependent upon the willingness of Member States to commit themselves to sustained ocean observations on a long-term basis, and that a clear structure and **modus operandi** are essential for such commitment; (ii) the GOOS Steering Committee, with its co-sponsorship by ICSU, UNEP and WMO, provided an excellent source of advice for I-GOOS; and (iii) the name of the GOOS Steering Committee might be altered to reflect the fact that it provided scientific and technical advice to the I-GOOS, the intergovernmental body responsible for GOOS.
- 221 **The Assembly considered** the Recommendations of the Report, of which, many are pointing in the right direction. However, **it noted** concerns in terms of the substantive conclusions and implementation of the Recommendations in several areas including recommendations (a) GOOS Planning, (b) The Number of Meetings, (c) Structure Recommendation, (d) I-GOOS, (e) Applications and modelling, and (f) GOOS Regional Alliances.
- 222 **The Assembly decided** to create an intersessional open-ended working group to examine such matters and to consider the Review Group's recommendations in detail and develop an Action Plan for the consideration of the IOC Executive Council at its 37th Session. Dr Radhakrishnan (IOC Vice-Chairman and former member of the GOOS Review Group) agreed to chair the group. **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to invite Member States and sponsoring organisations to nominate members to participate in the working group.

223 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-4</u>.

4.4.3 Second Report on the Adequacy of the Global Observing System for Climate

224 The Chairman of the GCOS Steering Committee, Dr Paul Mason, introduced this item. Referring to document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 9 and to the Second GCOS Report on the Adequacy the Global Observing System for Climate in Support of the UNFCCC of (http://www.wmo.ch/web/gcos/gcoshome.html), he recalled that the goals of the Second Adequacy Report were: (i) to determine what progress has been made in defining and implementing climate-observing networks and systems since the publication of the First Adequacy Report (in 1998); (ii) to determine the degree to which these networks meet scientific requirements and conform to associated principles; and (iii) to assess how well current systems and planned improvements will meet the needs of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Since the publication of the First Adequacy Report, a wide consensus on the design of the ocean component of the GCOS, composed essentially of the observation networks of GOOS, has been achieved. The first priority is to implement this initial system, including the development of the necessary associated data, analytical and product capabilities and the research and development needed to improve capabilities for monitoring key climate variables and to improve understanding of the oceanic ecosystems and processes that limit forecast skill. Although there have been significant improvements as a result of new satellite data, the implementation of Argo, and a new international co-ordination mechanism (i.e.

JCOMM), ocean networks are not yet adequate to meet the needs of the Parties to the UNFCCC for data on most variables and in most regions of the planet. Nevertheless, the capability to observe climate changes in the ocean on a global scale has now been demonstrated.

- 225 **The Assembly noted** the possibilities for novel small-satellite technologies to contribute to the collection of climate data at lower cost. **It also noted** the opportunity presented by the International World Climate Change Conference, planned in Moscow, October 2003, for extended discussion of what more is needed for climate observations.
- 226 Recognising the dearth of observations in the polar regions, **the Assembly agreed** that this issue could be addressed within the context of a proposed "International Polar Year".
- 227 **The Assembly called on** the representatives of the Member States to contact their national delegations to the 9th Session of the UNFCCC Conference of the Parties (Milan, 1–12 December 2003) to endorse the Second GCOS Report on the Adequacy of the Global Observing System for Climate in Support of the UNFCCC and to support the required improvements in the observing system for climate, including especially its ocean component.

4.4.4 Draft Memorandum of Understanding between IOC and WMO Regarding Regulatory and Procedural Aspects of the Conduct of the Joint WMO–IOC Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM)

- 228 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. The IOC and WMO governing bodies have requested their Secretariats to develop some common rules and procedures that would apply to all future JCOMM sessions. The Assembly, at its 21st Session, recommended a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), rather than modifications of existing rules of either organisation, as the appropriate modality.
- 229 The Executive Council, at its 35th Session, reviewed the draft MOU and expressed its overall agreement with the draft. It invited comments and/or proposed amendments from the Member States, and instructed the Executive Secretary, in close collaboration with the WMO Secretariat, to incorporate those comments and/or amendments, including any from the WMO Executive Council, into a new draft and to submit it to the next session of the Assembly.
- 230 Comments and/or amendments by Member States on the draft MOU were solicited through IOC Circular Letter 2025. All the answers thereto showed full agreement with the content and the wording of the draft. The Assembly therefore had before it the final draft version of the MOU prepared jointly by the IOC and WMO Secretariats and submitted to both governing bodies.
- 231 The Representative of WMO informed the Assembly of the strong appreciation of and support offered to JCOMM by the recent 14th World Meteorological Congress, which had urged its Members to provide the support necessary to ensure the full implementation of the JCOMM work programme. The 14th World Meteorological Congress approved the draft MOU, and, subject to a similar approval by the IOC Assembly, authorised the Secretary-General to proceed with its signature, with the Executive Secretary, requesting that the MOU be regularly reviewed. The WMO Representative concluded by expressing to the Assembly his appreciation of its enthusiastic support for JCOMM.
- 232 **The Assembly approved** the Memorandum of Understanding on JCOMM rules and procedures, noting the requirement that it should be regularly reviewed and updated, **and**

IOC-XXII/3 page 32

authorised the Executive Secretary to sign the MOU (attached as Annex VIII to the present Report), with the Secretary-General of WMO.

4.4.5 JCOMM Observation Programme Area: GLOSS Group of Experts Adequacy Report

- 233 The Co-president of JCOMM, Dr Savi Narayanan (Ms), and the Chairman of the Global Sea Level Observing System Programme, Dr Philip Woodworth, introduced this item. Dr Savi Narayayan first provided an overview of JCOMM progress and drew attention to changes in the JCOMM Team. She highlighted a few key results in many of the JCOMM programme areas, such as: (i) the steady increase in the number of deployed Argo floats; (ii) the collaboration with IODE on data management; (iii) various products within the service programme area; (iv) the merger of the JCOMM and GOOS capacity-building panels and the first meeting of the task team on resources. All JCOMM Programme Area Observation component teams have funding problems to meet stated targets and need support to resolve these. The Co-president of JCOMM requested Member States to support its observational network to ensure the required level of temporal and spatial coverage. While research programmes are extremely useful, operational oceanography and meteorology require stability of funding and sustainability and this will require institutional support.
- 234 Several project proposals are in preparation, such as (i) the Western Indian Ocean Marine Applications Project (WIOMAP) which has an initial focus on marine services; and (ii) the Marine Impacts on Lowland Agriculture and Coastal Resources (MILAC) Project which is being developed as part of the Natural Disaster Reduction Programme of WMO and cuts across many of its Commissions' fields of action.
- 235 Proposals are also coming out of performance assessments that JCOMM has requested of its observation programme area. Philip Woodworth presented such an assessment for the GLOSS Group of Experts. Of the GLOSS Core Network of 290 stations, two-thirds are operational as defined in terms of mean-sea-level data being provided to the Permanent Service for Mean Sea Level. Of those, about half have provided hourly observations to be accessible on the GLOSS website (as required by the GLOSS Implementation Plan, 1997), of which about 80 also provide data accessible in near-real time to the GLOSS Fast Data Centre in Hawaii. There is an increasing demand for GLOSS to deliver "fast" data in real time, and GLOSS, as a system, needs to be modernised, particularly with regard to the provision of fast data for operational modelling and satellite altimeter calibration. For instance, the Global Ocean Data Assimilation Experiment (GODAE) requested that data from the GLOSS Ocean Circulation (GLOSS-OC) data set be available from 2003 for assimilation within several days. This requires the GLOSS Fast Data Centre to develop new processing capabilities. Also, of the stations identified as GLOSS-OC, only half of them have fast-delivery capability. Upgrades are needed immediately throughout the GLOSS Core Network, and the GLOSS Adequacy Report contains a draft proposal including provision for new hardware, training and installation assistance, with a total cost of \$3.5 million.
- 236 **The Assembly expressed** strong support for JCOMM **and noted** with satisfaction its fine progress.
- 237 **The Assembly endorsed** the GLOSS Group of Experts Adequacy Report.
- 238 **The Assembly urged** Member States to give effect to each recommendation of the GLOSS Group of Experts Adequacy Report without delay, in view of the urgency for data for programmes such as GODAE and GOOS, and in particular, to take the necessary immediate measures (i) to upgrade all GLOSS stations to the extent possible for real-time data delivery by

2004; and (ii) in this context to provide resources for technical assistance and capacity-building for developing nations.

- 239 **The Assembly noted** the contribution of regional development, such as the MedGLOSS programme in the Mediterranean and the Black Sea, to the objectives of GLOSS and **called on** the Member States to further develop regional sea-level networks that supplement the GLOSS Core Network.
- 240 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to develop specific plans and actions, including obtaining extrabudgetary resources, aimed at overcoming the obstacles that Member States face in fulfilling their commitments to GLOSS.
- 241 Recalling that JCOMM, as a technical commission, is a subsidiary body of the IOC, **the** Assembly called on JCOMM to provide, in the future, a written report on the activities of JCOMM to seek the guidance and decisions of the Assembly for the overall long-term plans and priorities.
- 242 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to include in the agenda of each Assembly an agenda item dealing with the JCOMM report to ensure that the Commission gives due regard to the balance of efforts in the integrated approach co-ordinated by JCOMM.
- 243 Following the suggestion by China, **the Assembly expressed** its strong appreciation to Dr Colin Summerhayes for his leadership of the GOOS Project Office and his dedication to the development of GOOS over the past years.

4.5 REGIONAL ACTIVITIES

4.5.1 IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean (IOCINCWIO): IOCINCWIO-V Report

- The Head of the IOCINCWIO Project Office, Mr Mika Odido, introduced this item. The Regional Committee for IOCINCWIO, at its 5th Session (UN, Nairobi, September 2003) expressed its satisfaction with the high level of implementation of the IOCINCWIO-IV Work Plan during the 1997–2002 intersessional period. It also expressed its gratitude to the Governments of Sweden and of Flanders (Belgium) for the support provided, and to the Government of France for their support for the 5th Session.
- 245 The Head of the IOCINCWIO Project Office then presented the Workplan for 2002–2005 adopted by IOCINCWIO-V. This Plan focuses on: development and strengthening of capacity to undertake observations and monitoring of the oceans and coastal areas; analysis and interpretation of the data/information available, to enable their use for sustainable management of the marine environment and resources; training courses/workshops on: ocean modelling; satellite altimetry and oceanography; use of remote sensing and GIS for ICAM; taxonomy; techniques for rapid assessment of pollution; data and information management.
- The Regional Committee also proposed that the IOC Secretariat consider the organisation of a mission of experts to Comoros and Madagascar to assess their capacity-building requirements. The need for continuous time-series data on key oceanographic parameters, such as sea level, salinity, currents and winds, will be addressed through: (i) the establishment of a Group of Experts on Ocean Dynamics and Climate; (ii) improvement of observing systems, especially the sea-level and coastal observing networks; (iii) assessment and monitoring of shoreline changes; and (iv) monitoring of potentially harmful marine microalgae.

- 247 Mr Odido informed the Assembly that IOCINCWIO-V had proposed that the name of the Regional Committee be changed to "IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean IOCWIO".
- 248 Several Member States pointed out: the need to improve collection of data required for assessment of sea-level changes, pollution and water-quality studies in the regions; Integrated Coastal Area Management, so as to improve data flow to the data centres established within ODINAFRICA and to enable the preparation of data products for management of the marine environment and resources. In this regard, there must be closer collaboration between ODINAFRICA and other IOC programme elements, such as GLOSS, ICAM and GOOS– AFRICA.
- 249 **The Assembly welcomed** the co-operation between IOCINCWIO and IOCINDIO, and the active participation of the Member States from both regions in the development of the Indian Ocean GOOS and the Western Indian Ocean Marine Applications Project.
- 250 **The Assembly reaffirmed** its support for the strengthening of capacity-building initiatives in the region.
- 251 **The Assembly accepted** the Executive Summary report of IOCINCWIO-V and its five recommendations **and urged** Member States to provide extra resources for the full implementation of the approved Work Plan.
- 252 **The Assembly decided** to change the name of the IOC Regional Committee for the Cooperative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean (IOCINCWIO) to the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (IOCWIO).
- 253 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-10</u>.

4.5.2 IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific (WESTPAC): WESTPAC-V Report

- 254 The Chairman of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific (WESTPAC), Dr Hyung-tack Huh (Republic of Korea), introduced this item. At its 5th Session (Fremantle, August 2002) the Sub-Commission elected Dr Hyung-tack Huh as its Chairman, Prof. Dang Ngoc Thanh (Viet Nam) as its First Vice-Chairman, and Mr Haiqing Li (China) as its Second Vice-Chairman.
- 255 Dr Huh noted that the successful 5th WESTPAC International Scientific Symposium (Seoul, August 2001) provided an opportunity for some of WESTPAC's programmes to hold workshops to plan further developments. One such workshop, on Ocean Environment Forecasting, was jointly organised by NEAR–GOOS and PICES. Progress was made in the creation of the South-East Asian Regional GOOS (SEAGOOS) through the SEAGOOS First Implementation Planning Workshop (Seoul, August 2001), and a Co-ordinating Committee was created to develop SEAGOOS.
- 256 Throughout the biennium, scientists from the WESTPAC region had provided significant scientific inputs to several of the IOC global programmes, including GEOHAB, GLOBEC, CLIVAR, IODE, IBCWP and GOOS, thus helping to implement those programmes in the region. The NEAR–GOOS Co-ordinating Committee, at its 7th Session (Vladivostock, October 2002), developed a new outline strategic plan for NEAR–GOOS and broadened its terms of reference so that it could meet the needs of the wider community in the region.

- 257 He reported that good progress has been made in capacity–building. Firstly, in the framework of the International Co-operative Study on the Gulf of Thailand, several capacity– building activities have been organised, including two workshops on oceanographic data and information. The Government of Japan has continued to sponsor annual regional training courses on the detection and forecasting of Harmful Algal Blooms and on NEAR–GOOS Data and Information Management.
- 258 Links have been improved between WESTPAC and other organisations in the region, and ties strengthened between WESTPAC and PICES in NEAR–GOOS, GEOHAB, CLIVAR, GLOBEC and CoML (Census of Marine Life), and between WESTPAC and UNEP's Regional Seas Programme for the Northwest Pacific Action Plan (NOWPAP).
- 259 The Chairman of WESTPAC recognised that the Pacific Islands community has not been well served by WESTPAC in the recent past, and that there is a need to ensure a better balance between Asian and Pacific Island interests in the future programmes of WESTPAC, making full use of existing co-operation agreements with sub-regional organisations active and representing the Pacific Islands community.
- 260 Dr Huh reminded the Assembly that the WESTPAC Secretariat has been without an Officer since the departure of Mr Kuijper in November 2002, but he was happy to announce the appointment of the distinguished biologist from the Philippines, Dr Miguel Fortes, as the new Head of the WESTPAC Office in Bangkok, starting in October 2003.
- 261 The Executive Secretary reminded the Assembly that some concern had been expressed at WESTPAC-V about the weakness of the linkage between the IOC's global programmes and their regional components, and the regional programmes developed by the Sub-Commission, and about the organisation of regional meetings of IOC's programmes in the WESTPAC area without sufficient involvement of the WESTPAC Member States. He noted that the problem was common to all regional subsidiary bodies and arose in part from the fact that, although the rules of procedure required the Regional Sub-Commissions and Committees to implement the IOC's global programmes regionally, there was a tendency for the regions also to wish to develop activities meeting their particular local interests. This issue needs addressing in a substantive and systematic way through consultations and the subsequent drafting of a report by the Secretariat.
- 262 **The Assembly thanked** the Chairman of WESTPAC for his comprehensive presentation, and Dr Keisuke Taira for his work as the previous Chairman.
- 263 **The Assembly welcomed** the appointment of Dr Fortes **and looked forward** to seeing a reinvigorated WESTPAC Secretariat operating under his leadership. **It also welcomed** Dr Fortes' proposal that his priorities should be: (i) to get more committed support for IOC programmes in the region, by raising new funds or in-kind resources through shared investment; (ii) improve internal co-ordination between the WESTPAC countries, the Secretariat, and the scientific community; and (iii) address the needs of Member States more efficiently and effectively through partnerships operating in an environment of mutual trust and respect, so as to get more involvement by the Member States in WESTPAC activities.
- 264 **The Assembly welcomed** the announcement by China that it would host the 6th WESTPAC Scientific Symposium in Hangzhou in 2004, and that it has provided \$20,000 to the IOC Trust Fund in support of that meeting.
- 265 **The Assembly invited** the IOC global programmes to consider holding regional meetings in association with the WESTPAC Scientific Symposium.

- 266 **The Assembly welcomed** the commitment of Japan to continue its financial support to capacity-building programmes in the region, and noted the potential benefits to SEAGOOS of the Japanese Coastal Oceanography Project in S.E. Asia.
- 267 With regard to the future direction of WESTAC programmes, **the Assembly welcomed** the suggestion from the Russian Federation that its research vessel of the Maritime State University in Vladivostock acting as a Floating University could become the base for an IOC– WESTPAC Training-Through-Research (TTR) programme like that carried out in European waters.
- 268 **The Assembly noted** the suggestion by Australia that work on ocean dynamics and climate could form a focus for WESTPAC's activities.
- 269 On the occasion of his retirement, **the Assembly awarded** Dr Keisuke Taira, the former Chairman of WESTPAC, an IOC Certificate of Appreciation and a UNESCO Medal for his services to WESTPAC, and particularly for his seminal role in the development and implementation of NEAR–GOOS. The award was received on Dr Taira's behalf by Prof. Terazaki from the Japanese delegation.
- 270 In reply, the Japanese delegation read out a note from Dr Taira recording his great pleasure at such appreciation and referring to his satisfaction with the way in which NEAR– GOOS had developed in its early years. He wished WESTPAC well for the future and assured the Assembly that he would continue to promote the work of the IOC.
- 271 **The Assembly endorsed** the Summary Report of SC-WESTPAC-V and the recommendations therein.
- 272 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to arrange an appropriate intersessional consultation on the roles of the Regional Sub-Commissions in the linkage between the IOC's global and regional programmes, with a view to developing a concept paper based on existing rules, expanding on the modalities of regional implementation of IOC programmes and the functional role of IOC Regional Committees and Sub-Commissions, for consideration by the IOC Executive Council at its 37th Session, in 2004.

4.5.3 The African Process and NEPAD

- 4.5.3.1 The African Process for the Development and Protection of the Marine and Coastal Environment in Sub-Saharan Africa and NEPAD
- 273 IOC Technical Secretary, Mr Julian Barbière, introduced this item. He reported on the finalisation of the African Process and its recent integration into the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) framework. As a result of the intensive support provided by IOC and its partners, a portfolio of 20 regional project proposals has been developed by African experts in consultation with national authorities. The portfolio was presented at the Partnership Conference held during the WSSD, at the Head of State level, under the chairmanship of President Chissano of Mozambique. The portfolio was well received by the international community and one of main decisions of the Partnership Conference was to integrate the African Process, and its follow-up, into the NEPAD framework, as the main marine and coastal sub-theme of the Environment Component of NEPAD (ECONEPAD). The African Process was also endorsed by WSSD as a type-II partnership, as well as being specifically referred to in the WSSD Plan of Implementation.

- 274 This integration into the NEPAD framework has involved the full participation of IOC/UNESCO at relevant forums and in particular in the meetings of the Environment Action Plan of NEPAD. This finalised Plan was presented to the African Ministerial Conference on the Environment (AMCEN, June 2003) and will be presented to the African Union Summit (July 2003) for consideration by African Heads of State. IOC is therefore playing an active role in the finalisation and consolidation of the NEPAD Environment Action Plan, specifically in the sub-theme of Coastal and Marine Issues, including Fresh Water. In addition to its contribution to the elaboration of the overall African Process portfolio, IOC is now facilitating the development of the second phase of the process and working on the implementation of specific projects, such as GOOS–AFRICA and coastal-erosion projects, and is launching an African Coastal Zone Forum for the promotion and development of ICAM. Support to the NEPAD Environment Action Plan is therefore considered as a priority for IOC in the proposed Programme and Budget of UNESCO (Draft 32 C/5).
- 275 The Representative of the Ministry of Environment of Kenya, Mr Ali Mohamed, provided an overview of the NEPAD framework, its overall objectives and operational mechanisms. He informed the Assembly of the finalisation of the NEPAD Environment Action Plan, into which the African Process has been integrated, and provided details of the mechanisms put in place to move forward with the implementation of the portfolio of projects. He informed the Assembly that, following a Ministerial meeting (Dakar, October 2002), under the chairmanship of the President of Senegal, H.E. Maitre Wade (NEPAD Co-ordinator for the Environment), Kenya was requested to act as the clearing-house mechanism for the Coastal and Marine Environment Component of NEPAD, under the overall co-ordination of the Nairobi and Abidjan Conventions. As a result, pending the final decisions of the forthcoming African Union Summit, Kenya will be hosting a Secretariat in Nairobi which will assist in the further development of the coastal and marine projects and in seeking resources for their implementation, liasing with the partner community and relevant governments. Finally, he requested the support of the Assembly to assist Kenya in its proposed new role.
- 276 Several Member States expressed their support for the African Process and the NEPAD Environment Action Plan, and called on IOC to take a leading role in the implementation of the Marine and Coastal Component of NEPAD.
- 277 Belgium welcomed the integrated approach developed under the African Process, in line with scientific interdisciplinarity in UNESCO, and which will also be promoted at the forthcoming meeting in Brussels (September 2003) on ODINAFRICA's future development.
- 278 The Representative of the International Ocean Institute expressed the willingness of his organisation to fully co-operate with IOC in the establishment of the African Coastal Zone Forum, and the organisation in 2004 of a joint conference to launch this initiative is being considered.
- 279 **The Assembly expressed** its satisfaction with the contribution that IOC has made to the implementation of the African Process for the last three years, as a direct follow-up of PACSICOM, and with the recognition at WSSD that IOC is a competent technical agency to assist with the NEPAD Coastal and Marine Component.
- 280 **The Assembly stressed** the need, in following up the African Process, to extend the initial geographical coverage so as to cover the whole continent, thus harmonising with the NEPAD philosophy. In this context, **the Assembly encouraged** Member States to set up appropriate national structures for co-operation with the IOC.

281 **The Assembly urged** Member States to endorse the NEPAD initiative and especially its Environment Action Plan at the national level, **and instructed** the Executive Secretary to pursue, in this new phase, the implementation of those proposals that are closely related to the programmatic priorities of IOC, such as coastal erosion and GOOS–AFRICA, by seeking the support of donors and other extrabudgetary resources.

4.5.3.2 GOOS-AFRICA and ODINAFRICA

- 282 IOC Technical Secretary, Mr Justin Ahanhanzo, introduced this item. The GOOS– AFRICA Working Groups and Co-ordinating Committee, as well as the GOOS Project Office of IOC, have facilitated the development of GOOS in Africa. A project proposal for a Regional Ocean Observing and Forecasting System for Africa (ROOFS–AFRICA) has been developed in partnership with UNIDO, UNEP, ADB, ACMAD, a former STRC/OAU, and AARSE, with contributions from France, Finland, The Netherlands, USA (NOAA, ONR), the UK Met Office, ESA and EUMETSAT. The 6th Conference of the Contracting Parties to the Convention for Cooperation in the Protection and Development of the Marine and Coastal Environment of the West and Central African Region (Abidjan, May 2002) adopted the GOOS–AFRICA Project proposal. Pursuant to the recommendation of the Preparatory Meeting of the Partnership Conference (Abuja, June 2002), the Heads of the African States, at the Partnership Conference conducted in Johannesburg during the WSSD, adopted the GOOS–AFRICA Project for the revitalisation of the Abidjan and Nairobi Conventions, with a view to achieving the sustainable development of the marine environment in Africa.
- 283 GOOS-AFRICA has developed partnerships and mechanisms for joint activities with existing regional initiatives. The African Large Marine Ecosystems projects funded by the World Bank-UNEP-UNDP Global Environment Facility (GEF) have recognised GOOS-AFRICA as a complementary project that provides observations and forecasting as a basis for sustainable management. GOOS-AFRICA shares an interest with Indian Ocean GOOS (IOGOOS) in the development of GOOS in the western Indian Ocean, and GOOS-AFRICA and IOGOOS both support the Western Indian Ocean Marine Applications Project (WIOMAP). Both also share a considerable interest in observations relating to weather and ocean forecasting in that area. GOOS-AFRICA and PIRATA (Pilot Research Moored Array in the Tropical Atlantic) also share an interest in collecting observations relating to weather and climate in the eastern Atlantic Ocean (West Africa). GOOS-AFRICA provides an added value to both WIOMAP and PIRATA in developing a strategy with planned activities for collecting and integrating data from remote sensing and from *in situ* observations and measurements, and processing them with numerical modelling to derive useful products. Due to the successful co-operation with the African Centre of Meteorological Applications for Development (ACMAD), GOOS-AFRICA has also established mechanisms for joint activities with the Global Climate Observing System in Africa. There is a natural link between GOOS-AFRICA and ODINAFRICA initiatives, since data stored by ODINAFRICA should be converted into operational information. The adoption of GOOS-AFRICA's ROOFS-AFRICA proposal, as a key part of the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) is a demonstration of the rapid development of the concept in the region and its ownership by the African countries.
- 284 **The Assembly welcomed** with appreciation the rapid development of GOOS in Africa and the integrated approach of GOOS–AFRICA.
- 285 **The Assembly welcomed** the organisation of the GOOS–AFRICA Stakeholders and Resources Mobilisation Workshop, planned in co-operation with the South African Weather and Meteorological Service and the NEPAD Steering Committee, for October 2003.

- 286 **The Assembly requested** Member States to provide additional financial and technical assistance, **and instructed** the Executive Secretary to seek additional support to ensure a rapid implementation of the ROOFS–AFRICA.
- 287 The ODINAFRICA Regional Co-ordinator for the IOCINCWIO region, Mr Mika Odido, highlighted some of the activities implemented in the current phase of the ODINAFRICA Project. New National Oceanographic Data and Information Centres (or DNAs) have been established in Benin, Cameroon, Senegal, Togo and Tunisia, bringing the total number of data centres established in the framework of ODINAFRICA to 16. To improve networking, databases developed at national level are now being merged, quality-controlled and formatted for access via the Internet in order to encourage broader usage. Two training workshops on data management were organised (Casablanca, April 2001; Tunis, April–May 2002), and two on marine information management (Cape Town, October–November 2001; Tunis, April–May 2002).
- 288 The External Evaluation of the ODINAFRICA Project, undertaken in 2002, was very positive and recommended the Project's continuation. The Evaluation report identified a few areas for improvement, such as: (i) Internet connectivity; (ii) disparities in capacity between the different institutions; and (iii) the need for more equipment for preparation of products for ICAM (e.g. GIS equipment).
- 289 Several actions have already been undertaken to respond to the Evaluation's recommendations. Regarding improvement of Internet access, a pilot initiative will be implemented to improve connectivity in Benin, Côte d'Ivoire, Kenya, Mauritius, Nigeria, Senegal and Seychelles. Remedial training courses for data and information management have been organised to ensure that all the institutions reach the same level. ODINAFRICA partner institutions have also recommended that ODINAFRICA–III should strongly promote close collaboration between the established ocean data and information centres, GOOS–AFRICA, ICAM and JCOMM, with a view to ensuring that the established national and regional capacity is fully utilised for the development and provision of a wide range of ocean data and information products and services. ODINAFRICA partner institutions participated in the First IOGOOS Conference (Grand Bay, Mauritius, November 2002).
- 290 Belgium expressed satisfaction with the progress in implementation of ODINAFRICA-II and informed the Assembly of the Government of Flanders's intention to continue providing support.
- 291 **The Assembly noted** the progress made in the implementation of ODINAFRICA and the positive evaluation the Project had received, **and called on** the concerned Member States to develop a proposal for the next phase of ODINAFRICA.
- 292 **The Assembly thanked** the Government of Flanders (Belgium) for funding the ODINAFRICA project **and welcomed** their intention to continue providing support for the Project.
- 293 **The Assembly urged** other Member States to extend support to the proposed next phase of the Project, emphasising the successful results of the first and second phases.
 - 4.5.3.3 UNESCO Cross-cutting Projects on the Application of Remote Sensing
 - 1. <u>The application of remote sensing for integrated management of ecosystems</u> and water resources in Africa

- 294 The Project Manager, Mr Justin Ahanhanzo, introduced this item. The Project is implemented through three lines of action: (i) Research, Education and Training; (ii) Developing UNESCO Chairs and Networks, and Specialised Centres in Remote Sensing; and (iii) Fostering Outreach. Research and educational institutions, including seven UNESCO Chairs in nine African countries (Benin, Botswana, Côte d'Ivoire, Equatorial Guinea, Guinea, Mozambique, Niger, Senegal, and South Africa), form part of the Network; the first meeting of the Network (UNESCO, Paris, November 2002) developed its Action Plan. The UNESCO Regional Bureau for Education in Africa (BREDA) in Dakar (Senegal) and the UNESCO Regional Office for Sciences and Technology (ROSTA) in Nairobi (Kenya) supported the Network National Workshops to identify national capacities, needs and priorities and to establish national work programmes in the nine countries mentioned above. Capacities and needs have thus been assessed and a clear picture of the status of remote sensing applied to ecosystems and water resources at national and regional levels has been obtained. Relevant stakeholders are now cooperating to implement the Project at national and regional levels. The Project is complementary to the ROOFS-AFRICA proposal mentioned under item 4.5.3.2 which involves a much larger community (22 Member States) working on remote sensing in conjunction with other technologies and numerical modelling. This present crosscutting project addresses a smaller community focusing on remote sensing alone and considers terrestrial as well as marine issues. The Project has established a number of co-operative actions, including: South-South cooperation with the Brazilian Space Agency and the Indian Space Research Organisation; North-South co-operation involving ESA, EUMETSAT, France (CNES), The Netherlands (ITC), UK (SOC), Germany, the European Commission and the Committee on Earth Observating Satellites (CEOS). The Project is contributing to the forthcoming CEOS capacity-building workshop planned for October in Stellenbosch (South Africa) and to the AFRICAGIS Conference in Dakar in November 2003.
- 295 Following the recommendation of the participating Member States, the Project's Management Team submitted a request to UNESCO for the Project's extension under the UNESCO Programme and Budget for the next biennium, 2004–2005 (32 C/5).
- 296 **The Assembly recognised** that this initiative will support the remote-sensing efforts of the Commission.
- **297 The Assembly urged** the Member States to support the extension of the Project, with increased budget, during the discussion and approval of the UNESCO Programme and Budget document (32 C/5) at the next General Conference of UNESCO (September–October 2003), and to provide additional financial and technical assistance to the Project for its extension to other countries.
 - 2. <u>UNESCO/IOC regional ocean sub-portals as part of the UNESCO knowledge portal</u>
- The Head of the IOCINCWIO Project Office, Mr Mika Odido, introduced this item. Content-editors were recruited and trained in the development of the African Ocean Portal. The editors elected Dr Desiderius Masalu (Tanzania) Chief Editor, with Ms Regina Folorunsho (Nigeria) as Assistant Chief Editor. The editors have met twice (UNESCO/IOC, Paris, May 2002; Mombasa, January 2003). The website <u>http://www.africanoceans.net</u> was launched in March 2003 and provides access to information and data on all aspects of ocean/coastal research and management for the benefit of various communities, such as decision-makers, the private sector, the research and education community and the general public.

- 299 In view of the considerable progress in the development of the African Ocean Portal, a proposal for an extension of the Project (2004–2005), focusing on public awareness and community participation, has been submitted to UNESCO for consideration.
- 300 **The Assembly noted** the progress in the development of the African Ocean Portal as an effective tool for the dissemination of information on sustainable development and management of the oceans and coastal zones to a wide, non-specialised, audience **and encouraged** Member States to participate actively in the continued building and maintenance of the Portal by submitting information on national ocean and coastal activities on a regular and sustained basis, as well as to promote the Portal at the national level.
- 301 **The Assembly urged** Member States to support the extension of the Project during the discussion of the new Programme and Budget (32 C/5) at the next General Conference of UNESCO.

4.5.4 Memorandum of Understanding between IOC and the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (CPPS)

- 302 The Chairman invited Mr Gonzalo Pereira, the General Secretary of the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific, to introduce this item. Mr Pereira recalled the history of CPPS, introduced the contents of the proposed terms of reference of the Memorandum of Understanding and highlighted the role of GOOS in the new agreement.
- 303 **The Assembly endorsed** the terms of reference as in Document XXII/2 Annex 11 **and authorised** the Executive Secretary to finalise arrangements for the signature of the Memorandum of Understanding.

4.5.5 IOC Activities in the Caspian Sea

- 304 The Delegate of the Russian Federation introduced this item. He referred to document IOC-XXII/Supplementary item 1, reflecting the views of the various countries of the Caspian Sea region. It called for the strengthening of the IOC role in the organisation and co-ordination of research on the Caspian Sea and the development of an integrated environmental monitoring system, as well as strengthening of marine research capacity. The IOC and UNESCO have provided support, mainly through the Caspian Floating University and the UNESCO interdisciplinary initiative on sustainable development of the Volga-Caspian Basin, but there is a need to give more importance to the marine and coastal environmental issues in the possible continuation of the UNESCO interdisciplinary initiative. Recalling the activities of the WMO through CASPCOM and CASPAS, he identified climate and ocean processes, marine ecosystem protection, ICAM and GOOS as the main priority areas for the Caspian riparian countries. He proposed to the Assembly that a regional conference be organised by IOC to identify the appropriate co-ordination mechanism for research and monitoring in the Caspian Sea, and urged IOC to continue its support to the Caspian Floating University and UNESCO Volga-Caspian initiative.
- 305 The Islamic Republic of Iran welcomed the proposal made by the Russian Federation on behalf of the Caspian Sea countries.
- 306 The Representative of the International Ocean Institute (IOI) stressed the fact that the establishment of a regional co-ordination mechanism for the Caspian Sea is in line with the recommendations of a recent IOI expert group meeting (Astrakhan, May 2003), which also called for countries of the region to become members of international organisations such as IOC,

IOC-XXII/3 page 42

WMO and UNEP. He informed the Assembly that IOI is planning to organise a Conference on the Caspian Sea Environment in 2004 and suggested joining forces with IOC.

307 **The Assembly adopted** <u>Resolution XXII-11</u>.

4.6 UN CONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS

4.6.1 Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology

- 308 The Chairman of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE– LOS), Mr Elie Jarmache, introduced this item. He informed the Assembly that, pursuant to Resolution EC-XXXV.7 adopted by the IOC Executive Council at its 35th Session, the IOC/ABE–LOS, at its 3rd Session (Lisbon, May 2003), in close co-operation with UN/OLA/DOALOS, addressed: (i) the final draft of the IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology; (ii) the elaboration of an IOC internal procedure for an appropriate and effective application of Article 247 of UNCLOS; (iii) the collection and analysis of information through the third IOC questionnaire on the practice of States in the field of marine scientific research (MSR) and transfer of marine technology (TMT).
- 309 The IOC proposal on criteria and guiding principles in the transfer of marine technology, prepared by Mr Ariel Gonzales (Argentina), Co-ordinator of the sub-group on this subject, was adopted by IOC/ABE–LOS-III. In view of India's difficulty with respect to Section B (b), a compromise was reached at the present Assembly by the insertion of a new paragraph in Draft Resolution XXII-12 beginning [*The Assembly*] *Recognises* (...).
- 310 The IOC internal procedure for the implementation of Article 274 of UNCLOS, prepared by Professor Soons (The Netherlands), Co-ordinator of the sub-group on this matter, was discussed at IOC/ABE–LOS-III. It was not possible to complete the discussion, so the Advisory Body decided to continue this work intersessionally. **The Assembly noted** the proposal of Colombia to play an active part in this intersessional work.
- 311 Regarding the practice of States in the field of marine scientific research (MSR) and the transfer of marine technology (TMT), Mr Jarmache recalled that the Secretariat had submitted to the IOC/ABE-LOS an analysis of this practice, based on the results of the IOC questionnaires Nos. 2 and 3 completed by IOC Member States. IOC/ABE-LOS recommended that it be authorised to establish a working sub-group to analyse the replies to the questionnaire and that IOC Member States that have not yet answered the questionnaire on MSR and TMT be encouraged to do so.
- 312 Mr Jarmache reported that he had invited the Chairwoman of I-GOOS, Dr Silvana Vallerga, to attend IOC/ABE–LOS-III and to give a presentation on the main needs of GOOS in relation to UNCLOS. In this way, the Chairman of IOC/ABE–LOS had made the first step to honour the appeal of the IOC Executive Council for better communication between IOC subsidiary bodies.
- 313 Dr Vallerga described current I-GOOS activities and reported the interest of I-GOOS in seeking greater co-operation with IOC/ABE–LOS on the issues related to the legal framework applicable to the collection of oceanographic data in the Exclusive Economic Zones. IOC/ABE– LOS at its 3rd Session generally accepted that scientific inputs are necessary for its work and that a dialogue between scientists and legal experts must be encouraged and reinforced in order to implement the provisions of UNCLOS.

- 314 IOC/ABE–LOS, at its 3rd Session, expressed the wish that IOC present a report to the Meeting of States Parties to UNCLOS. It was also suggested that the IOC consider changing the name of the IOC/ABE–LOS taking into account the fact that this body consists of scientists and legal experts, pursuant to IOC Resolution XIX-19 adopted by the IOC Assembly in 1997. A decision on this matter should be taken between the Chairman of IOC/ABE–LOS and the Chairman of the Commission.
- 315 The Chairman of IOC/ABE–LOS expressed his gratitude to the Government of Portugal for its warm hospitality and assistance in hosting the meeting.
- 316 The Executive Secretary expressed his gratitude to Australia, Belgium and France for their contributions to the IOC Trust Fund dedicated to supporting the participation of experts from developing countries in IOC/ABE–LOS activities.
- 317 India, after explaining the rationale behind its objection to the adoption of the Draft IOC Criteria and Guidelines at IOC/ABE–LOS III, confirmed the acceptance of the suggested compromise text and India's full support for the IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology.
- *318* Several Member States expressed the view that the legal issues associated with the collection of data in the EEZ should be incorporated into the mandate of IOC/ABE–LOS.
- 319 Brazil noted the pressing need to give advice on a legal framework for those GOOS activities not yet covered by any specific regulation, and especially not by UNCLOS, and which may be awaiting such advice for their successful implementation.
- 320 Some Member States expressed the view that IOC should participate in, and report to, the Meeting of States Parties to UNCLOS.
- *321* Greece informed the Assembly that it would be pleased to consider hosting the next session of IOC/ABE–LOS. The Executive Secretary acknowledged and thanked, with appreciation, Greece for its kind offer.
- *322* **The Assembly endorsed** the oral report of the 3rd Session of IOC/ABE–LOS presented by the Advisory Body's Chairman.
- *323* **The Assembly adopted** the IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology in document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 12 Rev.
- 324 **The Assembly urged** the Member States that had not yet replied to IOC questionnaire No. 3 to do so.
- 325 **The Assembly requested** IOC/ABE–LOS to undertake the analysis of the legal and technical aspects associated with the automated collection of data in Exclusive Economic Zones under the auspices of IOC.
- 326 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-12</u>.
 - 4.7 CAPACITY-BUILDING, TEMA AND PUBLIC AWARENESS
- 327 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. He recalled the establishment of the UNESCO/IOC Chairs, which range from Marine Science Focused on Integrated Coastal Management (in Mozambique) and Marine Geosciences (in Russia), to Physical Oceanography

(in Chile and Georgia). He requested the Assembly to confirm their support to the establishment and reinforcement of UNESCO/IOC Chairs.

- 328 **The Assembly reaffirmed** the IOC's full support for the continuation of these activities and suggested the establishment of a few other Chairs in well focused domains, such as remote sensing in oceanography and ocean modelling, which would strengthen key capacity-building needed for the successful implantation of the IOC programme in developing countries and provide the Member States with trained personnel in disciplines in which they are particularly weak today, but which represent important avenues in ocean research and its practical applications tomorrow.
- 329 The Executive Secretary presented a Certificate of Appreciation to Professor Gothilf Hempel (Germany) for his substantial contributions over many years to IOC's programme, especially to the Training, Education and Mutual Assistance. Gothilf Hempel has an outstanding scientific carrier, having held professorships at the University of Kiel and at the Centre for Tropical Marine Ecology. He was also director of the Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, in Bremerhaven, where he played a key role in securing funds for the construction of the R.V. *Polarstern*. He was the Head of the German delegation to the IOC for many years and has been a member of many international working groups, notably the FAO Advisory Committee on Marine Resources Research, SCOR Working Group 86 on Ecology of Sea Ice, and was a member of the IOC Steering Group on Ocean Science in relation to Living Resources Programme. Prof. Hempel has participated in many IOC capacity-building initiatives and his efforts have contributed to the success of IOC's TEMA Programme.

4.7.1 Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans (POGO)

- 330 The Executive Secretary introduced the Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans (POGO) which was established by a group of marine research institutions wishing to work together more effectively in support of global oceanography. The terms of reference of POGO include *to make a major contribution to the attainment of sustained* in situ *observations of the global ocean that meet the requirements of international research and operational programmes.* IOC has joined POGO in its efforts and, together with SCOR, has been providing regular support for the Fellowships Programme of POGO, which enables scientists from developing countries to visit POGO institutions for periods of intensive training in *in situ* observation techniques.
- 331 The Chairman invited the Executive Director of POGO, Ms Shubha Sathyendranath, to report to the Assembly on the POGO–IOC–SCOR Initiative for Intelligent Use and Management of the Oceans. This is a type-II partnership initiated for the World Summit on Sustainable Development and aimed at promoting intelligent and sustainable use and management of the oceans through: (i) promotion of collaboration and co-ordination among major oceanographic institutions committed to ocean science; (ii) development of capacity in the weaker countries for using and managing their ocean space under UNCLOS intelligently; and (iii) advocacy of sound use and management of the oceans.
- **332 The Assembly thanked** Ms Shubha Sathyendranath for her report **and instructed** the Executive Secretary to continue to support POGO activities, and to work with the Executive Director of POGO and with POGO institutions in the context of the new type-II partnership, with a view to developing such a partnership as an effective platform on which to build capacity in developing countries for the sustainable use of the oceans.

4.7.2 UNESCO–IOC Strategy on Capacity-Building for Remote Sensing

- 333 The Head of the Operational Observing Systems Section, Dr Colin Summerhayes, introduced this item. Referring to document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 13, he stressed the need for the IOC to develop a coherent strategy on remote sensing, with a view to meeting the needs of developing countries to make best use of the remotely sensed ocean data from the satellites that overfly their waters day after day. This need was expressed most recently at the 35th Session of the Executive Council in 2002. The proposed strategy calls for the IOC Secretariat to: (i) arrange a series of regional conferences/workshops to determine regional requirements; (ii) develop a plan to meet those needs; (iii) assign the incumbent of the new P5 post on capacity-building to assist part-time in implementing the strategy; and (iv) make best use of appropriate training tools, including, among others, the UNESCO Bilko Learning Project on Remote Sensing.
- The Vice-Chairman of the GOOS Capacity-Building Panel, Dr Craig Donlon, then introduced the UNESCO Bilko Learning Project on Remote Sensing (document IOC/INF-1184). The Project has a good track record, can tailor-make learning programmes for specific geographic areas, can move quickly to meet Member States' needs, and requires the involvement of Member States in the design of the course for their areas, so that local materials are used to supplement the generic training materials. The Project operates at low cost and can attract extrabudgetary funds for implementation; it also offers an excellent opportunity to strengthen cooperation with the UN Office for Outer Space Affairs, the Committee on Earth Observing Satellites and the Integrated Global Observing Strategy Partners.
- 335 **The Assembly warmly welcomed** the development of the strategy, **and noted** with interest that the presentation occurred on the 25th anniversary of the launch of Seasat, the first satellite fully dedicated to oceanography.
- 336 **The Assembly recognised** that, while much had been achieved in satellite remote sensing since the Seasat launch, for instance the development of more accurate and reliable sensors, innovative sensors are still needed. **It also recognised** that the key challenge is to make better use of the remotely sensed data we already collect, and that the usefulness of these data has been demonstrated to be enhanced by combining them with other forms of data within a numerical ocean-modelling framework.
- 337 **The Assembly expressed** its concern about the loss of access to free data from the SeaWiFS ocean-colour sensor as it progresses to a fully commercial status in the near future. SeaWiFS has been and continues to be very successful and appears to still have several years of useful life remaining. Access to other sources of ocean-colour data needs more time to reach the same state of maturity as SeaWiFS. This state of affairs raises difficulties in developed countries, but is even more critical for less developed countries.
- 338 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to explore the issue with NASA to see what possibilities exist for continuation of free and open access to SeaWiFS data.

339 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-13</u>.

4.7.3 Information Strategy

340 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. The Assembly, at its 21st Session, stressed the need for high-quality and user-oriented public-awareness and promotion services and called for the development of an information strategy. In response to this requirement, the Secretariat prepared a Draft Information Strategy which was distributed to the Member States under Circular Letter 2059 prior to the present session of the Assembly. The responses received to this Circular Letter were all very positive and offered useful advice on specific aspects of the strategy.

341 **The Assembly endorsed** the Information Strategy and requested the Executive Secretary to proceed with its implementation, reporting the progress achieved to the 37th Session of the IOC Executive Council.

4.7.4 Training and Technology Transfer in Africa for the Implementation of Article 76 of the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)

- 342 IOC Technical Secretary, Ms Diénaba Beye, introduced this item. She informed the Assembly of the initiative being pursued by the Secretariat to implement Resolution XXI-11, item 3, (iii), on capacity-building in relation to Article 76 of UNCLOS, and to respond to the statement made by the President of the 11th Meeting of States Parties to the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea calling for such efforts (New York, May 2001).
- 343 The main objectives of this initiative are to transfer knowledge and to build capacity within African coastal States with continental shelf beyond 200 nautical miles to prepare a submission under Article 76 to the Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf (CLCS) and to compile, store, and analyse existing public-domain data for such submission.
- 344 She informed the Assembly that the initiative is planned in three phases: feasibility, implementation and evaluation. Canada has offered to fund the feasibility study.
- 345 The initiative would include the organisation of three levels of training courses: basic, medium and advanced.
- 346 Many Member States and, in particular, the Chairman of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Eastern Atlantic, expressed their support of this initiative and their gratitude to Canada for offering to fund the feasibility study phase. Some Member States suggested the extension of this initiative to other IOC Regions.
- 347 In this regard, **the Assembly**, after listening to many delegations, **expressed** its support for this initiative, **noted** with appreciation the offer of Canada to fund the feasibility study as laid out in IOC-XXII/Inf.4, **and instructed** the Executive Secretary to proceed with the necessary arrangements.
- 348 In accepting the decision to proceed with the initiative, a number of Member States indicated that they had already offered training opportunities very similar to those proposed and that they would continue to do so. In this context Brazil indicated that it proposed to run a second training course in 2004 and that this would be open to participants from outside the region. This course had the particular merit that it would be carried out in association with the Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf. The UK indicated that training courses were ongoing and that it would be happy to provide advice on the content of the proposed course for the African Region.
- 349 **The Assembly further instructed** the Executive Secretary to initiate, upon successful completion of the feasibility study, the preparation for the subsequent implementation phase as soon as extra budgetary funds can be made available, and to consider the request from other Member States to expand this initiative into other regions.

350 **The Assembly requested** that the progress made in this initiative be reported to the 37th Session of the Executive Council, including the possibility of the extension of this training to other regions.

5. ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT

5.1 DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET 2004–2005

- 351 The Chairman of the sessional Financial Committee and Vice-Chairman of IOC, Dr David Pugh, introduced this item. He informed the Assembly that the Committee examined in detail the accounts for the biennium 2000–2001 and for 2002 (document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 2). It commended the continuing improvement in, and the excellent state of, the documents. The Executive Secretary presented to the Committee the proposal for the Draft Programme and Budget for 2004–2005 based on the Core \$576-million Reduced Real Growth Scenario (see Agenda item 3.2). The adjustments necessary for the expected adoption by the UNESCO General Conference of the \$610-million Real Growth Scenario were explained. The Committee finally dealt with the Draft Resolution which was presented for approval; it contains information on the potential impact of the expected return of the USA to UNESCO and calls for recognition of the fact that this will at best result in near-zero real growth of the IOC budget under the Real Growth Scenario, while the budgets of the rest of the UNESCO programmes will be significantly enhanced.
- 352 Dr Pugh reminded the Assembly, on the important advice of the Chairman of the Resolutions Committee, that the financial implications of the Draft Resolutions must delineate regular programme funds as identified in document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 3 (up-dated for the \$610million Real Growth Scenario) and the separate extrabudgetary resources that will be needed for full implementation of adopted Draft Resolutions.
- 353 **The Assembly thanked** the Financial Committee for its work and Dr Pugh for his excellent leadership and guidance.
- 354 The Assembly adopted <u>Resolution XXII-14</u>.

5.2 ELECTIONS OF THE OFFICERS OF THE COMMISSION AND MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

- 355 The Chairman of the Nominations Committee, Professor Dieter Kohnke, reported on the status of the candidatures for the elections; all the nomination forms the Committee had before it were valid and had therefore been forwarded to the Assembly in document IOC-XXII/NOM-WP.4.
- 356 **The Assembly noted** the report by the Nominations Committee.

5.2.1 Election of the Chairperson of the Commission

357 **The Assembly noted** that there was only one candidate, Dr David Pugh (United Kingdom) for the position of Chairperson, who therefore was elected by acclamation.

5.2.2 Election of the Vice-Chairperson of the Commission

358 **The Assembly noted** that there was only one candidate from each electoral group for the positions of Vice-chairperson. Accordingly, each was elected by acclamation.

Professor Marío Ruivo (Portugal)	Group I
Dr Alexander V. Frolov (Russian Federation)	Group II
C. de N. Javier A. Valladares (Argentina)	Group III
Dr K. Radhakrishnan (India)	Group IV
Professor Amor El Abed (Tunisia)	Group V

5.2.3 Election of the Members of the Executive Council

- 359 **The Assembly noted** that there were 10 candidates for the remaining Member State seats on the Executive Council for electoral group I, whereas the maximum number of seats assigned to this group is nine (Rule 18.2 of the Rules of Procedure). A vote was therefore held to elect the Member States from electoral group I on the Executive Council.
- 360 **The Assembly noted** that there was one candidate for the remaining Member State seat on the Executive Council for electoral group II. The candidate Member State was therefore declared elected.
- 361 **The Assembly noted** that there were eight candidates for the remaining Member State seats on the Executive Council for electoral group III, which was the maximum number of seats assigned to this group. The candidate Member States were therefore declared elected.
- 362 **The Assembly noted** that there were 10 candidates for the remaining Member State seats on the Executive Council for electoral group IV, whereas the maximum number of seats assigned to this group is eight. A vote was therefore held to elect the Member States from electoral group IV on the Executive Council.
- 363 **The Assembly noted** that there were eight candidates for the remaining Member State seats on the Executive Council for electoral group V, which was the maximum number of seats assigned to this group. The candidate Member States were therefore declared elected.
- 364 After a first ballot for electoral group I, two Member States of this group, namely Greece and the United States of America, received the same number of votes, signifying that, in principle, a second ballot would have to be held. However, Greece decided to withdraw its candidate for election to the Executive Council in order to facilitate the smooth running of the work of the Commission. The United States thanked Greece for its generous gesture.
- 365 **The Assembly appreciated** the decision of Greece.
- 366 **The Assembly thanked** the technical secretary, Mr Yves Tréglos, for his dedication, over so many years, to guiding the delegations of IOC Member States through the elections of Officers and Members of the Executive Council.
- 367 The composition of the Executive Council and the list of Member States of the Commission are given in Annex IX.

5.3 DATES AND PLACE OF THE TWENTY-THIRD ASSEMBLY AND THE THIRTY-SEVENTH AND THIRTY-EIGHTH SESSIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

368 The IOC Executive Secretary introduced this item. He referred, in particular, to the recommendations of the Executive Council on this issue. He also called the attention of the Assembly to the duration of the sessions of the IOC governing bodies in the light of the experience acquired in the present shortened session.

- 369 **The Assembly decided** on the dates of the 37th Session of the Executive Council: from Wednesday 23 June to Tuesday 29 June 2004. In 2005 the Executive Council will act as the Steering Committee of the 23rd Session of the Assembly and will meet during half a day on the day (Monday 20 June 2005) preceding the opening of the 23rd Session of the Assembly.
- 370 **The Assembly also decided** to hold its 23rd Session over a seven-working-day period from Tuesday 21 June to Wednesday 29 June 2005, leaving a final decision to the IOC Officers and Executive Secretary taking into account the Agenda of the Session.

5.4 THEMES OF THE NEXT A. BRUUN AND N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES

- 371 The Executive Secretary recalled that the Bruun and Panikkar Memorial Lectures were created for the purpose of communicating the most recent advances in ocean science and technology to the Assembly. He went further to recall that the format of the initial Lectures were full Seminars, with a series of invited speakers selected according to a pre-defined objective. He suggested that, given the new shorter format of the Assembly, the Lectures could recover their original format, providing the much-needed interface between science and policy-making for the Assembly and Executive Council.
- 372 **The Assembly instructed** the Executive Secretary to consult widely, through a Circular Letter, on the content and appropriate format of the next A. Bruun and N.K. Panikkar Memorial Lectures at the 23rd Assembly in 2005 and subsequently to inform Member States of his proposal.

6. ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS AND SUMMARY REPORT

- 373 Dr G. Holland, Chairman of the Resolutions Committee, reported on the work of the Committee during this Assembly and its findings. His report is included as Annex V to the Summary Report. In particular the Committee recommended the revision of document IOC/INF-734 Rev. on the preparation of Resolutions, bringing it in line with the Assembly's current procedures.
- 374 **The Assembly adopted** the Summary Report of its 22nd Session and the Resolutions thereof (given in Annex II).

7. CLOSURE

375 On behalf of the Assembly, the delegate of Canada expressed the Member States' appreciation and thanks to Professor Su Jilan upon completion of his two successive terms as Chairman. We need to look back and realise how fortunate we have been to have you, Professor Su Jian, as our leader for the past four years. The many accomplishments of the Commission over this time, including the flagship status we are now enjoying within UNESCO, can be directly related to the contribution of yourself, the hard work and dedication, and the fair and professional manner you have unfailingly displayed in the conduct of our business, however contentious. There have been many occasions where one could expect your patience and good humour to have failed. Yet it has not. You have been attentive to arguments as long as we have kept them brief. And even then you have terminated our interventions in a manner that was courteous at all times. Professor Su Jilan, perhaps I could display our respect to you by referring to you as "Lao Su". We owe you a debt of appreciation and would like to express to you our deepest thanks for your contribution to our Commission. Thank you.

IOC-XXII/3 page 50

- 376 Professor Su Jilan expressed his gratitude to the Assembly for these kind remarks.
- 377 The Chairman thanked the Rapporteur, Mr Francisco Brizuela Venegas (Mexico), for his diligent work during the present session.
- 378 On behalf of the IOC, the Chairman presented a Certificate of Appreciation to Dr Agustín Ayala-Castañares for his contribution to the development of IOC, in particular in Latin America. Dr Ayala-Castañares was co-ordinator of scientific research in the Autonomous National University of Mexico (UNAM) and director of the Institute of Sciences of the Sea and Limnology, positions in which he was outstanding in his commitment to stimulating development of new human resources for research programmes of Mexico. An important part of the life of Agustín Avala-Castañares has been dedicated to the promotion of the international cooperation in marine sciences. He stimulated and made reality the participation of his Latin-American colleagues in the regional programmes of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission. Later, as a result of his excellent work in the Commission, Dr Ayala-Castañares occupied the position of Chairperson of the IOC (1977–1982), a role from which he impelled the diversification of the programmes of the Commission, the qualification of human resources from developing countries within the framework of TEMA and furthermore facilitated the development of operational oceanography. He led the participation of the IOC in the fora that led to the approval of the Convention of the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS).
- 379 The Chairman closed the 22nd Session of the IOC Assembly at 18.10 on 2 July 2003.

ANNEX I

AGENDA

1. **OPENING**

2. ORGANISATION OF THE SESSION

- 2.1 ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA
- 2.2 DESIGNATION OF THE RAPPORTEUR
- 2.3 ESTABLISHMENT OF INTRASESSIONAL COMMITTEES
- 2.4 INTRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTATION AND TIMETABLE
- 2.5 ANTON BRUUN AND N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES

3. STATUTORY REPORTS

- 3.1 STATEMENT BY THE CHAIRMAN ON THE STATE OF THE IOC [Rule of Procedure 8.1(a)]
- 3.2 REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY ON PROGRAMME AND BUDGET IMPLEMENTATION [Rule of Procedure 8.1(b); Rule of Procedure 49.1]
- 3.3 REPORT OF IOC ACTIVITIES (2001–2002) TO THE NEXT UNESCO GENERAL CONFERENCE [Statutes Art. 3.2; Rule of Procedure 49.2]
- 3.4 PRESENTATION OF THE DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET (2004–2005):BACKGROUND ASSUMPTIONS [Rule of Procedure 8.1(c)]

4. PROGRAMME MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS BY THE ASSEMBLY

- 4.1 GENERAL POLICY ISSUES
 - 4.1.1 Medium-term Strategy for IOC [Rec. XXI Item 4.4 para. 92; Rec. EC-XXXV Item 4.1.7. para. 102]
 - 4.1.2 Report of the Consultation of Member States on Resolution XXI-5 [Res. XXI-5; Dec. EC-XXXV Item 4.1.3. para. 59 & Item 7 para. 198]
 - 4.1.3 Guidelines for the Establishment of Regional and Project Offices [Rec. XXI Item 5.4 para. 267; Inst. EC-XXXV Item 4.1.4. para. 68]
 - 4.1.4 Progress Report on the Implementation of the New IOC Publishing Policy [Res. XXI-1; Inst. EC-XXXV Item 4.1.1 para. 54]
 - 4.1.5 Feasibility of Establishing a Regular Process for the Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment [Res. EC-XXXV.3]
 - 4.1.6 Follow- up of Key Recommendations of the External Evaluation [Rec. XXI Item 4.4 para. 94; Dec. EC-XXXV Item 3.3. para. 47]
 - 4.1.7 Results of the External Audit of Science Sector, Focused on Hydrology and the IOC (Managing and Governing for Results) [Rule of Procedure 8.1(g)]

4.2 OCEAN SCIENCES SECTION

- 4.2.1 Role of IOC in the Development of Standards for Ocean Research and Operational Oceanography [Rec. XXI Item 4.7 para. 126; Inst. EC-XXXV Item 4.2.1 para. 120]
- 4.2.2 Terms of Reference of the Programme Elements in Ocean Science [Res. XXI-6; Rec. XXI Item 5.1.5 para. 178; Inst EC-XXXV Item 4.2.2 para. 123]
- 4.2.3 Report of the 6th Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms [Rule of Procedure 48.3]
- 4.2.4 Activities of SCOR Relevant to the IOC [Rules of Procedure 8, 9 and 11.2]

4.3 OCEAN SERVICES SECTION

- 4.3.1 Progress Report on the Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management [Res. EC-XXXV.2]
- 4.3.2 Report of the 2nd Session of the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy [Res. EC-XXXIII.4 and Dec. XXI Item 4.6 para. 115]
- 4.3.3 Report of the 17th Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange [Rule of Procedure 48.3]

4.4 OPERATIONAL OBSERVING SYSTEMS SECTION

- 4.4.1 GOOS Activities
 - **4.4.1.1 Report of the 6th Session of the Intergovernmental Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System** [Rule of Procedure 48.3]
 - 4.4.1.2 Draft Memorandum of Understanding between UNEP and IOC Concerning the Relation between UNEP's Regional Seas Programme and GOOS [Rules of Procedure 8, 9 and 11.2]
 - **4.4.1.3 Memorandum of Understanding between the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES) and the IOC** [Rules of Procedure 8, 9 and 11.2]
- 4.4.2 Review of the Structure of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS): Final Report [Res. XXI-7]
- 4.4.3 Second Report on the Adequacy of the Global Observing System for Climate [Rule of Procedure 8.1(g)]
- 4.4.4 Draft Memorandum of Understanding between IOC and WMO Regarding Regulatory and Procedural Aspects of the Conduct of the Joint WMO– IOC Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM) [Rec. XXI Item 5.2.2 para. 197; Inst EC XXXV Item 4.4.3 para. 151]
- 4.4.5 JCOMM Observation Programme Area: GLOSS Group of Experts Adequacy Report [Rule of Procedure 8.1(g)]

4.5 REGIONAL ACTIVITIES

- 4.5.1 IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean (IOCINCWIO): IOCINCWIO-V Report [Rule of Procedure 48.3 and Res. XXI-11]
- 4.5.2 IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific (WESTPAC): WESTPAC-V Report [Rule of Procedure 48.3]
- 4.5.3 The African Process and NEPAD [Res. XX-10, XX-20, XX-21, EC-XXXIII.13, XXI-11]
 - 4.5.3.1 The African Process for the Development and Protection of the Marine and Coastal Environment in Sub-Saharan Africa and NEPAD
 - 4.5.3.2 GOOS–AFRICA and ODINAFRICA
 - 4.5.3.3 UNESCO Cross-cutting Projects on the Application of Remote Sensing
- 4.5.4 Memorandum of Understanding between IOC and the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (CPPS) [Inst. XXI Item 5.6.6 para. 416]
- 4.5.5 IOC Activities in the Caspian Sea [Rules of Procedure 8, 9 and 11.2]

4.6 UN CONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS

4.6.1 Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology [Res. XXI-2 and Res. EC-XXXV.7]

4.7 CAPACITY-BUILDING, TEMA AND PUBLIC AWARENESS

- 4.7.1 Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans (POGO) [Rule of Procedure 8.1(g)]
- 4.7.2 UNESCO–IOC Strategy on Capacity-Building for Remote Sensing [Rec. EC-XXXV item 2.5 paras. 24 & 27; Rule of Procedure 8.1(g)]
- 4.7.3 Information Strategy [Inst. XXI Item 6.2 para. 431]
- 4.7.4 Training and Technology Transfer in Africa for the Implementation of Article 76 of the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) [Res. XX-20, XX-21, XXI-11]

5. ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT

- 5.1 DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET 2004–2005 Statutes Articles 1.2, 6.B(4); Res. XXI-13 and Rec. XXI Item 6.1 para. 418; Res. EC-XXXV.8; Rule of Procedure 8.1(c)]
- 5.2 ELECTIONS OF THE OFFICERS OF THE COMMISSION AND MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL [Statutes Article 6.B.5; Appendix I to the Rules of Procedure]
 - 5.2.1 Election of the Chairperson of the Commission
 - 5.2.2 Election of the Vice-Chairpersons of the Commission
 - 5.2.3 Election of the Members of the Executive Council

- 5.3 DATES AND PLACE OF THE TWENTY-THIRD ASSEMBLY AND THE THIRTY-SEVENTH AND THIRTY-EIGHTH SESSIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL [Rules of Procedure 4 and 19.2]
- 5.4 THEMES OF THE NEXT A. BRUUN AND N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES

6. ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS AND SUMMARY REPORT

7. CLOSURE

ANNEX II

ADOPTED RESOLUTIONS

No.	Agenda Item	Title	Page
1	4.1.3	Guidelines for the Establishment of Decentralised Offices	2
2	4.1.5	Feasibility of Establishing a Regular Process for the Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment	2
3	4.1.7	Improved Governance of IOC Affairs within UNESCO	3
4	4.4.2	Review of the Structure of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS)	5
5	4.2.3	Sixth Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel On Harmful Algal Blooms (IPHAB)	6
6	4.3.2	IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy	7
7	4.3.3	International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange (IODE)	10
8	4.4.1	Sixth Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS)	11
9	4.4.1.3	Memorandum of Understanding between ICES and IOC	12
10	4.5.1	Fifth Session of IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean (IOCINCWIO)	13
11	4.5.5	IOC Activities in the Caspian Sea Region	15
12	4.6.1	Third Meeting of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE–LOS-III)	16
13	4.7.2	A Strategy for the Use of Remote Sensing in Oceanography	18
14	5.1	Programme and Budget for 2004–2005	19

Resolution XXII-1

GUIDELINES FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF DECENTRALISED OFFICES

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling the statement of the 21st Session of the IOC Assembly stressing in para. 266 of its Summary Report that *the establishment of Regional Project Offices is an efficient mechanism to increase IOC's awareness of the needs of its Member States and to encourage commitments of governments to support these structures with a limited term,*

Recalling further that the 21st Session of the IOC Assembly had requested that a comprehensive set of Guidelines for the Establishment of Regional and Project Offices be presented at the 35th Session of the Executive Council,

Noting the decision by the 35th Session of the IOC Executive Council to establish an openended intersessional Working Group on Guidelines for the Establishment of IOC Decentralised Offices,

Adopts the Guidelines for the Establishment of IOC Decentralised Offices as contained in Annex VII of the Summary Report of the 22nd Session of the IOC Assembly;

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to inform the Director-General of UNESCO accordingly and to publish and circulate the Guidelines for the Establishment of IOC Decentralised Offices.

Financial implications: None

Resolution XXII-2

FEASIBILITY OF ESTABLISHING A REGULAR PROCESS FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF THE STATE OF THE MARINE ENVIRONMENT

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling the Commission's positive response (Resolution EC-XXXV.3) to Decision 21/13 of 9 February 2001 of the Governing Council of the United Nations Environment Programme, by which the Executive Director of this Programme was requested to explore the feasibility of establishing a regular process for assessing the state of the marine environment, building on ongoing assessment programmes, in co-operation with IOC of UNESCO,

Noting that the Plan of Implementation of the World Summit on Sustainable Development (2002), in its paragraph 36 (b), called for the establishment by 2004 of *a regular process under the United Nations for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socio-economic aspects, both current and foreseeable, building on existing regional assessments,*

Welcoming the decision of the UN General Assembly, in its Resolution A/57/141 of 12 December 2002 on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, to establish a regular process under the United Nations for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socio-economic aspects both current and foreseeable, building on existing regional assessments, and its request to the UN Secretary-General to prepare proposals on modalities for a regular process for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, drawing, inter alia, upon the work of the United Nations Environment Programme pursuant to Governing Council Decision 21/13, and taking into account the recently completed review of the Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection, and to submit those proposals to the 58th Session of the General Assembly for its consideration and decision, including on the convening of a possible intergovernmental meeting,

Recognising the need to link science and policy-making and, in that context, to promote intergovernmental co-operation, mobilise the scientific community and foster interagency co-operation in support of a regular process for reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment,

Stressing the need to ensure that sustainable capacity-building in developing countries is established as an integral part of the assessment process as identified in the consultation phase,

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary:

- (i) to arrange an appropriate contribution of IOC and its programmes, including the feasibility of taking a lead role, to the preparation of proposals on modalities of a regular process for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment;
- to seek, in co-operation with other relevant organisations, extra-budgetary resources, including for the Commission, in support of its involvement in a regular process for reporting and assessing the state of the marine environment, taking into account the need for the active participation of developing countries;
- (iii) to report to the next ordinary session of the IOC Executive Council, on the development of this matter, including the financial and human resources implications of IOC leading the assessment programme.

Financial implications: (2004–2005) \$35,000 from Regular Programme (Policy) \$14,300 from Regular Programme (Ocean Science)

Resolution XXII-3

IMPROVED GOVERNANCE OF IOC AFFAIRS WITHIN UNESCO

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling the Financial Report and Audited Financial Statements of UNESCO for the Period Ended 31 December 2001 and the Report by the External Auditor (Document 165 EX/29 Add.), especially the recommendations contained in paragraphs 173 and 203 related to governance issues on IOC and IHP,

IOC-XXII/3 Annex II - page 4

Welcoming the invitation of the Director-General to the IOC Assembly to approve implementation of the recommendation contained therein, drawing on the network of existing National Oceanographic Commissions or equivalent bodies dealing with ocean affairs,

Recalling Article 1.1 of the Statutes of the Commission that were approved by the UNESCO 30th General Conference, recognising the IOC as a body with functional autonomy within UNESCO, which includes definition and implementation of its own programme within the framework of the budget adopted by the General Conference,

Further recalling Article 6.B of the Statutes of the Commission which empowers the Assembly to establish general policy and the main line of work of the Commission and to approve the IOC biennial Draft Programme and Budget, in accordance with the IOC Statutes,

Taking into account that IOC has established a Medium-term Strategy in concert with the UNESCO Medium-term Strategy, and has produced and endorsed its programme and budget in a timeframe that enables the governing bodies of UNESCO to consider its recommendations in the formulation of the UNESCO Programme and Budget,

Reiterates the invitation addressed to Member States to:

- (i) reinforce the capacity and the role of National Oceanographic Commissions or equivalent bodies so as to enhance their functions as efficient liaison mechanisms with IOC;
- (ii) establish, if necessary, such mechanisms;

Encourages enhanced exchange of information and dialogue on matters of mutual interest between the National Commissions for UNESCO and the national mechanism set up for liaison with IOC;

Invites the Chairperson of IOC to convey to the Director-General of UNESCO IOC's appreciation for the support and the encouragement that IOC has been given under its flagship status within UNESCO;

Further invites the Chairperson of IOC to express to the Director-General of UNESCO:

- (i) the desire of Member States of the Commission to develop more effective and efficient mechanisms to deal jointly with the Commission affairs within UNESCO;
- (ii) a request to give close consideration to the special problems faced by the Commission due to the imminent changes in the UNESCO Regular Budget;
- (iii) the willingness of the Commission, within its mandate, to collaborate with relevant UNESCO Programmes *inter alia* through the cross-cutting projects;
- (iv) the readiness of the Commission to develop closer co-operation with UNESCO programmes that could strengthen education and capacity-building in support of ocean affairs;

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to respond to requests from IOC national liaison bodies or IOC focal points, for information, advice and assistance to national authorities on the enhancement of institutional capacities related to their involvement in the activities of the IOC.

Financial implications: none

Resolution XXII-4

REVIEW OF THE STRUCTURE OF THE GLOBAL OCEAN OBSERVING SYSTEM (GOOS)

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Noting the decision of the IOC Assembly at its 21st Session (Resolution XXI-7) that a review of the organisational structure of GOOS be carried out by an external independent Review Group during 2002,

Noting further with appreciation the Report of the GOOS Review Group on the Structure, Mandates and *Modus Operandi* of GOOS (IOC/INF-1185), and the position of the GSC and I-GOOS on the Review Group's Report,

Expresses its thanks to the members of the Review Group for the work done;

Urges Member States to support the further development of the coastal and climate components of GOOS, by strengthening their contributions to GOOS and their association with the IOC subsidiary bodies that support its implementation, including JCOMM, by:

- (i) ensuring effective national oceanographic co-ordination and representation;
- (ii) enhancing national and international programmes in line with internationally agreed GOOS planning, and
- (iii) ensuring adequate resources for international planning and secretariat functions;

Decides to establish an open-ended intersessional working group of interested Member States and Representatives of the GOOS-sponsoring organisations, to take into account the recommendations of the Report of the GOOS Review Group and comments from Member States, and to work mainly by correspondence:

- (i) to revise the terms of reference of I-GOOS, GSC and the GPO accordingly;
- (ii) to develop a draft plan of action; and
- (iii) to present their findings to the IOC Executive Council at its 37th Session.

Financial implications: none

Resolution XXII-5

SIXTH SESSION OF THE IOC INTERGOVERNMENTAL PANEL ON HARMFUL ALGAL BLOOMS (IPHAB)

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling :

- (i) the establishment of the joint SCOR–IOC international science programme on the Global Ecology and Oceanography of Harmful Algal Blooms (GEOHAB), through Resolution EC-XXXI.3, and the associated GEOHAB Science Plan,
- (ii) the recommendations of IPHAB Sessions I to V concerning the required and sustainable staffing of the HAB Programme,

Noting with appreciation the stable and long-standing extra-budgetary support for IOC/HAB Programme staff by Denmark, as well as by other Member States,

Having considered the Summary Report with Resolutions and Recommendations of the 6th Session of IPHAB (IPHAB-VI),

Endorses the IPHAB-VI Report together with its Resolutions and Recommendations;

Decides to take further action on the Recommendations as follows:

Recommendation IPHAB-VI.1 — Regional HAB Programme Development

Urges Member States to identify and pool resources for HAB regional activities specifically for (i) the Benguela region, (ii) North Africa and (iii) the Indian Ocean;

Recommendation IPHAB-VI.9 — HABP Workplan 2004–2005

Approves the HABP Workplan 2004–2005 within the available resources in the Regular Programme and the identified extrabudgetary resources, as presented in the Annex to this Resolution;

<u>Recommendation IPHAB-VI.10</u> — Operation of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel on <u>Harmful Algal Blooms</u>

Decides to convene the 7th Session of the IOC/IPHAB in 2005 sufficiently before the 23rd Session of the IOC Assembly, to allow the Assembly to receive the Report;

Requests the Chair of IPHAB to pursue the finalisation of the IOC–SCOR GEOHAB Implementation Plan and to report on progress to the next ordinary session of the IOC Executive Council;

Urges Member States to contribute to the IOC Trust Fund in support of the HAB Programme.

Financial implications: As presented in the Annex to this Resolution.

Annex to Resolution XXII-5

ACTIVITY: (see IPHAB Work Plan)	A. Total financial implication of IPHAB-VI Resolutions and Recommendations	B. Estimated available Regular Programme funds * incl. Cross-cutting	C. Expected extrabudgetary contributions specifically for HAB	D. Required additional extrabudgetary contributions for full programme implementation [A–(B+C)]
Programme				
support				
General (travel)	20,000	12,000		8,000
IOC HAB Science and Communication Centres, including 1 seconded staff	340,000	20,000	320,000	_
Educational				
elements				
Capacity-building	400,000	106,000	240,000	54,000
Publications	56,000	36,000	20,000	_
Scientific	220,000	52,000		168,000
elements (including regional components and GEOHAB IPO)				
Operational elements	25,000	—		25,000
TOTAL	1,061,000	226,000	580,000	255,000

Summary of budgetary implications for the biennium 2004–-2005 (in \$)

Resolution XXII-6

IOC OCEANOGRAPHIC DATA EXCHANGE POLICY

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling Resolution XX-11 on Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy (1999),

Noting:

(i) WMO Resolution 40 (Cg-XII) which defined a policy and practice for the international exchange of meteorological and related data and is intended to promote the free and unrestricted exchange of basic data,

IOC-XXII/3 Annex II - page 8

 (ii) The "Statement on Data Management Policy for Global Ocean Programmes" as submitted by the IOC Committee on IODE (Recommendation IODE-XIV.6, December 1992) and adopted by the IOC Assembly at its 17th Session (Paris, 25 February–11 March 1993) (para. 20 of the Summary Report of the Session),

Considering the reports of deliberations of:

- (i) The ad hoc Working Group on Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy (Paris, 15–17 May 2000),
- (ii) The First Session of the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy (Brussels, 29–31 May 2001),
- (iii) The Second Session of the Intergovernmental Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy (Paris, 17–18 June 2002),

Adopts the IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy as detailed in the Annex to this Resolution.

Financial implications: none

Annex to Resolution XXII-6

IOC OCEANOGRAPHIC DATA EXCHANGE POLICY

Preamble

The timely, free and unrestricted international exchange of oceanographic data is essential for the efficient acquisition, integration and use of ocean observations gathered by the countries of the world for a wide variety of purposes including the prediction of weather and climate, the operational forecasting of the marine environment, the preservation of life, the mitigation of human-induced changes in the marine and coastal environment, as well as for the advancement of scientific understanding that makes this possible.

Recognising the vital importance of these purposes to all humankind and the role of IOC and its programmes in this regard, the Member States of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission agree that the following clauses shall frame the IOC policy for the international exchange of oceanographic data and its associated metadata.

Clause 1

Member States shall provide timely, free and unrestricted access to all data, associated metadata and products generated under the auspices of IOC programmes.

Clause 2

Member States are encouraged to provide timely, free and unrestricted access to relevant data and associated metadata from non-IOC programmes that are essential for application to the preservation of life, beneficial public use and protection of the ocean environment, the forecasting of weather, the operational forecasting of the marine environment, the monitoring and modelling of climate and sustainable development in the marine environment.

Clause 3

Member States are encouraged to provide timely, free and unrestricted access to oceanographic data and associated metadata, as referred to in Clauses 1 and 2 above, for non-commercial use by the research and education communities, provided that any products or results of such use shall be published in the open literature without delay or restriction.

Clause 4

With the objective of encouraging the participation of governmental and non-governmental marine data-gathering bodies in international oceanographic data exchange and maximising the contribution of oceanographic data from all sources, this Policy acknowledges the right of Member States and data originators to determine the terms of such exchange, in a manner consistent with international conventions, where applicable.

Clause 5

Member States shall, to the best practicable degree, use data centres linked to IODE's NODC and WDC network as long-term repositories for oceanographic data and associated metadata. IOC programmes will co-operate with data contributors to ensure that data can be accepted into the appropriate systems and can meet quality requirements.

Clause 6

Member States shall enhance the capacity in developing countries to obtain and manage oceanographic data and information and assist them to benefit fully from the exchange of oceanographic data, associated metadata and products. This shall be achieved through the non-discriminatory transfer of technology and knowledge using appropriate means, including IOC's Training Education and Mutual Assistance (TEMA) programme and through other relevant IOC programmes.

Definitions

"Free and unrestricted" means non-discriminatory and without charge. "Without charge", in the context of this resolution means at no more than the cost of reproduction and delivery, without charge for the data and products themselves.

"Data" consists of oceanographic observation data, derived data and gridded fields.

"Metadata" is "data about data" describing the content, quality, condition, and other characteristics of data.

"Non-commercial" means not conducted for profit, cost-recovery or re-sale.

"Timely" in this context means the distribution of data and/or products sufficiently rapidly to be of value for a given application.

"Product" means a value-added enhancement of data applied to a particular application.

Resolution XXII-7

INTERNATIONAL OCEANOGRAPHIC DATA AND INFORMATION EXCHANGE (IODE)

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recognising:

- (i) the importance of comprehensive, long-term and high-quality data sets for the investigation of global environmental issues,
- (ii) the challenges faced by the oceanographic data centres with increasing volumes of data, data types and complexity,
- (iii) the need to integrate different data types to create multi-disciplinary data sets, and
- (iv) the data management issues associated with operational oceanography,

Acknowledging:

- (i) the close and growing collaboration of IODE with GOOS and JCOMM,
- (ii) the success of IODE's Global Oceanographic Data Archaeology and Rescue Project,
- (iii) the long and successful history of IODE in capacity-building activities such as the ODINAFRICA and ODINCARSA projects, as well as the OceanTeacher training system,
- (iv) the strong efforts of IODE to manage biological and chemical data through its newly established IODE Group of Experts on Biological and Chemical Data Management and Exchange Practices,
- (v) the successful development by IODE of information products and tools, including OceanPortal, OceanExpert, MEDI, BeeBox, and the continued involvement of IODE in ASFA,
- (vi) the active role of IODE in the development of marine XML (Extensible Markup Language), and the commitment of IODE in the development of the Ocean Information Technology (OIT) Pilot Project,

Noting with appreciation the strong interest of the IODE community in assisting the management of operational oceanography data,

Welcoming the successful implementation of the UNESCO cross-cutting projects on Ocean Portals in Africa and the Caribbean and South American regions,

Endorses the Executive Summary Report of IODE-XVII and the Recommendations contained therein;

Decides to:

- (i) continue the development of regional Ocean Data and Information Networks (e.g. ODINAFRICA and ODINCARSA);
- (ii) merge the IODE Group of Experts on Technical Aspects of Data Exchange and the JCOMM Expert Team on Data Management Practices, noting the recommendation of the JCOMM Management Committee in this regard;
- (iii) task the IODE Secretariat with the IOC Secretariat duties for the JCOMM Data Management Programme Area;
- (iv) establish the Ocean Information Technology Pilot Project;

Accepts with appreciation the offer of the Government of Flanders and the city of Oostende to host the IODE Project Office;

Urges Member States to increase their participation in international oceanographic data and information exchange through the establishment and/or strengthening of national data and information management infrastructures;

Invites Member States to assist strongly in the implementation of the IODE work plan during the period 2004–2005 through the provision of extrabudgetary funds and/or the secondment of experts to the IOC Secretariat and/or IODE Project Office.

Financial implications (2004–2005):

UNESCO Regular Programme:	\$300,000 for programme activities \$100,000 for staff
Extrabudgetary confirmed:	\$60,000
Extrabudgetary requested:	\$245,000

Resolution XXII-8

SIXTH SESSION OF THE IOC INTERGOVERNMENTAL COMMITTEE FOR THE GLOBAL OCEAN OBSERVING SYSTEM (GOOS)

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Having considered the Executive Summary and Report of the Sixth Session of the Intergovernmental Committee for GOOS (I-GOOS-VI),

Taking into account the Report of the GOOS Review Group on the Structure, Mandate and *Modus Operandi* of GOOS,

Endorses the I-GOOS-VI Report and the Recommendations and Resolutions contained therein;
IOC-XXII/3 Annex II - page 12

Urges Member States to consider the secondment of staff to the GPO, recognising that such staff could be made available through virtual secondment (hence working in their own offices, rather than in Paris);

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary:

- (i) to give high priority to ensuring continuity in the post of Director of the GPO;
- (ii) to ensure continued support to the GOOS capacity-building programme;
- (iii) to consider ways of addressing the increased workload of the GPO resulting from the support to the work of JCOMM, and to report to the next ordinary session of the IOC Executive Council.

Financial Implications:

1. Regular Programme 2004–2005, assuming no Regular Programme increase from UNESCO

- 1.1: GOOS Implementation (incl. JCOMM)
 \$290,000

 1.2: GOOS Regional Development
 \$207,000 (excludes \$44,000 for GOOS, GLOSS training)

 1.3: GOOS Contract Posts
 \$270,000 (assumes \$40,000 contribution from cross-cutting project)

 Subtotal
 \$767,000

 2
 Regular Programme additions 2004, 2005 assuming a Regular Programme increase from
- Regular Programme additions 2004–2005 assuming a Regular Programme increase from UNESCO
 2.1: GOOS Implementation \$160,000 (for JCOMM-II)

\$413,000
(includes GLOSS, remote sensing, modelling)
\$573,000
\$1,340,000 (excludes contribution to be determined towards running costs)
\$1,200,000

Resolution XXII-9

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN ICES AND IOC

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling the close co-operation between ICES (International Council for the Exploration of the Sea) and the IOC, especially since the signing in 1983 of the first Memorandum of Understanding in the field of marine scientific research and related aspects, particularly those involving studies in the North Atlantic Ocean and its adjacent seas,

Recalling further the parallel and complementary nature of many aspects of the work of both organisations, which have co-sponsored various programmes and working groups in recent decades with respect to the sustainable management of the oceans,

Being aware of the additional benefits that could be derived through even closer collaboration in the respective activities of IOC and ICES,

Recognising the need for both organisations to develop international co-operative arrangements to utilise more efficiently the respective scientific networks on which they rely,

Noting that IOC does not have a regional organisation explicitly dedicated to the study of the North Atlantic and its adjacent seas,

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to build on recent discussions and to draft, jointly with the ICES Secretariat, a new Memorandum of Understanding between IOC and ICES, which would be an overall document describing *the modus operandi* of the relationship, and would allow both organisations to work together, *inter alia* :

- (i) in the preparation of specific plans to intensify co-operation and to co-ordinate programmes, and to avoid unnecessary duplication, in the study of the North Atlantic and its adjacent seas;
- (ii) in the development of a common approach to specific issues, for example education and technology transfer for third parties, or joint workshops and symposia on key issues;

Invites the ICES Council to consider the new Memorandum of Understanding at the most opportune time for that organisation;

Further instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to submit the new Memorandum of Understanding for approval by the IOC Executive Council at its 37th Session.

Financial implications: none

Resolution XXII-10

FIFTH SESSION OF IOC REGIONAL COMMITTEE FOR THE CO-OPERATIVE INVESTIGATION IN THE NORTH AND CENTRAL WESTERN INDIAN OCEAN (IOCINCWIO)

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling Resolution XXI-11 on African Priorities,

Considering the high level of implementation of the activities during the IOCINCWIO intersessional period 1997–2002,

Acknowledging with appreciation the support provided by Member States and by interested organisations in the implementation of activities in the region,

IOC-XXII/3 Annex II - page 14

Noting with satisfaction the performance of the IOCINCWIO Project Office in facilitating and co-ordinating the implementation of the IOCINCWIO Workplan,

Recognising the need to focus the work of the Regional Committee on the development and strengthening of capacity for observations and monitoring of the oceans and coastal areas, as well as the analysis and interpretation of the available data and information to enable their use for sustainable management of the marine environment and resources,

Expressing its appreciation to the Government of Kenya for hosting the 5th Session of the Regional Committee, 23–26 September 2002, and to the Government of France for providing funds to assist in the organisation of this session,

Endorses the Executive Summary of the 5th Session of the Regional Committee for the Cooperative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean together with its five Recommendations;

Decides to change the name of the Regional Committee to "IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean – IOCWIO";

Decides to:

- (i) further develop capacity-building initiatives in the region, especially in the use and application of GIS and remote sensing in the management of the coastal environment, and other appropriate emerging technologies;
- (ii) continue to facilitate the implementation of the decisions and projects approved within the framework of WSSD, NEPAD and the African Process, in particular in the IOCINCWIO region;
- (iii) initiate actions to promote and foster inter-regional linkages, and to identify common issues for joint implementation;
- (iv) maintain the current level of staff support provided to the IOCINCWIO Project Office, and to provide financial support for the operational costs of the IOCINCWIO Project Office until further review by the IOCINCWIO Regional Committee in 2005, and in full compliance with the Guidelines for the Establishment of IOC Decentralised Offices;

Urges Member States and donor agencies:

- (i) to actively participate in the implementation of the IOCINCWIO-V Workplan, through provision of extrabudgetary funds and/or expertise;
- (ii) to provide additional resources and technical staff to strengthen the operations of the IOCINCWIO Project Office, and to further develop capacity-building initiatives in the region, especially in the use of GIS and remote sensing;

Invites other international and regional organisations and programmes focussing on the Indian Ocean to collaborate in the implementation of activities identified in the IOCINCWIO-V Workplan.

Financial implications	(2004–2005):	
	UNESCO Regular Programme:	\$87,000
	Extra-budgetary funds requested:	\$1,470,000

Resolution XXII-11

IOC ACTIVITIES IN THE CASPIAN SEA REGION

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling:

- (i) Resolution XX-19 in which the IOC Executive Secretary was instructed to organize a regional conference to identify a mechanism for co-ordination of research and monitoring activities in the Caspian Sea,
- (ii) the support expressed by the Assembly at its 21st Session for the implementation of the Caspian Floating University Project under the auspices of IOC,
- (iii) the recognition, expressed by the Assembly at its 21st Session, of the leading role of the IOC within UNESCO in the Caspian Sea research and protection, and that IOC would be responsible for conducting the study of the Caspian Sea by applying an integrated, well coordinated approach,

Noting the activities of the WMO Co-ordinating Committee on Hydrometeorology and Pollution Monitoring of the Caspian Sea (CASPCOM) leading to the establishment of the Integrated Programme on Hydrometeorology and Monitoring of Environment in the Caspian Sea (CASPAS), and the UNESCO interdisciplinary initiative on sustainable development of the Volga–Caspian Basin,

Expresses its concern with regard to the continued lack of adequate co-ordination in the Caspian Sea, especially regarding marine research and observation;

Decides:

- to organise in 2004 a regional workshop of the Caspian Sea countries in co-operation with the relevant international organisations, to identify a mechanism for co-ordination of research and monitoring activities in the Caspian Sea, to propose actions to develop IOCrelated programmes, such as IODE and GOOS, in the Caspian Sea, and to identify the capacity-building requirements;
- (ii) to continue supporting the on-going IOC-related activities in the Caspian region including the UNESCO Volga–Caspian Basin Initiative and the Caspian Floating University project.

Financial implications: (2004–2005) \$40,000 from Regular Programme

Resolution XXII-12

THIRD MEETING OF THE IOC ADVISORY BODY OF EXPERTS ON THE LAW OF THE SEA (IOC/ABE–LOS-III)

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Taking note of the oral report of the Chairperson of IOC/ABE-LOS,

Having considered the Revised Draft IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology as contained in Document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 12 Rev.,

Recalling:

- (i) the role of IOC as a competent international organisation to respond to the requirements deriving from the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), in particular its Part XIII (Marine Scientific Research) and Part XIV (Development and Transfer of Marine Technology), Articles 271 and 272,
- (ii) the document IOC/INF-612 on Marine Science and Ocean Services for Development: UNESCO/IOC Comprehensive Plan for a Major Assistance Programme to Enhance the Marine Science Capabilities of Developing Countries adopted by the 12th Session of the IOC Assembly in 1982,

Noting the various references in UN General Assembly Resolution A/RES/57/141 on *Oceans* and the Law of the Sea, to the many obligations of competent international organisations under Part XIII – in particular paragraphs 23, 24; and to the co-operation, co-ordination and strengthening as regards capacity-building and transfer of marine technology—in particular, paragraphs 25, 35, 36, 37 and 40,

Recognising that, in response to the call made to IOC in UNGA A/RES/57/141, a comprehensive Plan could be reinforced and implemented through a flexible and generally accepted international scheme for promoting the transfer of marine technology in accordance with Part XIV of UNCLOS, which complements current efforts at the bilateral, sub-regional and regional levels,

Expresses satisfaction with the progress made by IOC/ABE–LOS;

Endorses the Recommendations annexed to this Resolution and in particular **adopts** the revised IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology as contained in document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 12 Rev.;

Recognises that in any transfer of marine technology it is essential to take into account the capacity of the recipient State to pay such transfer;

Decides to disseminate these Criteria and Guidelines among Member States and other international organisations, and to set up and monitor the mechanisms by which Member States make use of them;

Decides that the IOC Executive Secretary, in consultation with the Chair of IOC/ABE–LOS, shall establish an open-ended sub-group of IOC/ABE–LOS, working by electronic correspondence and in consultation with the I-GOOS Board with regard to the scientific and technical aspects and UN/OLA/DOALOS, to provide advice on the legal framework within the context of UNCLOS which is applicable for the collection of oceanographic data;

Invites the Chair of IOC/ABE–LOS to report on the progress of this initiative at the next session of the Executive Council.

Financial implications:	\$15,000 (from Regular Programme)
	for the IOC/ABE–LOS-IV meeting

Annex to Resolution XXII-12

RECOMMENDATIONS

The IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea at its third meeting (IOC/ABE–LOS-III) recommended the following:

- 1) That the 22nd Session of the Assembly adopts the Revised Draft IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology;
- 2) That the 22nd session of the Assembly take note of the progress report by the Chairman of the IOC/ABE–LOS sub-group on the work related to an appropriate internal procedure related to an effective and appropriate use of Article 247 of the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE–LOS- III/8), and request that IOC/ABE–LOS continue its work on this topic with a view to considering the adoption of such internal procedure by the 23rd Session of the Assembly. This sub-group should work by electronic mail and in close co-operation with the Division of Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea of the United Nations (UN/OLA/DOALOS);
- 3) That an open-ended sub-group on the practices of IOC Member States regarding marine scientific research and transfer of marine technology be established. This sub-group should work by electronic mail and in close co-operation with the United Nations Office of Legal Affairs, Division of Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea of the United Nations (UN/OLA/DOALOS). It should draw preliminary conclusions from the data provided in Annex 6 of Document IOC/ABE–LOS-III/9, as complemented by the UN/OLA/DOALOS database on MSR legislations, and by further replies to the Questionnaire No. 3, and relevant other objective data, with a view to assisting IOC in fulfilling effectively its purpose and functions as set out in Articles 2 and 3 of its Statutes.

Resolution XXII-13

A STRATEGY FOR THE USE OF REMOTE SENSING IN OCEANOGRAPHY

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Noting:

- (i) the need of developing countries to have access to and to make more use of the data from earth observation satellites,
- (ii) the wishes of Member States as expressed in various Resolutions and most recently at the 35th Session of the Executive Council,
- (iii) the WSSD Implementation Plan which calls for widespread use of remote sensing from space as a tool for sustainable development,

Endorses the Strategy as given in Document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 13;

Decides:

- (i) to organise a series of regional conferences/workshops to bring together specialists in ocean science and remote sensing to establish regional requirements in terms of data access, product development, and training;
- (ii) to promote widespread use of appropriate training tools in remote sensing, including among others the UNESCO Bilko Learning Project on Remote Sensing; and
- (iii) that the IOC Executive Secretary should prepare a comprehensive plan to be presented to the 37th Session of the IOC Executive Council for increasing training in remote sensing, and access to remotely sensed data.

Financial Implications (2004–2005):

- \$10,000/year Regular Programme investment in the Bilko Project with extrabudgetary resources and UNESCO cross-cutting project funds to an appropriate level based on evaluation of proposals;
- (ii) Continuation of \$10,000/year investment in the IOCCG, based on \$10,000 from Regular Programme funds, supplemented by extrabudgetary resources;
- (iii) \$20,000/year Regular Programme investment in regional workshops/conferences with one per year for one of the following regions: Africa, the Caribbean, Latin America, South East Asia, and the Pacific Islands, starting with Africa in 2004, supplemented by extrabudgetary funds of \$100,000–200,000/year.

Resolution XXII-14

PROGRAMME AND BUDGET FOR 2004–2005

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission,

Recalling Article 1 (2) and Article 10 (1) of the IOC Statutes,

Noting with appreciation the presentation of the IOC Draft Programme and Budget for 2004–2005, as contained in Document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 3,

Emphasising the flagship status of IOC within UNESCO as designated in the 31 C/4—Medium-term Strategy 2002–2007,

Recalling the unique role of the IOC as the competent intergovernmental body dealing with ocean science and ocean services, as well as being the ocean arm of UNESCO, operating through the concerted action of IOC Member States,

Noting:

- (i) the regular funds provided by UNESCO have attracted substantial supplementary support from Member States, notably through contributions to the IOC Trust Fund, and secondment of personnel,
- (ii) the importance of continuing support by Member States in addressing the long-term plans of the IOC, through voluntary extrabudgetary contributions,
- (iii) the expected return of the USA to membership in UNESCO, which may result in the loss of the special USA voluntary contribution paid directly into the IOC Trust Fund,

Emphasising that collective participation in ocean science and ocean services programmes, and the associated observing systems will:

- (i) improve scientific knowledge and understanding of oceanic and coastal processes with a view to assisting Member States in the design and implementation of sustainable policies for the ocean and coastal zones,
- (ii) accelerate the collection of ocean and coastal observations, the modelling and the production of forecasts needed for the management and sustainable development of the open and coastal ocean,
- (iii) further develop the capability of Member States to use ocean data, particularly through the International Ocean Data and Information Exchange (IODE) system, through the development of Ocean Data and Information Networks (ODIN) in the different regions, following the model already being implemented in Africa (ODINAFRICA) and Latin America (ODINCARSA), in accordance with the existing United Nations conventions and UNESCO's approach on data and information,

IOC-XXII/3 Annex II - page 20

- (iv) continue the follow-up to the Pan-African Conference on Sustainable Integrated Coastal Management (PACSICOM) through the development and implementation of regional coastal management projects contributing to the operational phase of the African Process in the framework of the Environment Component of NEPAD,
- (v) answer the call to the IOC contained in the Plan of Implementation of WSSD to support the development of permanent capacities in ocean sciences, services and observations by Member States of IOC,

Emphasising further the importance of IOC subsidiary bodies and the related role of TEMA in capacity-building,

Having considered the preliminary proposals regarding the structure, formulation and budgetary framework for 2004–2005 biennium (*Draft UNESCO Programme and Budget for 2004–2005*, Draft 32 C/5),

Decides that the IOC Programme and Budget for 2004–2005 should be based upon five main lines of action:

- (i) <u>Main Line of Action 1</u>: Addressing scientific uncertainties for the management of the marine environment, and for climate change;
- (ii) <u>Main Line of Action 2</u>: Developing, monitoring and forecasting capabilities for the management and sustainable development of the open and coastal ocean;
- (iii) <u>Main Line of Action 3</u>: Developing and strengthening a global mechanism to ensure full and open access to ocean data and information for all;
- (iv) <u>Main Line of Action 4</u>: Developing ocean governance issues and increasing the effectiveness of the IOC governing bodies;
- (v) <u>Main Line of Action 5</u>: Developing the capacity and effectiveness of Member States in marine scientific research, and in the management and sustainable development of the open and coastal ocean;

Requests the Thirty-second Session of the UNESCO General Conference to appropriate funds to the IOC in the amount of \$4,795,800 (The Real Growth \$610M Scenario) for the IOC programme implementation under the Regular Programme, Major Programme II (draft 32 C/5);

Adopts the IOC Programme and Budget 2004–2005 as contained in Document IOC-XXII/2 Annex 3 with the following additional sums:

- (i) MLA 1, Action (3) Marine Science for Integrated Coastal Area Management \$250,000;
- (ii) MLA 2, Actions (1) and (2) GOOS Implementation and Regional development \$750,000;

Urges Member States to actively support, through their national representatives, the IOC programme proposals when the Draft 32 C/5 is being considered by the UNESCO Executive Board and the General Conference;

Reminds Member States that the proposed 25% nominal increase in Regular Programme allocation to the IOC according to the Real Growth Scenario is a realignment in the budget and will in reality only result in a near Net Zero Growth for the IOC after taking into account the potential reduction in the special USA voluntary contribution to the IOC Trust Fund;

Invites the General Conference of UNESCO to allocate additional resources to the IOC to enable it to benefit from the general enhancement of UNESCO programmes, and to accelerate the implementation of the above Main Lines of Action;

Also urges Member States to continue and increase their support to the IOC through direct and in-kind contributions.

Financial implications: none

ANNEX III

ADDRESSES

A. Opening address

by Mr Koïchiro Matsuura Director-General of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO)

24th June 2003

Professor Su Jilan, Chairperson of the IOC, Distinguished Vice-chairpersons, Members of the IOC Assembly, Ladies and Gentlemen,

It is an honour and a pleasure to be with you today at the opening of this 22nd Session of the IOC Assembly. We in UNESCO give high importance to the work of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission. This is illustrated by the fact that, in our Medium-term Strategy (2002–2007), IOC is justly recognised as one of the two *"flagship programmes"* of the Organisation.

Since becoming the Director-General of UNESCO, I have received many positive remarks about the activities of IOC in different international fora. IOC receives widespread recognition for its leadership and support of international scientific programmes and is recognized as being a reliable and effective partner when working with other UN bodies.

I would like to begin my remarks with some reflections on partnership and co-ordination. Allow me to remind you of the historical context, because IOC's role and work cannot be understood without reference to this.

After the Second World War, outer space and the oceans were the first global spatial domains in which the UN was called to use its new standard-setting authority. The scope of the co-ordination needed in ocean activities is broad. It extends across the social, economic and environmental aspects of sustainable development and responds to the principle enunciated in the preamble of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS): "that the problems of ocean space are closely interrelated and need to be considered as a whole". In contrast with more recent international agreements, this very important Convention deals with all aspects of ocean use, development and protection: transport, fishing, freedom of movement, protection of the environment, marine scientific research and mining, among others.

Given its scope, the full implementation of the Convention cannot be seen as the responsibility of one or two units of the UN Secretariat or just one or two specialised agencies. The effective use of UNCLOS by Member States depends on the ability of the UN system to work together as a whole, utilising a clear division of labour.

It is for this fundamental reason that co-ordination of "oceans affairs" is a preoccupation at the highest levels in the UN system. Besides UNCLOS, more than 500 international agreements on different aspects of ocean protection and the use of marine resources are today in place. However, compliance with the obligations and enforcement of the rights of the parties to IOC-XXII/3 Annex III - page 2

those agreements are very much an ongoing challenge for the international community. Consequently, Member States have expressed their concern that existing levels of co-ordination are insufficient and have been calling for the establishment of a more effective and transparent mechanism.

Meanwhile, the Global Environmental Conventions adopted after UNCED, Agenda 21 and the recent series of World Summits have extended the responsibility of the UN system into new areas of work. Further co-operation, partnership and co-ordination on issues related to oceans and coastal areas are thus essential if effective and coherent action is to be achieved in this new international context.

The new CEB, in which I participate together with all the other Heads of UN Agencies, and its two high-level Commissions are trying to improve governance in the UN by giving a more executive character to the co-ordination role of its senior executives. Sadly, as a result of this reform, some of the standing co-ordination mechanisms, especially the former Subcommittee on Ocean and Coastal Areas, has ceased to function. However, as requested by the World Summit on Sustainable Development and by last year's UN General Assembly Resolution on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, efforts are being made to identify and recommend a new mechanism.

The importance of oceans has been acknowledged by the UN General Assembly by creating the Informal Consultative Process on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, an initiative that encourages a broader, high-level policy exchange of views prior to the formal discussion during the General Assembly itself. This process allows and encourages a very open participation by organizations from outside the UN system.

Through the ADG/IOC, we have participated actively in the consultations. We believe that, for the co-ordination of ocean issues, as we did for the management of water resources, it would be useful to maintain a collegiate forum in the UN in which all agencies, plus the UN Secretariat, participate. In addition, we need to find a mechanism to accommodate new partners from outside the UN system. Perhaps a two-tier approach could be found where a more general gathering of senior officials can enable an exchange of strategic views. This might be complemented by task-oriented groups with a broader composition that can be responsible for specific time-bound initiatives with well-defined terms of reference.

The UN system works under a set of pressures that very often establish barriers for cooperation among agencies. Everybody is competing for resources and very often for mandates. We need to find innovative and non-traditional ways to overcome these difficulties. I am told that, in the past, we had a very successful mechanism of co-ordination for Ocean Scientific Research in the form of a signed protocol or agreement between the Heads of Agencies involved. I am referring to the ICSPRO agreement, for which UNESCO is the depositary of the legal instrument establishing it. Perhaps we can learn from this experience — the modalities of this new phase of co-ordination could include the establishment of written agreements among Heads of Agencies. This would commit the agencies and programmes beyond general expressions of good-will, and send a clear and strong signal to everybody about their plans to co-operate and how.

I encourage you to participate in the discussions that are taking place in the UN General Assembly around these issues. They are vital for better defining the roles and functions of the IOC within the UN family.

Last year's World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg was an important event for UNESCO as a member of the UN system. I would like to express here our sincere thanks to IOC for its dedicated involvement in the preparation of the World Summit and for its active participation in the event itself. We succeeded in taking the most pressing ocean issues to Johannesburg. We also succeeded in requesting and receiving enlarged responsibilities from the Summit. Now it is for us to decide how best to respond to these new challenges. I am sure that in your deliberations you will be able to find the right answers.

The Johannesburg Summit sounded a note of alarm that, despite the many efforts by the UN to protect the oceans, all indications tell us that things are not improving. On the contrary, in many areas there are worrying signs that our efforts are failing. We placed a lot of hope in the development of a Global Marine Assessment to ascertain the status of many of the natural processes, ecosystems and special environments in the ocean. Through Resolution 57/141, the Secretary-General of the UN was called upon to report to this year's 58th General Assembly on the modalities to undertake such a complex task. I am pleased to know that IOC has actively participated in the preparatory work, taking a leading role, and that your meeting will discuss the possible future involvement of IOC in this process. I encourage you to be prudent but, at the same time, assertive and pro-active. The UN system needs the leadership of its Member States.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

We appreciate the contribution of the IOC governing bodies to the formulation of the next Programme and Budget of UNESCO. I understand that your Executive Council now approves an indicative budget and programme sufficiently in advance to be considered in the UNESCO planning process. This innovation has been acknowledged by the External Auditor as an improvement in our internal governance practices. Of course, the final decision lies with the General Conference of UNESCO, but the contribution of the IOC governing bodies is most welcome since it adds to the transparency and accountability of our system of governance.

Everybody is looking forward to a very positive result in the autumn in the final discussion of our Programme and Budget. The return of the USA to UNESCO next October will create a unique opportunity to break the sequence of budgets that have been approved under the Zero Nominal Growth policy. We are optimistic enough to believe that the General Conference will go along with the proposed 610 million dollar budget, a budget that would provide for the first time in many years a modest but real growth. I have maintained the principle of concentrating the UNESCO Programme around a few main priorities. Although the management of water resources is our first priority in the Natural Science Sector, IOC also will benefit from a substantial increase in its regular budget under the 610-million-dollars budget scenario, fully compensating for the loss of the USA contribution to the IOC Trust Fund.

We recognise that one of IOC's more pressing needs is to strengthen its Secretariat so that it may respond to the increasing demands on the Programme. I am considering allowing IOC to use part of these new resources to hire personnel under the new Limited Duration Assignment regime.

Distinguished Delegates,

It remains for me to wish you a very successful and fruitful Assembly. I very much look forward to receiving your recommendations and suggestions.

Thank you.

B. Opening address

by Professor Su Jilan, Chairman of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO

24th June 2003

Mr. Koichiro Matsuura, Director-General of UNESCO, Officers of the Commission, Dr. Patricio Bernal, Assistant Director-General for the IOC and its Executive Secretary, Distinguished delegates and representatives of international organisations, Ladies and Gentlemen,

I would like, first, to welcome all of you to this 22nd Session of the Assembly of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission and to thank the presence of Mr. Koichiro Matsuura, Director-General of UNESCO.

The year 2002 was marked by several important events for the IOC, but certainly the most important one was, as the Director-General has just referred to, the World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg. Both the Global Conference hosted by IOC here in Paris in December 2001 and the Extraordinary Session of the Executive Council of the IOC, convened immediately afterwards, were instrumental in gaining momentum for the Ocean agenda in the preparatory process. The Commission not only prepared the IOC Declaration to WSSD, but also played an important role in activating and promoting the consideration by the Summit of a full agenda of Ocean issues.

There were three outcomes from the WSSD: The Heads of state Declaration, the Plan of Implementation and the Series of Type-II Partnerships recognized by the process. It is a remarkable fact that the Plan of Implementation includes a specific reference to IOC in Paragraph 34¹. That Paragraph addresses the importance of a science-based approach to sustainable development, and identifies several important actions and commitments that are crucial for the future work of IOC, one of which is the participation of IOC in the Global Marine

¹ Par 34. Improve the scientific understanding and assessment of marine and coastal ecosystems as a fundamental basis for sound decision-making, through actions at all levels to:

⁽a) Increase scientific and technical collaboration, including integrated assessment at the global and regional levels, including the appropriate transfer of marine science and marine technologies and techniques for the conservation and management of living and non-living marine resources and expanding ocean-observing capabilities for the timely prediction and assessment of the state of marine environment;

⁽b) Establish by 2004 a regular process under the United Nations for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socio-economic aspects, both current and foreseeable, building on existing regional assessments;

⁽c) Build capacity in marine science, information and management, through, inter alia, promoting the use of environmental impact assessments and environmental evaluation and reporting techniques, for projects or activities that are potentially harmful to the coastal and marine environments and their living and non-living resources;

⁽d) Strengthen the ability of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, FAO and other relevant international and regional and subregional organizations to build national and local capacity in marine science and the sustainable management of oceans and their resources.

Assessment, a regular process to be established by 2004, that we shall discuss further in this Assembly.

During this Assembly we shall also consider the draft Guidelines for the Transfer of Marine Technology. Although also referred to in the Plan of Implementation of WSSD, here it is in the context of helping with the implementation of a critical part of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea. In promoting the transfer of marine technology, we are inviting the international community to use IOC as an honest broker between demand for ocean technology and the suppliers of that technology. I am almost certain that, in the past, IOC has not taken the initiative at this level. It remains to be seen how effective we can be in this new area of activity. In this connection, the imminent recruitment of the new head of the Capacity-Building Programme in the Secretariat shall give impetus to this activity.

The Informal Consultative Process (ICP) on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, established in 1999 by the United Nations General Assembly, has demonstrated that it is a very useful exercise. The IOC has participated in all ICP meetings, assuming an important role in the fields of its competence and being clearly recognised as the focal point in Ocean Sciences and Ocean Services for the UN system. Last year, after evaluating the performance of the ICP process, the 57th General Assembly of the UN decided to extend its mandate for another three years. This is an important development that should have a positive impact on the governance of the ocean.

Furthermore, through ICP a broad recognition has emerged on the part of governments that, to improve governance of the ocean, there is an urgent need to improve co-ordination on ocean affairs within the UN system. The role that IOC played in the past through ICSPRO and later on in SOCA, as pointed out by the Director-General, Mr. Matsuura, will need to continue in the future mechanism to be established. I wish to thank the Director-General for his encouragement and support in this matter.

Let me turn myself now to two aspects of the internal working of the IOC. The first is the interaction of the Officers of the Commission, on behalf of the Member States, with the Executive Secretary. As you may recall, each of the vice-chairs represents a respective geographic group of Member States. During my two terms as Chairman of IOC we have maintained regular meetings twice a year between the Officers and Dr. Bernal, one of which takes place immediately before the formal IOC gathering. This has turned out to be a very useful and practical instrument to bring closer together the everyday working of the Secretariat with the guidance of the Member States.

During these four years, we have also tried to find a more effective format for the meetings of our governing bodies. On the one hand, we need to dedicate sufficient time to assure a smooth and well-informed decision-making process. On the other hand, the time spent in the meeting should not be overburdened for the delegates. We have now managed to shorten the meetings to ten working days. However it is legitimate to ask: How well are we doing in maintaining the balance? One thing is clear. As a result of these changes we have in front of us a very demanding Agenda and an even more demanding Timetable. I look forward to lively debates in the next ten days.

C. Statement

by Vice Admiral Conrad C. Lautenbacher, Jr. USN (ret.) Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere

Progress Towards a Co-ordinated Earth Observation System

Paris, June 26, 2003

Mr Chairman: It is a great honor and pleasure to be able to address this Assembly, and report on progress that we have made since I spoke to your Executive Council last year. I would also like to offer my perspective on a number of exciting developments that are underway.

But before I begin my statement, I want you to know how pleased we are about the U.S. becoming a full participating member of UNESCO. We look forward to working with you and the member nations to meet IOC needs, to achieve IOC objectives, and to seek new opportunities for the IOC. I would like you to know that I will be meeting with the UNESCO Director-General Matsuura tomorrow to discuss our interests in the IOC.

Earth Science Renaissance. We are at the beginning of an Earth Science renaissance. Science and technology are giving us a remarkable capability to observe and, with resulting observations, understand the Earth as a system. This understanding in turn provides us with a means to improve our predictive capabilities to meet a variety of pressing needs—improving weather forecasts, managing fisheries, mitigating disasters, protecting human life, monitoring crops, and exploring the oceans—just to name a few. All of this begins with observations, and their importance is now being recognized by world leaders. This is a remarkable opportunity.

G-8 Action Plan. The meeting of the G-8 leaders earlier this month resulted in what I think is a most notable Action Plan for Science and Technology for Sustainable Development. That plan includes global observation strategies as one of three priority areas. As stated in that Plan, the G8 will work to strengthen and develop close co-ordination of our respective global observation strategies over the next ten years; identify and fill observational gaps of coverage in existing systems; favor interoperability with reciprocal data-sharing, and develop an implementation plan to achieve these objectives by the time of a Tokyo ministerial conference next May.

SBSTA/COP-9. At the same time the G-8 was meeting, SBSTA—the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technical Advice—was planning for the Ninth Meeting of the Conference of the Parties (COP-9) in Milan this coming December. SBSTA, a supporting body for COP-9, reviewed the recently released Second Adequacy Report of the Global Climate Observing System (GCOS) with a view toward putting GCOS onto the agenda of COP-9. Specifically, COP-9 will likely decide to invite (1) GCOS and GOOS to report on funding of the initial ocean climate observing system, and (2) GCOS to develop an implementation plan, taking into account the Second Adequacy Report, existing global, regional, and national plans and initiatives, such as the Earth Observations Summit.

Earth Observations Summit. The U.S. will host the Earth Observations Summit on July 31 in Washington, D.C, for Ministers of the G-8 and (at last count) 25 other nations, as well as 30 established international organizations. They will discuss at the political level what is needed to commit to building an international, comprehensive, co-ordinated, and sustained observing system, not just for climate, but the Earth.

In addition to the Ministerial meeting, an ad hoc Working Group will commence work the day after the Summit on developing an international conceptual framework and ten-year plan. Over the coming year, this group will work on the steps for coordinating and sustaining existing observing systems, addressing issues of data management and standards, and incorporating user requirements. This process will be coordinated with GCOS and the COP-9 process and will feed into a second Summit in Japan in May.

Why am I here at the IOC? The IOC, working together with its WMO partner and the Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology, is a logical organization to facilitate implementation of the oceanic elements of a co-ordinated Earth observing system. And the Ocean Observations Panel for Climate, working with GCOS and GOOS, is a logical organization to address requirements driving their implementation. And this Assembly is an appropriate forum to ensure that there is a means for the timely, full and open exchange of data resulting from the ocean observing systems.

How might we proceed? The 2nd GCOS Adequacy Report and our own pending Strategic Plan for Climate Change Science are two reasonable reference points for developing an implementation plan for the ocean climate element of an Earth Observing System. I think we should consider the possibility of agreeing on a set of easily understandable, policy-relevant, science-based questions that could be used to drive requirements for collecting sustained, systematic, global observations of the Earth. Here are some examples of questions that need to be answered, along with what we need to answer them. In answering the following questions, the numbers I have cited for specific observing system elements have been taken directly from the 2nd GCOS Adequacy Report.

Sea Level. How fast is sea level rising? What is the projected rate in the future, and what observations do we need to collect in order to reduce the uncertainties? Three oceanic observing systems come to mind as being critical to answering these questions—the Jason-class satellite observations of the surface topography of the oceans, combined with about 90 geocentrically located, real-time reporting GLOSS (Global Sea Level Observing System) sea level stations, and a 3,000-float global Argo array.

Warming of the Oceans. How fast are the oceans warming? What is the projected rate in the future, and what observations do we need to collect in order to reduce the uncertainties? For sea surface temperature, a global array of 1,250 surface drifting buoys is needed to complement satellite infrared and microwave radiometers. To describe seasonal changes in upper-ocean heat storage, we need a 3,000-float Argo array. To understand changes in total-water-column heat storage, we need ~27 cross-basin, surface-to-bottom hydrographic sections taken every decade.

Carbon Storage in the Oceans. How fast are the oceans accumulating carbon? What is the projected rate in the future and what observations do we need to collect in order to reduce the uncertainties? For decadal changes in total-water-column carbon storage, carbon measurements can be added to the 27 cross-basin, surface-to-bottom hydrographic sections that are inventorying heat storage.

Air-Sea Fluxes. What are the rates of air-sea exchange of heat, water, and carbon? What are projected rates in the future; and what observations do we need to collect in order to reduce the uncertainties? The observations required here include air-sea flux stations moored at ~29 representative sites globally, combined with two broad-swath satellite sensors capable of measuring surface vector winds. These observations, combined with barometers on the 1,250

IOC-XXII/3 Annex III - page 8

surface drifting buoys, will contribute to improved Numerical Weather Prediction, which in turn will provide basic information on fluxes globally.

Improved Seasonal Forecasts. How can we improve ENSO-based forecasts for North America? To what extent can we generate similar forecasts for other parts of the globe, and how can this help distinguish climate variability from climate change? Satellite-derived surface topography and vector winds, Argo, and an efficient TAO/Triton-like array spanning the global tropics can provide invaluable basic information on seasonal-to-decadal variability as a basis for improving forecasts.

Other Questions. There are other questions we could ask:

- How do the oceans influence the hydrological cycle?
- How can we characterize the overturning ocean circulation?
- How does basin-scale variability influence the coastal oceans on regional and local levels?
- How does climate variability affect marine ecosystems?

Where do we go from here? The oceanographic community needs to agree on a process for moving forward to take advantage of these exciting scientific, technical, and policy developments related to Earth observations, and the IOC offers an appropriate forum for doing this. In order to do this, I believe that we need consensus on questions that can be used to drive requirements, which in turn can be used as the basis for determining the mix of observing system elements needed to satisfy those requirements. With consensus on the process, we can—just as we have for Argo—agree among the sponsoring nations how we can build a partnership to meet those requirements.

International collaboration is essential. Working together, we can establish—within this decade—critical elements of the Global Ocean Observing System which are of special importance to the IOC and which serve the needs not just for GCOS, but for Earth Science.

I believe that the upcoming Earth Observations Summit, hosted by the U.S. on July 31, will be an outstanding opportunity to gain the recognition and enhanced support needed for the Global Ocean Observing System. I urge you to support your Executive Secretary who has accepted our invitation to participate in this watershed event.

Thank you very much for your time and attention.

ANNEX IV

LECTURES

A. THE BRUUN MEMORIAL LECTURES, 2003

Gas-Hydrates – A Potential Source of Energy From the Oceans

Harsh K. Gupta

Department of Ocean Development, Mahasagar Bhawan, Block-12 CGO Complex, Lodhi Road, New Delhi – 110 003 Email: <u>dodsec@dod.delhi.nic.in</u>

Summary – Gas-hydrate is a solid substance composed of water and low molecular weight hydrocarbon (mainly methane) and is also known as clathrate. It occurs worldwide in the oceanic and polar sediments where temperature is low enough and pressure is sufficiently high to crystallize the methane into gas-hydrates. The study of gas-hydrates has attracted the attention of the scientific community worldwide because of their widespread occurrences and potential energy content. Methane stored within and trapped below the hydrated sediments has a large energy potential. It is estimated to be twice the amount of total fossil fuel energy reserves of world. However, to date not much is known about the nature and distribution of gas-hydrates. No suitable technique is available for quantitative assessment of gas-hydrates. Various parameters like bathymetry, seabed temperature, sedimentation, total organic carbon content etc. indicate favourable conditions for the formation of gas-hydrates in both offshore regions of India. So, it is felt necessary to carry out various geological, geochemical and geophysical analyses systematically for the identification and quantification of gas-hydrates along the continental margins of India for evaluating the resource potential. Some proxies like venting through the seabed or gas escape features; BSR on seismic section, chloride or sulphate anomaly are useful indicators for the identification of gas-hydrates in an area. Tomography, AVO, waveform inversion are very important tools to quantify the amount of hydrates and/or free gas. The resistivity anomaly also helps in identifying gas-hydrates in an area where seismic method does not show any indication. Here we describe some of the important studies and techniques to demarcate the zones of gas-hydrate occurrences and to quantify the amount of gas-hydrates and the underlying free gas.

Dr Harsh K. Gupta (India) -- Born on June 28, 1942 in Moradabad (U.P.), India, Dr Harsh Gupta had his education at the Indian School of Mines (B.Sc.(Hons), M.Sc. and A.I.S.M) and University of Roorkee (Ph.D.). Currently Dr Gupta is a Secretary to Government of India looking after the Department of Ocean Development. Among the important positions held earlier include Director, Centre for Earth Science Studies, Trivandrum (1982–87); Vice-Chancellor, Cochin University of Science & Technology (1987–90); Adviser, Department of Science & Technology, Govt. of India, New Delhi (1990–92) and Director, National Geophysical Research Institute, Hyderabad (1992–2001). Earlier he was a Research Scientist at the University of Texas at Dallas (1972–77) and an Adjunct Professor (1977–2001). Dr Gupta has published over 130 research papers in International Journals, written three pioneering books all published by Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam, and edited over 15 volumes.

IOC-XXII/3 Annex IV - page 2

Dr Gupta has been very deeply involved with investigations related to oceans. He has participated in the India Ocean Expedition Programme and in detailed investigations of regional crustal structure of the Bay of Bengal and Arabian Sea and later, as the Director, Centre for Earth Science Studies (1982–87), Trivandrum, pioneered efforts to generate wave atlas of the west coast of India.

He was the leader of the 3rd Indian Scientific Expedition to Antarctica (1983–84), which established a permanent base for India in a record time. This station fulfilled a very urgent scientific requirement of the country by setting up of a permanent seismic and a permanent GPS station.

In recent years, at the National Geophysical Research Institute, he has initiated work on Gas Hydrates in the Exclusive Economic Zone of India. Another landmark work by him in identifying locations where bottom simulating reflectors occur has helped in identifying zones of gas-hydrate occurrences.

Dr Gupta is internationally known. He is the founder President of Asian Seismological Commission, Bureau Member of the International Union of Geodesy and Geophysics (IUGG) and Councillor of the International Union of Geological Sciences (IUGS). Earlier, he has been the Chairman of IASPEI/UNESCO/ICL Working Group on Seismology and Related Sciences in Africa as well as Bureau Member and Chairman of several Committees of the International Lithosphere Programme.

Dr Gupta has been a visiting Professor at University of Paris Sud, Paris, France; University of Texas at Dallas, USA and University of Hamburg, Germany. He has also been a visiting scientist at US Geological Survey and Adviser/Consultant to UNESCO, IAEA and Commonwealth Science Council on several occasions. He is a Fellow of the Indian National Science Academy (INSA), National Academy of Science, Third World Academy of Sciences (TWAS) and several other academies.

Energy from the Sea: The Potential and Realities of Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion (OTEC)

Patrick Takahashi Director Emeritus, University of Hawaii Honolulu, Hawaii Patkentak@hotmail.com

Co-Authors:	Joseph Vadus	Stephen Masutani
	President Global Ocean International Potomac, Maryland <u>Jvadus@erols.com</u>	Associate Researcher Hawaii Natural Energy Institute University of Hawaii Honolulu, Hawaii
		Stephenm@hawaii.edu

Summary — A google search of the keywords "ocean energy" produced more than a million entries. Merely boiling this information down in a technical presentation describing the various forms of sustainable marine energy options would not be particularly useful, nor productive, for the purpose of the audience and this event.

The Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC) has supported a range of Big Ocean projects. This is all well and good, as the IOC is a governmental international organization and we need to first understand the sea around us. But, has the time come to do something more useful for society? While the paper will summarize the essence of ocean energy, the timing might be ideal to more importantly suggest a pathway to interest this IOC assemblage, and potential readers, towards a sea of change, a Blue Revolution.

Thus, given the current state of knowledge in this field, a system will be proposed for development to yield next generation forms of sustainable energy, seafoods, green materials and habitats, in a manner which can enhance the environment. This bridge to the future has been referred to as the Blue Revolution.

Surprising commercial interest has recently been shown in Deep Ocean Water Applications (DOWA). The attraction of this nutrient-rich, cold, and essentially pathogenfree fluid has, thus far, mostly been nurtured by a romance of the seas, cultural preferences and good marketing, but the sudden availability of more than a dozen deep ocean water facilities is an important early element of the Blue Revolution.

As such, and to keep within time and space constraints, in consideration of the vast long-term potential of the package of possible co-products—electricity, hydrogen, bio-alcohol, freshwater, ocean ranches and marine biomass plantations, to mention only a few—from artificially upwelled deep ocean water, this paper will focus on ocean thermal energy conversion, or OTEC, as the driving mechanism to bring reality to the Blue Revolution.

About the lecturer

Patrick Takahashi retired as Professor of Engineering and Director of HNEI at the University of Hawaii, and served as vice president for development of PICHTR. In 1979, while working in the U.S. Congress, he assisted in drafting both the original OTEC and

IOC-XXII/3 Annex IV - page 4

hydrogen bills that were eventually enacted into law, which for two decades now have guided R&D in the United States for the former and a dozen years for the latter. He was instrumental in bringing to the University of Hawaii a number of national centers, including the National Science Foundation Marine Bioproducts Engineering Center, Department of Interior Center for Marine Resources and Environmental Technology and Department of Energy Hydrogen Center of Excellence, and formed the PICHTR OTEC engineering office. He was awarded the Bechtel Energy Award by the American Society of Civil Engineers, and has produced for the United Nations a textbook on OTEC, a chapter in a solar energy publication and various papers on sustainable resources.

B. N.K. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES, 2003

Capacity-Building for Oceanography in Africa: The Case of Biological Oceanography in the IOCEA Region

Kwarme A. Koranteng

Director, Marine Fisheries Research Division, Ministry of Food and Agriculture, Ghana P.O. Box BT-62, Tema, Ghana <u>kwamek@africaonline.com.gh</u>

Summary — This paper looks at a brief history of oceanography especially as it applies to early explorations and notes the absence of Africa in this history in spite of the traditional knowledge of early Africans in the field of navigation and fishing that make use of oceanography. The paper then looks at biological oceanography generally, its objectives and needs and examines the capacity required for Africa to participate fully in the biological oceanographic activities so as to benefit from its results. This is discussed in the context of international initiatives and programmes in biological oceanography. Specific capacity needs for Africa, with particular emphasis on the Central Eastern Atlantic region of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOCEA) are discussed and suggestions are made to address these needs. Some relevant capacity-building programmes of IOC and associated bodies are examined with a view to assessing possible impacts on oceanography in the IOCEA region.

Dr Kwarme A. Koranteng is Director of the Marine Fisheries Research Division, Ministry of Food and Agriculture, Ghana. Ph.D. in Biological Sciences (University of Warwick, Ecosystems Analysis and Management Group). Diverse academic and professional achievements in fishery science, marine environmental assessment and biometry. Areas of specialisation—fish stock assessment and statistics, ecosystem approach to fisheries management. Member of FAO Advisory Committee on Fishery Research, Ghana National Commission for UNESCO's Natural Science Committee, the Ghana Science Association and Chairman of the GOOS–Africa Co-ordinating Committee. Twenty-two years working experience in marine and brackish water fisheries assessment and management extending scientific advice to government and non-governmental organisations; consultant to FAO, UNEP and other international bodies on various aspects of fisheries and the marine environment.

Capacity-Building for Oceanography in Africa— Realities and Prospects: A Case Study of the IOCINCWIO Region

Julius Francis

Executive Secretary, Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) Zanzibar, Tanzania julius@zims.udsm.ac.tz

Summary — The purpose of the lecture is to provide an analysis of important achievements and setbacks in relation to different completed and on-going capacity-building initiatives in the IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean (IOCINCWIO) region. I briefly examine capacity-building programmes over the last decades in their broader sense, including strategies and approaches and with specific examples from across the region. Finally, I analyse implications of various achievements and highlight important lessons and priorities for the future.

The Western Indian Ocean region, being one of the least studied oceans, requires more scientific research if it (the region) has to have a fair chance of gaining a better understanding of coastal and marine environment and of determining how important (economically, socially and culturally) they are to the countries, and of resolving some of several pressing challenges facing the use of region's marine environment and its resources.

In recognition of the need to strengthen the capacity to conduct more scientific research in the region, countries on their own and/or in collaboration with their partners have over the years designed and implemented a number of capacity-building initiatives.

While significant progress has been made, with some degree of success, in areas of human and institutional capacity building, noticeable progress has been made with regard to building financial and infrastructural capacities. Scientific infrastructure is expanding and so is the access to the latest technologies in terms of equipment and communication. Also the international scientific visibility of scientists from the WIO region is slowly growing as reflected by the number of publications in international peer-reviewed journals as well as the number of research projects being implemented in the region

Julius Francis has a Ph.D. in Physical Oceanography from the Flinders University of South Australia, Australia. He is currently the Executive Secretary of the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) and a Senior Research Fellow at the Institute of Marine Sciences of the University of Dar es Salaam. From 1995 to 2001, he was the Director of the Institute of Marine Sciences, where amongst others, he co-ordinated the implementation of both the Regional Marine Science Programme and the Tanzania–Sweden Bilateral Marine Science Programme. He has also been responsible for the development of a number of capacity-building programmes in the region.

Within WIOMSA, since 2001, he has been responsible for management of a competitive research programme, Marine Science for Management (MASMA) as well as fundraising and co-ordinating the implementation of other core activities of the Association including the publication of the Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science.

ANNEX V

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE RESOLUTIONS COMMITTEE

Mr Geoff Holland (Canada)

Firstly I would like to thank the Members of the Committee and the staff officer Julian for their hard work over the past week.

In general, the Committee found that the Resolutions submitted were of a high standard, which made our task simpler. I would like to make some general comments about the process, before referring to a few specific points.

There persists some confusion in the use of standard terms, for example in the interchangeable use of "adopts" or "accepts" or "endorses" when dealing with reports and recommendations submitted from subsidiary bodies.

When using quotations in our Resolutions, the authors should confirm whether the text has been lifted "verbatim" from another document, or whether there has been an editorial attempt to extract the meaning in a different form of words.

The Committee found that the requirement to identify the financial implications of a resolution needs further clarification. The detail in the figures given varied from one or two words to a funding schedule. In many cases, it was unclear as to which biennium the given figures referred to. The problem is most apparent in cases where the Resolution covers the activities of subsidiary bodies that meet at various times in our biennial cycle and whose workplans cover several years. It would be useful for the authors of these Resolutions to be given direction on what to identify and in what format it should be presented.

Mr Chairman, there is a document (IOC/INF-734 Rev.) that addresses the standardisation of Resolutions and on which the Committee relies. The Committee would like to recommend to the Assembly however, that this document, which is dated 1992, be further revised and brought into line with our current practices.

Two comments on the work process of the Committee. Firstly, on the few occasions where the Committee found a possible ambiguity or was unsure of the intent of a paragraph, it was grateful to the willingness of the author or relevant staff member to attend personally to assist in ensuring the correct words were used in the text. This is a practice that should be continued in the future. Secondly, whilst recognising that some rotation will be both necessary and useful in the selection of Committee members, a degree of continuity in the membership should be a consideration when this sessional body is established.

Mr Chairman, I would like to close with a comment on the matter that the Resolutions Committee referred to the Programme and Budget Committee. Two Resolutions initially contained a specific instruction to the Executive Secretary to approach the Director-General for staff support. In both cases the matter had been raised in plenary, during the debate, but the Resolutions Committee felt that such matters could only be dealt with in the overall consideration of the IOC programme and budget. The Chair of the Programme and Budget Committee concurred and charged Member States with the responsibility of addressing such requests when adopting the IOC budget document.

Mr Chairman, that is the report of the Resolutions Committee. We will of course be ready to respond to questions that may arise on any specific Resolution.

ANNEX VI

PROGRESS REPORT ON THE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR OCEANOGRAPHIC DATA AND INFORMATION MANAGEMENT

Dr Neville Smith

Chairman of the Task Team on the Development of a Unified, Comprehensive IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management

The Task Team considered some elements of the strategy for a future data and information management system, guided by the vision of "A comprehensive and integrated ocean data and information system, serving the broad and diverse needs of IOC Member States, for both routine and scientific use." The concept of delivering a data service for the "global ocean commons" (global public good) is central to this vision. The scope will be comprehensive and be across all the disciplines within the mandate of IOC. There will be no *a priori* separation of functions based on the lead time for data delivery (e.g. real-time versus delayed mode). Different strategies might be employed to satisfy global, regional and local requirements, and to meet timeliness needs.

The system will need to provide the data and information required to, *inter alia*: (i) provide scientific information and data on ocean, coastal and inland waters and ecosystems in support of integrated resource management and conservation and sustainable use of marine resources; (ii) support the information and data requirements for marine services, transportation and navigation; (iii) undertake marine assessments and routinely provide indices of the "health" of the marine environment; (iv) detect and forecast climate change and variability; (v) predict and mitigate the impact of natural and man-made hazards; (vi) manage risk for operations in the coastal and open ocean, including the oil and gas industry. This list is not complete but does send the message that the system should be serving all of the requirements of IOC programmes, from GOOS through to science and assessment (e.g. the GMA).

The specific objectives of the system will include (i) support for scientific research and resource assessments at a national, regional, and global level (the regional and global aspects have international contexts); (ii) collaborate with other intergovernmental bodies to ensure greater flexibility in the provision of timely and cost-effective access to data and information; (iii) support IOC's commitment to its Member States and to other international organisations; (iv) to provide reliable, cost-effective and affordable access for developing- as well as developed-country Member States (technologically sustainable and appropriate to local expertise, modular and scalable, flexible, able to adjust to changing requirements and allow dissemination of products from diverse data sources); (v) embrace capacity-building. The system will also need to address how to support different user groups and access policies, to integrate diverse data sets, network security, long-term and reliable data archiving, and accessibility, as well as ad hoc and routine requests for data and products ("pull" as well as "push"), and timely delivery of data and products (appropriate to requirements). In a practical sense, the objective should be to make the future data and information management system the system of choice for all ocean activities, particularly those of research programmes.

Since its establishment, the Task Team had neither the time nor the resources to fully develop the strategy. Several of the background documents list activities that are either underway or being developed, separately and jointly within JCOMM and IODE. The Task Team recognised the value of these activities and, rather than seeking to dismantle or interrupt the

IOC-XXII/3 Annex VI - page 2

progress of this work, aimed to develop a strategy that would increase the impact and utility of these efforts. A brief analysis of the global components of the strategy, provided jointly by IODE and JCOMM, did not reveal any significant gaps. It is clear we require an enhanced system for data and transport, very similar to that proposed by the WMO. Several methods are being tested, including the use and implementation of OPeNDAP technology, as proposed by the US Integrated Ocean Observing System in its Data Management and Communications system. Clearly, there are opportunities for collaboration with WMO, perhaps including joint implementation.

The management of metadata is also a prominent activity. JCOMM and IODE have accorded high priority to the development of a metadata model for oceanography and have merged their respective expert teams/groups in order to accelerate progress. This decision, like the decision to develop a joint strategy, shows that collectively there is a determination to develop a more integrated and efficient approach.

At the national level, it is also clear that there is a merging and blending of the formerly separate activities of ocean data exchange and archiving, as represented by the system of National Oceanographic Data Centres (NODCs), and those associated with operational ocean and climate prediction. The latter are often, but not always, associated with national meteorological services. The IOC does not yet have the equivalent of National Ocean (prediction) Centres.

The Task Team recognised that the regional aspects of data and information management are extremely important and that there are several different drivers for creating regional and specialised data centres: (i) to serve the data and information management requirements of GOOS Regional Alliances; (ii) to satisfy the requirements of an IOC-defined region or Regional Subsidiary Body; (iii) to satisfy the data and information management requirements of other regional programmes, e.g. an LME or Regional Seas Programme; (iv) to satisfy a specialist requirement, e.g. a science programme, a specific data service (e.g. sea level); (v) to satisfy capacity-building requirements, as through the Ocean Data and Information Networks (ODIN); (vi) geopolitical, geographic or other forms of regional affinity (as noted in the UNESCO approach); and (vii) WMO Regional Associations. It is therefore a challenge for the data and information strategy to determine an approach that is optimal in terms of regional effectiveness and efficiency. It is conceivable that the Commission could use its Regional Subsidiary Bodies as a way of organising its regional approach, implementing procedures such as those used by WMO. Under such an arrangement, there would be increased responsibility compared to the present arrangement. In such a scenario, all data management would be given a home(s) within this structure.

The Task Team recognised that JCOMM does have the advantage of being new and thus possessing a fairly "clean" structure. The Strategy should avoid destructive interference in the present arrangements but, at the same time, provide a mechanism for an eventual smooth union of the now separate ocean data management activities. The Strategy will recognise a broad set of requirements from the Commission and therefore will need careful guidance, both in terms of management and in terms of technical and scientific guidance.

In the time available, the Task Team could not deal with any of the elements in detail, but it is satisfied the elements needed for a combined strategy are known. The Task Team believed that JCOMM-II and IODE-XVIII (both in 2005) might provide a convenient target for formal approval of a joint strategy.

ANNEX VII

GUIDELINES FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF IOC DECENTRALISED OFFICES

This Section describes the proposed Terms of Reference for the establishment of the three types of IOC decentralised offices:

- IOC Project Office
- IOC Programme Office
- IOC Regional Office

3.1 IOC Project Office

3.1.1 <u>Definition</u>

An IOC Project Office shall be established <u>to implement a particular IOC project</u> (or multiple projects of the same nature).

The main purpose of an IOC Project Office is to administratively and technically <u>underpin projects</u> that have specific objectives, clearly defined deliverables and a predetermined duration.

The Project Office should be seen as <u>a flexible mechanism to support the</u> <u>implementation of projects in the field</u>.

3.1.2 Terms of Reference

The main purpose of an IOC Project Office shall be to:

- (i) Implement IOC projects;
- (ii) Report on the progress of the implementation of project activities to the Chair of the parent IOC Subsidiary Body, the IOC Executive Secretary, the Programme Office of the Project's Parent Programme (as available), and participating Member States, on a regular basis;
- (iii) Plan and organise meetings, workshops, training courses and other capacity-building activities relevant to the project;
- (iv) Liase and maintain links with relevant IOC programmes and other projects;
- (v) Establish and maintain links with other relevant organisations, institutions and programmes in order to promote co-operation with the Project;
- (vi) Seek partnerships and potential sources of funding to strengthen the Project implementation.

3.1.3 <u>Needs assessment</u>

An IOC Project Office should be established in those cases where the project is of a nature that requires specific technical facilities and/or human resources that are not available at the IOC Secretariat (or cannot easily be transferred to the field) or where implementation can be effected more efficiently or cheaper in the host institution/host country.

IOC-XXII/3 Annex VII - page 2

Accordingly, the needs assessment for an IOC Project Office <u>should demonstrate that technical</u> <u>infrastructures and/or facilities and/or human resources required for the efficient and effective</u> <u>implementation of the Project are not available or available at higher cost, at UNESCO/IOC</u> <u>Headquarters, Paris</u>. Other elements may be the cost of living (per diem) for visiting experts or part-time staff, available space, proximity to academic or other expert communities.

3.1.4 <u>Minimum criteria for the hosting of an IOC Project Office</u>

A Member State that wishes to host an IOC Project Office shall, as a minimum:

- (i) offer the bare use of office space and utilities (and related taxes) (see also 3.1.5), free of charge to the IOC for the duration of the agreement, and <u>for a period not less than 3 (three) years;</u>
- (ii) provide not less than the equivalent of 1 (one) local support staff.

Offers made by Member States shall be compared on a competitive basis, taking into consideration all services and facilities offered.

3.1.5 Funding of an IOC Project Office

• Cost of establishment

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment Responsibility Allocation			Component Elements Payment	Allocation
		IOC (*)	Host country	IOC or host country subject to agreement terms		
Construction/ renovation	Construction works, electrical, heating and plumbing works		X			
Furniture and furnishing	Office furniture, office equipment, end-user wiring, removable lighting, telephones and their wiring,			X		
Relocation/transfer of facilities	Moving equipment, office furnishings, files, etc. from headquarters to the Project Office	X				
Staff transfer costs	Relocating IOC staff to the Project Office	X				
Staff cost	Professional and support staff	X (if applica ble)	X (minimum of the equivalent of one support staff to be provided by the host country.)			

(*) "paid by IOC" indicates that the costs will be paid by the **project** that may be funded under UNESCO Regular Programme funding or through extrabudgetary funding.

• Costs of Operation

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment Responsibility Allocation		
		IOC	Host	IOC or host
		(*)	country	country subject
				to agreement
				terms
Utilities	water, electricity, heating		X	
Taxes	physical facilities		Χ	
Office consumables				Χ
Telecommunication				Χ
and postage				
Office equipment				Χ
maintenance				
Office cleaning and				Χ
maintenance				
Insurance and			Χ	
maintenance of the				
building				
Staff cost		X (if	Χ	
		applica		
		ble)		

(*) "paid by IOC" indicates that the costs will be paid by the **project** that may be funded under UNESCO Regular Programme funding or through extrabudgetary funding.

• Costs of closing

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment Responsibility Allocation		
		IOC	Host	IOC or host
		(*)	country	country subject
				to agreement
				terms
Closing of utility			X	
subscriptions				
Closing of				X
telecommunication				
subscriptions				
Moving costs	moving equipment, office	Χ		
	furnishings, files etc. from the			
	Project Office to headquarters			
Staff transfer costs	relocating IOC staff from the	Χ		
	field to HQ (or other)			

(*) "paid by IOC" indicates that the costs will be paid by the **project** that may be funded under UNESCO Regular Programme funding or through extra-budgetary funding.

Where possible IOC shall give preference to establishing project offices in existing UNESCO field offices, provided that the cost of establishment + cost of operation + cost of closing will be lower than if the IOC office were hosted elsewhere. In this case, the proposal shall evaluate the full cost of UNESCO field office hosting the Project Office.

Preference shall be given to hosts that are able and willing to cover the full cost of the project office operation (costs of operation).

IOC-XXII/3 Annex VII - page 4

Professional staff cost may be covered by the host country through provision of relevant experts on a permanent or temporary basis. Easy access to interns with relevant technical/professional expertise shall also be encouraged.

Alternatively IOC may choose to temporarily "relocate" existing UNESCO posts to the established Project Office.

3.1.6 <u>Approval requirements</u>

The request/proposal for the establishment of an IOC Project Office shall be <u>submitted by an</u> <u>IOC Primary Subsidiary Body</u> (such as a Technical Committee or Regional Committee) to the IOC Executive Secretary.

The establishment of an IOC Project Office requires formal approval by an IOC Governing Body through a Resolution. The IOC Governing Body shall be provided with a detailed document that includes the needs assessment and a detailed estimation of cost (covering the duration of the agreement), as well as a draft host agreement.

The IOC Primary Subsidiary Body that proposed the establishment of an IOC Project Office may also recommend the continuation of such an Office after the expiry of the agreement. Such renewal can be requested ONLY after an independent performance evaluation of the Project Office has been conducted with a positive result. (see 3.1.9)

The approval process for renewal will be the same as for the initial establishment of the Project Office.

3.1.7 <u>Responsibility and reporting hierarchy</u>

An IOC Project Office shall be managed by an IOC Project Office Manager who can be an IOC Staff Member (permanent/temporary position, or ALD—appointment of limited duration) or an IOC Consultant. When appointing the IOC Project Office Manager, the intergovernmental nature of the IOC and rules of geographic distribution of UNESCO should be taken into consideration.

The IOC Project Office Manager shall report to the Head of Section of the Section under which the Project is implemented and will be under the authority of the IOC Executive Secretary.

3.1.8 Formal agreements with hosts

An IOC Project Office will be hosted by an IOC Member State and will be the subject of a host agreement between the IOC and the IOC Member State. The host agreement will include a sunset clause specifying that the Project Office shall be closed upon completion of the Project. Nevertheless, it may be decided to renew the agreement based upon the renewal of the Project (see 3.1.6)

3.1.9 <u>Performance evaluation</u>

The independent performance evaluation of an IOC Project Office will be managed by the related Head of Section, in consultation with the host country, and approved by the Primary or, where applicable, Secondary Subsidiary Body that oversees the project. (see also 3.1.6)

The IOC Executive Secretary shall include a short assessment of a Project Office through the statutory report on implementation of the respective Resolution.

3.2 IOC Programme Office

3.2.1 <u>Definition</u>

An IOC Programme Office shall be established to assist in the implementation of an IOC Programme. A programme is defined as an activity with a long-term strategy and objectives (as detailed in a UNESCO C/5 Main Line of Action). A Programme Office will mainly be tasked with the decentralised management of a Programme, and can be established to assist with the regional implementation of the Programme.

3.2.2 <u>Terms of Reference</u>

The main purpose of an IOC Programme Office shall be to:

- (i) Serve as decentralised Technical Secretariat for the programme and oversee its implementation;
- (ii) Co-ordinate and supervise the activities of associated Project Offices, in close consultation with the Programme's Parent Body (IOC Primary Subsidiary Body), its Chair, the corresponding Heads of Section, and the IOC Executive Secretary;
- (iii) Report on the progress of the Programme to the Chair of the Parent IOC Subsidiary Body, the IOC Executive Secretary and participating Member States, on a regular basis;
- (iv) Organise major scientific/technical conferences related to the Programme, including meetings of its Parent Body, as defined in the Programme Work Plan;
- (v) Assist in the definition, co-ordination and implementation of the Programme's capacity-building strategies, as adopted by the Parent IOC Primary Subsidiary Body and IOC Governing Bodies;
- (vi) Liase and maintain links with relevant IOC programmes and other projects;
- (vii) Establish and maintain links with other relevant organisations, institutions and programmes in order to promote co-operation with the Programme;
- (viii) Seek partnerships and potential sources of funding to strengthen Programme implementation.

3.2.3 <u>Needs assessment</u>

An IOC Programme Office should be established in those cases where the Programme is of a nature that would benefit from having a decentralised management, or where implementation can be effected more efficiently in a host institution or host country.

In the case of the establishment of an IOC Programme Office, the availability of local staff is more pronounced than in the case of a Project Office, with special reference to scientific experts (professional staff). A Programme Office is especially appropriate for programmes that require highly skilled scientific/technical staff and facilities. An IOC Programme Office should preferably be established in (or be closely associated with) an existing research or related scientific/technical facility in a Member State or in a UN or intergovernmental partner organisation.

3.2.4 Minimum criteria for the hosting of an IOC Programme Office

A Member State that wishes to host an IOC Programme Office shall, as a minimum:

- (i) Offer the bare use of office space and utilities (and related taxes) (see also 3.2.5), free of charge to the IOC for the duration of the agreement, and <u>for a period not less than 3 (three) years;</u>
- (ii) Provide not less than 1 (one) local support staff (secretary level);
- (iii) Provide not less than 1 (one) professional (scientific/technical) staff;
- (iv) Offer the use of required scientific and/or technical facilities (as required by the Programme and detailed in the agreement).

Offers made by Member States shall be compared on a competitive basis, taking into consideration all services and facilities offered. Offers made by UN or intergovernmental partner organisations will have priority.

3.2.5 Funding of an IOC Programme Office

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment Responsibility Allocation		
		IOC (*)	Host country	IOC or host country subject to agreement terms
Construction/renovati on	Construction works, electrical, heating and plumbing works		X	
Furniture and furnishing	Office furniture, office equipment, end-user wiring, removable lighting, telephones and their wiring,			X
Relocation/transfer of facilities	Moving equipment, office furnishings, files, etc. from headquarters to the Programme Office	X		
Staff transfer costs	Relocating IOC staff to the Programme Office	X		
Staff cost	Professional and support staff	X (if applica ble)	X (minimum of one support staff [secretary level] and one professional [scientific/techn ical] to be provided by the host country)	
Specialised scientific/technical			X	
equipment				

• Cost of establishment

(*) "paid by IOC" indicates that the costs will be paid by the **programme** that may be funded under UNESCO Regular Programme funding or through extra-budgetary funding.

• Cost of operation

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment Responsibility Allocation		
		IOC	Host	IOC or host
		(*)	country	country subject
				to agreement
				terms
Utilities	Water, electricity, heating		Χ	
Taxes	Physical facilities		X	
Office consumables				Χ
Telecommunication				Χ
and postage				
Office equipment				Χ
maintenance				
Office cleaning and				X
maintenance				
Insurance and			X	
maintenance of the				
"building"				
Staff cost		X (if	X	
		applica		
		ble)		

(*) "paid by IOC" indicates that the costs will be paid by the **programme** that may be funded under UNESCO Regular Programme funding or through extra-budgetary funding.

• Costs of closing

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment Responsibility Allocation			Payment Responsibility Al	
		IOC	Host	IOC or host		
		(*)	country	country subject		
				to agreement		
				terms		
Closing of utility			Χ			
subscriptions						
Closing of				Χ		
telecommunication						
subscriptions						
Moving costs	Moving equipment, office	Χ				
	furnishings, files, etc. from					
	the Programme Office to					
	headquarters					
Staff transfer costs	Relocating IOC staff from the	Χ				
	field to HQ (or other)					

(*) "paid by IOC" indicates that the costs will be paid by the **programme** that may be funded under UNESCO Regular Programme funding or through extra-budgetary funding.

Preference shall be given to hosts that are able and willing to cover the full cost of the programme office operation (costs of operation).

Professional staff cost will be shared by the host country/organisation through provision of relevant experts on a permanent or temporary basis. Easy access to interns and students with relevant technical/professional expertise will also be included here.

Alternatively IOC may choose to relocate existing UNESCO posts to the established Programme Office.

3.2.6 Approval requirements

The request/proposal for the establishment of an IOC Programme Office shall be <u>submitted by</u> <u>an IOC Primary Subsidiary Body</u> (such as a Technical Committee or Regional Committee) to the IOC Executive Secretary.

The establishment of an IOC Programme Office requires formal approval by an IOC Governing Body through a Resolution. The IOC Governing Body shall be provided with a detailed document that includes the needs assessment and a detailed estimation of cost (covering the duration of the agreement), as well as a draft host agreement.

The IOC Primary Subsidiary Body that proposed the establishment of an IOC Programme Office may also recommend the continuation of such an Office after the expiry of the agreement. Such renewal can be requested ONLY after an independent performance evaluation of the Programme Office has been conducted with a positive result. (see 3.2.9)

The approval process for renewal will be the same as for the initial establishment of the Programme Office.

3.2.7 <u>Responsibility and reporting hierarchy</u>

<u>An IOC Programme Office shall be managed by an IOC Staff Member</u> (permanent/temporary position or appointment of limited duration). When appointing the IOC Programme Office Manager, the intergovernmental nature of the IOC and rules of geographic distribution of UNESCO (para. 24.1 of IOC Rules of Procedure) should be taken into consideration.

The IOC Programme Office Manager shall report to the Head of the Section under which the Programme is implemented and will be under the authority of the IOC Executive Secretary.

3.2.8 Formal agreements with hosts

An IOC Programme Office will be hosted by an IOC Member State or by a UN or an intergovernmental partner organisation and will be the subject of a host agreement between the IOC and the host. The agreement will have a specified duration but will be automatically renewed unless the two parties decide otherwise.

3.2.9 <u>Performance evaluation</u>

The independent evaluation of an IOC Programme Office will be managed by the Head of Section of the Section related to the implementation of the Programme, in consultation with the host country, and approved by the Primary Subsidiary Body that established it. The IOC Executive Secretary shall include a short assessment of the Programme Office through the statutory report on implementation of the related Resolution.

3.3 IOC Regional Office

3.3.1 <u>Definition</u>

An IOC Regional Office shall be established to assist in the implementation of IOC Programme activities within a specific geographic region.

3.3.2 Terms of Reference

The main purpose of an IOC Regional Office shall be to assist with the implementation of all the Programmes of IOC in a regional context. It will therefore have Terms of Reference similar to those of a Programme Office but serve as a Technical Secretariat for a Regional Subsidiary Body. As such it shall:

- (i) Serve as the Technical Secretariat for the regional programme and oversee its implementation by co-ordinating regional components of the global programmes and activities of the IOC;
- (ii) Promote the development and use, at the regional level, of ocean services and related supporting activities, co-ordinated or maintained by IOC;
- (iii) Facilitate the exchange of scientific data and information and the transfer of knowledge resulting from marine scientific research, especially to developing countries in the region;
- (iv) Assist with the identification of Training, Education and Mutual Assistance (TEMA) needs in the region, especially those related to the programmes of the corresponding Sub-Commission, when appropriate, and promote the required TEMA activities;
- (v) Report on the progress of the Programme to the Chair of the IOC Regional Subsidiary Body, the IOC Executive Secretary and participating Member States, on a regular basis;
- (vi) Organise major scientific/technical conferences related to the Programme, including meetings of the corresponding Sub-Commission, as defined in the Programme Work Plan;
- (vii) Liase and maintain links with all IOC programmes and relevant IOC projects;
- (viii) Establish and maintain links with other relevant organisations, institutions and programmes in order to promote co-operation with the Programme;
- (ix) Seek partnerships and potential sources of funding to strengthen Programme implementation.

3.3.3 <u>Needs assessment</u>

An IOC Regional Office should be established in those cases where activities in a region have reached a level where effective implementation can no longer be ensured fully by the IOC Secretariat in Paris but requires decentralised management and additional assistance in the region.

3.3.4 <u>Minimum criteria for the hosting of an IOC Regional Office</u>

A Member State that wishes to host an IOC Regional Office shall offer, free of charge to IOC,
- (i) office space and related infrastructures and facilities (office furniture, telephone equipment, photocopying facilities);
- (ii) utilities (electricity, heating, water);
- (iii) supporting staff (number determined on the basis of need and negotiation).

Operational costs and staff costs will be covered by IOC or other sources, unless otherwise specified in the agreement.

3.3.5 Funding of an IOC Regional Office

• Cost of establishment

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment	t Responsibili	ty Allocation
		IOC	Host	IOC or host
			country	country subject
				to agreement
				terms
Construction/	Construction works,		Χ	
renovation	electrical, heating and			
	plumbing works			
Furniture and	Office furniture, office			X
furnishing	equipment, end-user wiring,			
	removable lighting,			
	telephones and their wiring,			
Relocation/transfer of	Moving equipment, office	Χ		
facilities	furnishings, files, etc. from			
	headquarters to the Regional			
	Office			
Staff transfer costs	Relocating IOC staff to the	Χ		
	Regional Office			
Staff cost	Professional and support	X (if	X	
	staff	applicable)		

• Cost of operation

Costs Component	Component Elements	Paymen	Payment Responsibility Allocation		
		IOC	Host	IOC or host	
			country	country subject	
				to agreement	
				terms	
Utilities	Water, electricity, heating		Χ		
Taxes	Physical facilities		Χ		
Office consumables				Χ	
Telecommunication				Χ	
and postage					
Office equipment				Χ	
maintenance					
Office cleaning and				Χ	
maintenance					
Insurance and			X		
maintenance of the					
"building"					
Staff cost		X (if	X		
		applicable)			

• Costs of closing

Costs Component	Component Elements	Payment Responsibility Allocation		
		IOC	Host	IOC or host
			country	country subject
				to agreement
				terms
Closing of utility subscriptions			X	
Closing of				X
telecommunication subscriptions				
Moving costs	Moving equipment, office	Χ		
	furnishings, files etc. from the			
	Regional Office to			
	headquarters			
Staff transfer costs	Relocating IOC staff from the	X (if		
	field to HQ (or other)	applica		
		ble)		

<u>Preference shall be given to hosts that are able and willing to cover the full cost of the Regional</u> <u>Office operation (costs of operation).</u>

Professional staff cost will be paid or shared by the host country/organisation through provision of relevant experts on a permanent or temporary basis. Easy access to interns and students with relevant technical/professional expertise will also be included here.

Alternatively IOC may choose to relocate existing UNESCO posts to the established Regional Office.

3.3.6 <u>Approval requirements</u>

The proposal for the establishment of an IOC Regional Office will be submitted by an IOC Regional Subsidiary Body (Regional Committee or Sub-Commission) to an IOC Governing Body through a Resolution. Approval for the establishment will be required from an IOC Governing Body. The IOC Governing Body will take into consideration para. 5.2 of the IOC Manual (doc. IOC/INF-785) that relates to the establishment of Sub-Commissions. Along those lines a Sub-Commission shall be established when:

- (i) an existing Regional Subsidiary Body of the Commission has formally requested the Assembly to designate it as a regional Sub-Commission;
- (ii) the budget and secretariat required for the effective functioning of the proposed regional Sub-Commission will be made available;
- (iii) the Member States of the region for which a regional Sub-Commission is proposed are already actively engaged in co-operative activities or have demonstrated their commitment to do so.

Under the same article it is stated that Secretariat support for a regional Sub-Commission shall be provided by the IOC Secretariat (headquarters staff and staff outposted in the region), and by Member States. The outposted IOC staff providing secretariat services to a regional Sub-Commission shall be located in an appropriate office of UNESCO or of any organisation of the United Nations system in the region of the regional Sub-Commission, or elsewhere in a Member

State of the region, provided that such a State offers facilities considered adequate by the regional Sub-Commission and approved by a Governing Body of the Commission.

3.3.7 <u>Responsibility and reporting hierarchy</u>

<u>An IOC Regional Office shall be managed by an IOC Staff Member</u> (permanent/temporary position or appointment of limited duration). The IOC Regional Office Manager shall report to the IOC Executive Secretary. When appointing the IOC Regional Office Manager, the intergovernmental nature of the IOC and rules of geographic distribution of UNESCO should be taken into consideration.

3.3.8 Formal agreements with hosts

An IOC Regional Office will be hosted by an IOC Member State and will be the subject of a host country agreement between the IOC and the IOC Member State, or be covered under an existing agreement between UNESCO and the host country. The specific agreement will have a specified duration but will be automatically renewed unless the two parties decide otherwise.

3.3.9 Performance evaluation

The independent performance evaluation of an IOC Regional Office will be managed by the IOC Executive Secretary, in consultation with the host country, endorsed by the Regional Subsidiary Body that established it and approved by one of the IOC Governing Bodies.

ANNEX VIII

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN WMO AND IOC REGARDING REGULATORY AND PROCEDURAL ASPECTS OF THE CONDUCT OF THE JOINT WMO–IOC TECHNICAL COMMISSION FOR OCEANOGRAPHY AND MARINE METEOROLOGY (JCOMM)

The Secretary-General of the World Meteorological Organisation (WMO) and the Executive Secretary of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC) of UNESCO,

<u>Recalling</u> the establishment in 1999 of the Joint WMO–IOC Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM), through Resolutions 14 (Cg-XIII) and XX-12 of the World Meteorological Congress and the IOC Assembly, respectively,

<u>Recalling further</u> the considerations that led to the establishment of JCOMM, namely:

- (1) The need for a fully co-ordinated mechanism for implementing the requirements for ocean and surface marine meteorological data in support of GOOS and GCOS,
- (2) The expanding requirements of all marine users for a comprehensive range of marine meteorological data and products,
- (3) The need to co-ordinate and manage better the existing range of marine-related activities of WMO and IOC, to reduce duplication and overlap, enhance efficiencies and reduce costs to both Organisations,
- (4) The potential benefits to be gained from making better use of the diverse and extensive range of expertise and facilities available to both WMO and IOC at all levels,
- (5) The expected cost savings from a rationalisation of existing marine-related bodies and activities, and from joint support of marine programme activities by WMO and IOC.

Noting the great success of the first session of JCOMM (Akureyri, Iceland, 19–29 June 2001) which, by formal agreement of the Executive Councils of WMO and IOC, was organised and funded by WMO and was conducted entirely according to WMO rules and procedures for sessions of technical commissions,

<u>Recognising</u> that, as a major intergovernmental technical subsidiary body of both WMO and IOC, the work of JCOMM, including sessions of the Commission, should be undertaken in conformity with the relevant rules and procedures of both Organisations pertaining to such bodies,

<u>Recognising</u> further that, in view of the fully joint nature of JCOMM, a single set of mutually agreed rules and procedures should apply to the work of the Commission,

Have agreed as follows:

(Notes: (i) Regulations of the WMO General Regulations and Rules of the IOC Rules of Procedure are referred to hereafter as "Regulation(s)" and "Rule(s)" respectively.

(ii) The text below in small font and square brackets contains an analysis of those sections of the Regulations and Rules which contain apparent inconsistencies or require clarification. The substance of the agreements relating to these sections is given in the preceding numbered paragraphs.)

SESSIONS OF JCOMM

Place of session

1. It is agreed that the procedure for accepting an invitation to host a session of JCOMM should be as laid down in Regulation 17 and its Annex, irrespective of which Organisation has the lead role for the preparation of the session.

[If a session of JCOMM is not held in the Headquarters of WMO or IOC, Regulation 17 and its Annex lay down the procedure for accepting the invitation to hold a session of a WMO technical commission. Such a procedure will be applied if WMO is the lead Organisation for the preparation of a session of JCOMM. This is not in contradiction with the equivalent UNESCO rules (see Article 24 of the "Regulations for the general classification of the various categories of meetings convened by UNESCO", in "Basic Texts" of UNESCO)]

Credentials of the delegations to sessions of JCOMM

2. It is agreed that the Secretary-General of WMO and the Executive Secretary IOC should jointly consult Members/Member States, to request them to designate an appropriate national authority for authorising the credentials of all experts from such Members/Member States in JCOMM sessions, and for designating the head of delegation. Regulation 20 is then sufficient to also cover IOC credential procedures.

3. It is further agreed that, during the sessions of JCOMM, experts nominated by each Member of WMO/Member State of IOC together shall constitute a single national delegation, with a single head of delegation.

[During the sessions of JCOMM, experts nominated by each Member of WMO/Member State of IOC together shall constitute a single national delegation.

Regulation 190 stipulates that each session of a technical commission shall consider a report on credentials on the basis of Regulations 20 and 21. For this purpose, WMO Members have designated those who are authorised to sign the credentials of their delegations to sessions of the WMO technical commissions.

JCOMM membership differs from that of other WMO technical commissions, as it includes members drawn from both the meteorological and oceanographic agencies representing their Governments in WMO and IOC respectively. However, IOC does not have an equivalent Rule or procedure for formalising credentials. In any case, it would appear preferable that there be only one authority in each Member/Member State designated to sign the credentials for the whole delegation from that Member/Member State to sessions of JCOMM.]

Quorum at sessions of JCOMM

4. It is agreed that the quorum at JCOMM sessions will be defined in accordance with WMO Regulations 193 and 194, taking into consideration paragraph 7 below concerning voting rights. In addition, it is recognised that Members/Member States without experts at a session may formally designate an expert from another Member/Member State to represent them by proxy, for the purposes of voting. No individual person shall have more than one vote in sessions of JCOMM.

[IOC Rule 37(1) stipulates that a simple majority of the members of the Executive Committee and of committees and subsidiary or other bodies shall constitute a quorum for meetings of these bodies.

For WMO technical commissions, Regulation 193 stipulates that the quorum for a meeting of the Commission shall be a majority of the Members with voting rights represented at that time at that session, provided this majority shall not be less than one-third of Members with voting rights which

have designated experts to represent them permanently in the Commission. Regulation 194 provides the procedures to be followed if the quorum is not obtained.]

Languages at sessions of JCOMM

5. It is agreed that the obligation of WMO to apply its Regulation 120 in sessions of JCOMM shall be maintained, namely that the official languages for sessions of JCOMM shall be Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish. At the same time, to allow conformity also with IOC Rule 33, it is further agreed that WMO will be solely responsible for providing the documentation and interpretation services for Arabic and Chinese for all sessions of JCOMM, irrespective of which Secretariat has primary responsibility for the preparation and conduct of the session. This agreement will only apply, however, while the official languages of IOC remain as presently defined in Rule 33, namely English, French, Russian and Spanish. The addition of Arabic and/or Chinese to the official languages of IOC will immediately confer an obligation on IOC to provide for appropriate services also in the additional language(s), specifically at those sessions of JCOMM for which IOC has primary responsibility.

[WMO Regulation 120 stipulates that the six official and working languages of WMO, namely Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish, shall be used in the WMO technical commissions and their committees.

On the other hand, IOC Rule 33(1) stipulates that the official languages of IOC shall be English, French, Russian and Spanish. Further, IOC Rule 33(4) confines the use of the official languages of the IOC committees, subsidiary or other bodies, to the appropriate working languages according to the needs of the representatives of Member States at the meeting.]

Conduct of business in sessions of JCOMM

6. It is recognised that voting on procedural matters other than for the election of officers is extremely rare. Therefore an invocation of Regulation 60 is unlikely to arise in practice at sessions of JCOMM. However, in the event that it is invoked, it is agreed that the provisions of Regulations 60 to 62 will be applied to JCOMM, since they do not conflict with any of the IOC Rules.

[There are no major differences for the conduct of business for JCOMM as provided for in WMO Regulations and IOC Rules.

The main difference between the WMO and IOC procedures for voting is that while Regulations 60, 61 and 62 provide for the process of voting by secret ballot if so demanded by two or more delegations, IOC Rule 45 does not provide for such a process. Voting by secret ballot is only provided for election by virtue of Rule 42(1).]

Voting rights at sessions of JCOMM

7. It is agreed that any Member/Member State with voting and related rights and privileges within either WMO or IOC shall be able to exercise these within the context of JCOMM only, as a joint body of both Organisations.

[This agreement is designed to ensure that there is no misunderstanding or conflict regarding voting and related rights. A major difference between the WMO procedures for voting and election during sessions of constituent bodies and those of IOC arises through the application of WMO Resolution 37 (Cg-XI) — Suspension of Members for failure to meet financial obligations, which states that:

- (a) Members who through non-payment of their contributions are in arrears for more than two consecutive calendar years shall not be entitled to vote in sessions of the WMO constituent bodies including the technical commissions;
- (b) That nationals or representatives of a Member in arrears as indicated in (a) above shall not be eligible for nomination or renomination for elected offices of WMO constituent bodies including the technical commissions.

It is recognised that this is a complicated issue, as some IOC Member States are not Member States of UNESCO, and therefore do not contribute to the UNESCO regular budget. They pay contributions to IOC on a "voluntary" basis, into the IOC Trust Fund. Also, there may be Member States that are paid up to UNESCO/IOC but not to WMO, or vice versa. In this case, it is quite likely that some Members/Member States will fall into different voting rights categories in WMO and IOC, making this Congress resolution difficult to apply consistently. At the same time, however, it is logical to consider that a Member/Member State with voting rights under either WMO or IOC rules should therefore be eligible to vote and exercise all other relevant rights, within the context of JCOMM alone, as a joint body of both Organisations.]

VOTING, ELECTION AND CONSULTATION BY CORRESPONDENCE

8. It is agreed that the procedures detailed in Regulations 65 to 78 and 90 to 93 should apply to JCOMM, since these do not conflict with anything in the IOC Rules. It is further agreed that the Secretary-General of WMO and the Executive Secretary IOC will jointly approach Members/Member States, with a view to having a single national authority designated for the purposes of voting by correspondence for JCOMM. This approach should be conducted together with that agreed in paragraph 2 above.

[While the WMO General Regulations provide detailed procedures for voting and election by correspondence in Regulations 65 to 78 and Regulations 90 to 93, respectively, there are no provisions for such procedures in the IOC Statutes and Rules of Procedure.

The only procedure for consulting IOC Member States by correspondence occurs for the IOC Executive Council in Rule 23, whereby the Council or its chairman are authorised to consult Member States by correspondence on substantial matters prior to taking action, and may establish a reasonable time-limit for the replies. There are no detailed provisions for this procedure.

By virtue of IOC Rule 25, a Committee, subsidiary or other bodies shall, whenever possible, carry out their work by correspondence.]

DOCUMENTATION

9. It is agreed that the documentation style for JCOMM sessions should be largely consistent with that for sessions of other WMO constituent bodies. This style will apply irrespective of which Organisation has primary responsibility for preparing the session.

[Although this does not strictly concern the regulations, there is nevertheless a difference in the documentation styles used by WMO and IOC for meetings of technical commissions or equivalent. For JCOMM-I, WMO used the style adopted for Congress and the Executive Council, with a few exceptions. The IOC style (for its Executive Council, Assembly and Committees) at present does not include any draft text for the final report in pre-session documentation. However, IOC has begun to introduce such draft text for sessions of its Executive Council and Assembly. It is important that a common style be adopted for all formal JCOMM sessions.]

[MEMBERSHIP OF JCOMM

During the discussions preceding the approval of JCOMM at the IOC Assembly in 1999, it was agreed that JCOMM would be a partnership, with 50 per cent of its members from meteorology and 50 per cent from oceanography (final report of the Assembly, paragraph 32).

Article 19(b) of the WMO Convention stipulates that all the Members of the Organisation (States and Territories) have the right to be represented on the technical commissions. Regulation 182 gives the right to WMO Members to designate such number of experts to serve on a technical commission as it deems necessary.

It is, therefore, not appropriate to impose on WMO Members/IOC Member States the designation of limited numbers of experts for JCOMM to meet the concept of partnership referred to in paragraph 1, above.

It is agreed that this does not represent a problem for JCOMM, and in any case does not require consideration of a possible change to WMO regulations. If any imbalance in JCOMM members develops over time, in either sense, it will be addressed by encouraging more members from the other discipline, and not by restricting the membership of either meteorologists or oceanographers.]

[PRESIDENCY AND VICE-PRESIDENCY OF JCOMM

Thirteenth WMO Congress decided that there should be two co-presidents of JCOMM who should be drawn one from the oceanic and one from meteorological sciences. This principle was endorsed by the twentieth session of the IOC Assembly. (*Abridged Final Report with Resolutions of the Thirteenth World Meteorological Congress* (WMO-No. 902) general summary paragraph 3.4.4.5 and *Report of the Assembly*, paragraph 32).

By virtue of Regulations 11, 12, 184 and 190(11), each WMO technical commission shall elect a president and vice-president of the Commission whose term of office shall be from the end of an ordinary session to the end of the succeeding ordinary session of the Commission. They will be eligible for re-election at the end of this term of office.

No mention was made of a vice-president in the decisions or proceedings of the WMO Thirteenth Congress or of the twentieth session of the IOC Assembly referred to above. As there are two co-presidents of JCOMM, it is unclear, from a WMO standpoint, whether or not there should also be two co-vice-presidents of the Commission, who would be drawn equally from the oceanic and meteorological sciences. Such an uncertainly does not arise for IOC.

This uncertainty was resolved by the fifty-second session of the WMO Executive Council, which "...agreed that (the decision of Congress) should be interpreted as meaning that, for JCOMM as a technical commission sponsored jointly by another international organisation, the two co-presidents were the equivalent of the normal president and vice-president as officers of a technical commission." (See the Abridged Final Report with Resolutions of the Fifty-second Session of the Executive Council (WMO-No. 915), general summary paragraph 6.4.5.) In addition, JCOMM, at its first session (Akureyri, June 2001), ".... agreed that, in order to avoid confusion regarding management responsibilities, the meteorology co-president should assume primary authority for guiding the work of JCOMM during the first two years of the intersessional period, and the oceanography co-president during the second two years." It is thus agreed that this matter no longer represents a difficulty for JCOMM.]

ANNEX IX

A -- LIST OF MEMBER STATES OF THE IOC EXECUTIVES COUNCIL

Chairperson	:	Dr David T. Pugh (United Kingdom)	Group I
Vice-chairpersons	:	Professor Mário Ruivo (Portugal)	Group I
		Dr Alexander V. Frolov (Russian Federation)	Group II
		C. de N. Javier A. Valladares (Argentina)	Group III
		Dr K. Radhakrishnan (India)	Group IV
		Professor Amor El Abed (Tunisia)	Group V

Other members of the Executive Council

Electoral group I:	Belgium France Spain	Canada Germany Turkey	Finland Italy USA
Electoral group II:	Ukraine		
Electoral group III	Brazil Cuba Mexico	Chile Ecuador Peru	Colombia Jamaica
Electoral group IV:	Australia Iran (Islamic Rep. of) Philippines	China Japan Rep. of Korea	Indonesia Malaysia
Electoral group V:	Algeria Kenya South Africa	Egypt Nigeria Unit. Rep. of Tanzania	Gabon Senegal

B -- MEMBER STATES OF THE COMMISSION (129)

(as of 30 June 2003)

1001)

	AFGHANISTAN	(11 March
	ALBANIA	
*		(26 January
Ŧ	ALGERIA	(Jul. 1964/N
	ANGOLA	(26 October
*	ARGENTINA	(Before Nov
	AUSTRALIA	(Before Nov
	AUSTRIA	(Oct. 1962/J
	AZERBAIJAN	(27 January
	BAHAMAS	(29 January
	BANGLADESH	(29 October
	BARBADOS	
		(18 Decemb
*	BELGIUM	(Before Nov
	BELIZE	(22 Septemb
	BENIN	(23 October
-		
Ŧ	BRAZIL	(Before Nov
	BULGARIA	(Oct. 1967/I
	CAMEROON	(Nov. 1971/
*	CANADA	(Before Nov
	CAPE VERDE	
		(20 August
ж	CHILE	(Before Nov
*	CHINA	(Before Nov
	COLOMBIA	(Oct. 1967/I
	COMOROS	
		(08 Februar
	CONGO	(Nov. 1961/
	COSTA RICA	(28 Februar
	CÔTE D'IVOIRE	(Before Nov
	CROATIA	(24 Decemb
		·
Ŧ	CUBA	(Before Nov
	CYPRUS	(05 Decemb
	DEMOCRATIC PEOPLE'S	
	REPUBLIC OF KOREA	(31 October
	DENMARK	(Before Nov
	DOMINICA	(21 Septemb
	DOMINICAN REPUBLIC	(Before Nov
*	ECUADOR	(Before Nov
	EGYPT	(Oct. 1969/I
	EL SALVADOR	(16 Februar
	ERITREA	(12 Novemb
	ESTONIA	(10 March
	ETHIOPIA	(05 March
	FIJI	(09 July
*	FINLAND	(Before Nov
*	FRANCE	(Before Nov
*	GABON	(26 October
	GAMBIA	(30 August
		· U
	GEORGIA	(09 July
*	GERMANY	(Before Nov
	GHANA	(Before Nov
	GREECE	(Oct. 1962/J
	GUATEMALA	(Dec. 1965/
	GUINEA	(01 May
	GUINEA-BISSAU	(26 January
	GUYANA	(20 July
	HAITI	(23 March
	ICELAND	(Oct. 1962/J
*	INDIA	(Before Nov
*	INDONESIA	(Oct. 1962/J
		(000.1)02/3
- 4*	IRAN, Islamic	(02.3
	Republic of	(03 June
	IRAQ	(Oct. 1969/1
	IRELAND	(07 Novemb
	ISRAEL	
		(Before Nov
	ITALY	(Before Nov
*	JAMAICA	(Oct. 1967/I
*	JAPAN	(Before Nov
	JORDAN	(06 April
*		· •
- 4*	KENYA	(Nov. 1971/
	KUWAIT	(13 Novemb
		(

1 March	
	1991)
6 January	1993)
al. 1964/Nov.	1965)
6 October	1982)
efore November	1961)
efore November	1961)
ct. 1962/Jun.	1964)
7 January	1998)
	,
9 January	1979)
9 October	1982)
8 December	1985)
efore November	1961)
2 September	1995)
3 October	1986)
efore November	1961)
ct. 1967/Dec.	1969)
ov. 1971/Nov.	1973)
efore November	1961)
0 August	1984)
efore November	1961)
efore November	1961)
ct. 1967/Dec.	
	1969)
8 February	2000)
ov. 1961/Sep.	1962)
8 February	1975)
efore November	1961)
4 December	1992)
efore November	1961)
5 December	1977)
	,
1 October	1978)
efore November	1961)
1 September	
-	1999)
efore November	1961)
efore November	1961)
ct. 1969/Nov.	1971)
6 February	1993)
2 November	1993)
0 March	1992)
5 March	1976)
9 July	1974)
efore November	1961)
efore November	1961)
	,
6 October	1977)
6 October 0 August	1977) 1985)
6 October 0 August 9 July	1977) 1985) 1993)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November oct. 1962/Jun.	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November ht. 1962/Jun. hec. 1965/Oct.	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1967)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November lot. 1962/Jun. lec. 1965/Oct. 1 May	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1967) 1982)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November lot. 1962/Jun. loc. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1967)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November hot. 1962/Jun. lec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1967) 1982)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November hot. 1962/Jun. lec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November hot. 1962/Jun. lec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984) 1977)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November hot. 1962/Jun. lec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March hot. 1962/Jun.	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November efore November oct. 1962/Jun. ec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March oct. 1962/Jun. efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November efore November oct. 1962/Jun. ec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March oct. 1962/Jun. efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1961)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November efore November oct. 1962/Jun. 6 January 0 July 3 March oct. 1962/Jun. efore November oct. 1962/Jun.	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1982) 1982) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1964)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November ct. 1962/Jun. lec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March lect. 1962/Jun. efore November lefore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1982) 1982) 1982) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1961) 1964)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November ct. 1962/Jun. lec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March lct. 1962/Jun. efore November lct. 1962/Jun. 3 June lct. 1969/Nov.	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1975) 1971)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November vct. 1962/Jun. loc. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March loct. 1962/Jun. efore November loct. 1962/Jun. 3 June loct. 1969/Nov. 7 November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1965) 1975) 1971) 1978)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November ict. 1962/Jun. icc. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March ict. 1962/Jun. efore November ict. 1962/Jun. 3 June ict. 1969/Nov. 7 November efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1975) 1971) 1978) 1978) 1971)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November ect. 1962/Jun. loc. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March loc. 1962/Jun. efore November loc. 1962/Jun. 3 June loc. 1969/Nov. 7 November efore November efore November efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1975) 1975) 1977) 1978) 1978) 1971) 1978)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November efore November vct. 1962/Jun. vcc. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March vct. 1962/Jun. efore November vct. 1969/Nov. 7 November efore November efore November efore November efore November efore November efore November efore November efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1976) 1964) 1964) 1975) 1975) 1971) 1978) 1961) 1978) 1961) 1969)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November efore November loc. 1962/Jun. loc. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March loc. 1962/Jun. efore November loc. 1969/Nov. 7 November efore November efore November efore November efore November efore November efore November efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1961) 1964) 1967) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1975) 1975) 1975) 1975) 1971) 1976) 1961) 1961)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November vol. 1962/Jun. vec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March vec. 1962/Jun. efore November vec. 1969/Nov. 7 November efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1975) 1976) 1975) 1971) 1975) 1971) 1976) 1961) 1969) 1961) 1975)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November efore November vct. 1962/Jun. vct. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March vct. 1962/Jun. efore November efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1977) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1975) 1976) 1964) 1975) 1971) 1975) 1971) 1961) 1969) 1961) 1975) 1973)
6 October 0 August 9 July efore November efore November efore November oct. 1962/Jun. ec. 1965/Oct. 1 May 6 January 0 July 3 March oct. 1962/Jun. efore November	1977) 1985) 1993) 1961) 1964) 1964) 1964) 1982) 1984) 1977) 1976) 1964) 1975) 1976) 1975) 1971) 1975) 1971) 1976) 1961) 1969) 1961) 1975)

LEBANON	(Oct. 1962/Jun.	1964)
LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA	(11 March	1974)
MADAGASCAR	(Dec. 1965/Oct.	1967)
* MALAYSIA	(Jul. 1964/Nov.	1965)
MALDIVES	(20 May	1987)
MALTA	(Oct. 1969/Nov.	1971)
MAURITANIA	(Before November	1961)
	•	
MAURITIUS	(Oct. 1969/Nov.	1971)
* MEXICO	(Before November	1961)
MONACO	(Before November	1961)
MOROCCO	(Before November	1961)
MOZAMBIQUE	(08 April	1981)
MYANMAR	(07 June	1988)
NAMIBIA	(25 April	2001)
NETHERLANDS	(Before November	
	X	1961)
NEW ZEALAND	(Nov. 1961/Sep.	1962)
NICARAGUA	(17 November	1977)
* NIGERIA	(Nov. 1971/Nov.	1973)
NORWAY	(Before November	1961)
OMAN	(16 November	1982)
PAKISTAN	(Before November	1961)
PANAMA	(Oct. 1967/Sep.	1969)
* PERU	(Dec. 1965/Oct.	
	X	1967)
* PHILIPPINES	(Oct. 62/Jun.	1964)
POLAND	(Before November	1961)
* PORTUGAL	(Oct. 1969/Nov.	1971)
QATAR	(20 July	1976)
* REPUBLIC OF KOREA	(Before November	1961)
ROMANIA	(Before November	1961)
* RUSSIAN FEDERATION	(Before Nov.	1961)
	(14 September	
SAINT LUCIA		1992)
SAMOA	(10 April	1978)
SAUDI ARABIA	(14 June	1978)
* SENEGAL	(Oct. 1967/Sep.	1969)
SEYCHELLES	(27 February	1979)
SIERRA LEONE	(19 April	1974)
SINGAPORE	(Dec. 1965/Oct.	1967)
SLOVENIA	(16 June	1994)
SOLOMON ISLANDS	(11 May	1982)
SOMALIA	(10 July	1974)
* SOUTH AFRICA	(Oct. 1967/Sep.	1969)
* SPAIN	(Before Nov.	1961)
SRI LANKA	(Jun. 76/Jan.	1977)
SUDAN	(26 August	1974)
SURINAM	(21 January	1977)
SWEDEN	(Jul. 1964/Nov.	1965)
	·	
SWITZERLAND	(Before Nov.	1961)
SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC	(Oct.1969/Nov.	1971)
THAILAND	(Before Nov.	1961)
TOGO	(22 October	1975)
TONGA	(03 January	1974)
TRINIDAD & TOBAGO	(Oct. 1967/Sep.	1969)
* TUNISIA	(Before Nov.	1961)
* TURKEY	(Nov. 1961/Sep.	1962)
	· ·	
* UKRAINE	(Nov. 1961/Sep.	1962)
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES	(02 June	1976)
* UNITED KINGDOM OF		
GREAT BRITAIN &		
NORTHERN IRELAND	(Before Nov.	1961)
* UNITED REPUBLIC OF		,
TANZANIA	(Oct. 1967/Sep.	1969)
* UNITED STATES OF	(Sec. 1907/Bep.	1707)
	(Defen N	10(1)
AMERICA	(Before Nov.	1961)
URUGUAY	(Before Nov.	1961)
VENEZUELA	(Oct. 1962/Jun.	1964)
VIET NAM	(Before Nov.	1961)
YEMEN	(22 May	1960
	· ···	

MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL ARE INDICATED WITH AN ASTERISK

ANNEX X

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Document Code	Title	Agenda Items	Languages available
WORKING DOCUMENTS			
IOC-XXII/1 prov. rev. 2	Second Revised Provisional Agenda	2.1	EFRS
IOC-XXII/1 Add. prov. rev.2	Second Revised Provisional Timetable	2.4	E only
IOC-XXII/2	Action Paper	2.1	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 1	Report by the IOC Executive Secretary on Programme Implementation	3.2	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 1 Add. 1	SISTER Statistical Report on Follow-up Qualitative Report for the IOC	3.2	E F R S
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 1 Add. 2	Implementation of IOC Governing Bodies Resolutions	3.2	E F R S
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 2	Progress Report on Budget Execution (20002001, & 2002)	3.2	E F R S
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 3	Draft Programme and Budget 2004–2005 (draft 32 C/5)	3.4 & 5.1	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 4	Medium Term Strategy for IOC (2004–2007)	4.1.1	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 5	Result of Consultation of Member States on Resolution XXI-5	4.1.2	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 6 rev.	Revised Draft Guidelines for the Establishment of Decentralized Offices	4.1.3	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 7	Feasibility of Establishing a Regular Process for the Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment	4.1.5	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 8	Follow up of Key Recommendations of the External Evaluation	4.1.6	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 9	Main Lines of the GCOS Second Report on the Adequacy of the Global Observing System for Climate in Support of the UNFCCC	4.4.3	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 10	GLOSS Adequacy Report	4.4.5	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 11	Terms of Reference of a new Agreement between IOC and the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (CPPS)	4.5.4	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 12 rev.	Revised Draft IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology	4.6.1	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 13	A Strategy for Remote Sensing	4.7.2	EFRS
IOC-XXII/2 Annex 14	Draft Information Strategy	4.7.3	EFRS
IOC-XXII/3 prov.	Draft Summary Report	6.	EFRS
IOC-XXII/4 prov.	Provisional List of Documents	2.4	EFRS
IOC-XXII/5 prov.	Provisional List of Participants	_	E/F/S

Document Code	Title	Agenda Items	Languages available	
IOC-XXII/6	Draft Biennial Report of the Commission on its Activities, 2001–2002	3.3	E F R S	
IOC-XXII/Supplementary item 1	IOC activities in the Caspian Sea	4.5.5	EFRS	
IOC-XXII/Supplementary item 2	Activities of SCOR relevant to the IOC	4.2.4	EFRS	
IOC-XXII/Supplementary item 3	Draft Memorandum of Understanding between UNEP and IOC concerning the relation between UNEP's Regional Seas Programme and GOOS	4.4.1.2	E F R S	
REPORTS OF IOC AND REQUIRING ACTION	CO-OPERATIVE BODIES			
IOC/EC-XXXVI/3	Summary Report of the Thirty-Sixth session of the Executive Council, Paris, 23 June 2003	2.1	EFRS	
IOC/IPHAB-VI/3s	Executive Summary Report of the Sixth Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms, St. Petersburg, FL, USA, 17–19 October 2002	4.2.3	Efrs	
IOC/IODE-XVII/3s	Executive Summary Report of the 17 th Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange, Paris, France, 3–7 March 2003	4.3.3	EFRS	
IOC-WMO-UNEP/ I-GOOS-VI/3s	Executive Summary Report of the sixth Session of the Intergovernmental Committee for the Global Ocean Observation System, Paris, 10–14 March 2003	4.4.1.1	E F R S	
IOCINCWIO-V/3s	Summary Report of the Fifth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean, Nairobi, 23–26 September 2002	4.5.1	EFRS	
IOC/SC-WESTPAC-V/3	Summary Report of the Fifth Session of the Sub- Commission for the Western Pacific, Fremantle, 26–30 August 2002	4.5.2	E only	
IOC/ABE-LOS-III/3	Report of the Third Meeting of the Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (ABE-LOS), Lisbon, 1215 May 2003	4.6.1	E	
IOC/INF-1175	Report of the 2nd Session of the Working Group on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy	4.3.2	EFSR	
IOC/INF-1180	Terms of Reference of the Programme Elements in Ocean Science	4.2.2	EFSR	
IOC/INF-1184	The UNESCO Bilko Learning Project in Remote- Sensing	4.7.2	E only	
IOC/INF-1185	Review of the Structure of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS): Final Report	4.4.2	E F R S	
INFORMATION AND OTHER REFERENCE DOCUMENTS				

IOC-XXI/3	Summary Report of the Twenty-first Session of the	_	EFRS
	IOC Assembly, Paris, 9–13 July 2001		

Document Code	Title	Agenda Items	Languages available
IOC/EC-XXXV/3	Summary Report of the Thirty-fifth Session of the IOC Executive Council, Paris, 4–14 June 2002	_	E F R S
United Nations document A/RES/57/141	UN Resolution on Oceans and the Law of the Sea	3.2	E F R S
United Nations document A/57/80	Oceans and the law of the sea – Report on the work of the United Nations Open-ended Informal Consultative Process established by the General Assembly in its resolution 54/33 in order to facilitate the annual review by the Assembly of developments in ocean affairs at its third meeting	3.2	E F R S
165 EX/29 Add.	Financial report and audited financial statements of UNESCO for the period ended 31 December 2001 and report by the External Auditor	4.1.7	E F R S
IOC/IODE-XVII/14	IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy: Status Report	4.3.3	E only
IOC/IODE-XVII/35	IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management	4.3.1	E only
IOC/INF-1169	The African Process	4.5.3.1	EF
IOC/INF-1187	IODE Project Office Business Plan	4.3.4	E (Executive Summary in F R S)
IOC/INF-1190 & corr.	A Report on the Status of the GLOSS Programme and a Proposal for Taking the Programme Forward	4.4.5	E only
IOC/INF-1189	Report of the POGO–IOC–SCOR Initiative for Intelligent Use and Management of the Oceans	4.7.1	E only
IOC/INF-785	IOC Manual	_	E
IOC/INF-1148	IOC Statutes, November 1999	_	E/F/S/R
IOC/INF-1166	IOC Rules of Procedure, July 2001	_	E/F/S/R
IOC-XXII/Inf.1	Guidelines for Participants	_	E only
IOC-XXII/Inf.2	Presentation and Abstracts of A. Bruun and N.K. Panikkar Memorial lectures, 2003	_	E F R S
IOC-XXII/Inf.3	Amendments suggested by France to the Proposed Text on IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy	4.1.3	E only
IOC-XXII/Inf.4	Training and Technology Transfer in Africa for the Implementation of Article 76 of UNCLOS	4.7.4	EF

ANNEX XI

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

I. OFFICERS OF THE COMMISSION/BUREAU DE LA COI/MESA DE LA COI

Chairperson

Prof. Su Jilan Advisor to the Administrator Second Institute of Oceanography State Oceanic Administration P.O. Box 1207, Hangzhou Zheijiang 310012 CHINA Tel: (86 10) 884 03 32 Fax: (86 10) 807 15 39 E-mail: sujil@zgb.com.cn

Vice-Chairperson

Dr D.T. Pugh Southampton Oceanography Centre Empress Dock Southampton SO14 32H UNITED KINGDOM Tel: (44 23) 80 59 66 12 Fax: (44 23) 80 59 63 95 E-mail: <u>d.pugh@soc.soton.ac.uk</u>

Vice-Chairperson

Dr S.S. Khodkin Deputy Head Russian Federal Service for Hydrometeorology & Environmental Monitoring Novovagankovsky St. 12 Moscow 123242 RUSSIAN FEDERATION Tel: (7 095) 252 0313 Fax: (7 095) 255 2269

Vice-Chairperson

Dr K. Radhakrishnan Director, Indian National Centre for Ocean Information Services (INCOIS) Dept. of Ocean Development 3, Nandagiri Hills, Jubilee Hills Hyderabad - 500033 INDIA Tel: (91 40) 2354 0258 Fax: (91 40) 2355 1096 E-mail: <u>radhakr@incois.gov.in</u>

II. PARTICIPANTS FROM MEMBER STATES/ PARTICIPANTS DES ETATS MEMBRES /PARTICIPANTES DE LOS ESTADOS MIEMBROS

Afghanistan/Afghanistan/Afganistán

Not represented

Albania/Albanie/Albania

Not represented

Algeria/Algérie/Argelia

Head of Delegation

M. Mohand-Hocime Zidani Conseiller Délégation permanente de l'Algérie auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris Tel.: (33 1) 45 68 29 63 Fax: (33 1) 45 53 89 38 E-mail: dl.algerie@unesco.org

Angola

Head of Delegation

Mr N. Mateus Porto de Luanda EP Rua 4 de Fevereiro, C. Postal 1229 Luanda Tel: (244) 91 208 040 Fax: (244) 311 178

Argentina/Argentine/Argentina

Head of Delegation

Cap. de Navío J.A. Valladares Servicio de Hidrografía Naval Armada Argentina Comodoro Py 2055 (C1104BEA) Buenos Aires Tel: (54 11) 43 17 24 22 Fax: (54 11) 43 17 24 90 E-mail: valladar@hidro.gov.ar

Representative

Sr. A. W. Gonzalez First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Argentina to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 38 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 60 35 E-mail: <u>aw.gonzalez@unesco.org</u>

Australia/Australie/Australia

Head of Delegation

Dr A. McEwan Senior Science Adviser - Oceanography Bureau of Meteorology Tasmania & Antarctica Region G.P.O. Box 727, Hobart Tasmania 7001 Tel: (61 3) 62 21 20 90 Fax: (61 3) 62 21 20 89 E-mail: <u>a.mcewan@bom.gov.au</u>

Alternates

Dr N. Smith Senior Principal Research Scientist BMRC, Box 1289K 150, Lonsdale St. Melbourne, VIC 3001 Tel: (61 3) 96 694 434 Fax: (61 3) 96 694 660 E-mail: n.smith@bom.gov.au

Representative

Ms A. Siwicki Policy Officer Permanent Delegation of Australia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 40 59 33 44 Fax: (33 1) 40 59 33 53 E-mail: <u>anne.siwicki@dfat.gov.au</u>

Austria/Autriche/Austria

Head of Delegation

Dr B. Trinkl Minister-Counselor Permanent Delegation of Austria to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 57 Fax: (33 1) 47 83 26 25 E-mail: <u>dl.austria@unesco.org</u>

Azerbaijan/Azerbaidjan/Azerbaiyán

Head of Delegation

Mr A. Gojayev 209, rue de l'Université Paris 75007 France Tel: (33 1) 44 18 60 20 Fax: (33 1) 44 18 60 25

Bahamas

Not represented

Bangladesh

Head of Delegation

Mr D. Hossain Second Secretary Embassy of Bangladesh 39, rue Erlanger 75016 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 46 51 90 33 Fax: (33 1) 46 51 90 35 E-mail: bdootpar@club-internet.fr

Barbados/Barbade/Barbados

Head of Delegation

Ms H.A. Cummins Chairperson, Barbados National Commission for UNESCO 11, St. Anne's Garrison St. Michael Tel: (1 246) 427 02 01 Fax: (1 246) 429 59 46 E-mail: <u>director@barbmuse.org.bb</u>

Belgium/Belgique/Bélgica

Head of Delegation

Dr R.L. Herman Senior Scientist Technology & Innovation Division Ministry of Flanders Boudewijmlaan 30 1000 Brussels Tel: (32 2) 553 60 01 Fax: (32 2) 553 59 81 E-mail: <u>rudy.herman@wim.vlaanderen.be</u>

Representative

Ir. F. Monteny Scientific Adviser Research & Development Dept. The Prime Minister's Services Scientific, Technical & Cultural Affairs (OSTC) 8, rue de la Science, Wetenschapsstraat B-1000 Brussels Tel: (32 2) 238 34 11 Fax: (32 2) 230 59 12 E-mail: mont@belspo.be

Adviser

Dr Edward Vanden Berghe Manager, Flanders Marine Data & Information Centre Flanders Marine Institute Vismijn, Pakhuizen 45-52 B-8400 Oostende Tel: (32 59) 342 130 Fax: (32 59) 342 131 E-mail: <u>wardvdb@vliz.be</u>

Belize/Bélize/Belice

Head of Delegation

Ms M. Cailbault Permanent Delegation of Belize to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 32 11 Fax: (33 1) 47 20 18 74 E-mail: <u>dl.belize@unesco.org</u>

Benin/Bénin/Benin

Head of Delegation

Mr R. Vignikin Ministre Conseiller Permanent Delegation of Benin to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 26 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 15 55 E-mail: dl.permanente-benin@unesco.org

Adviser

Ms E. Lissan Adviser, Permanent Delegation of Benin to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 62/63 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 15 55 E-mail: dl.permanente-benin@unesco.org

Brazil/Brésil/Brasil

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr J.I. Vargas Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Brazil to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 28 65 Fax: (33 1) 47 83 28 40 E-mail: <u>dl.brasil@unesco.org</u>

Representatives

Mr G.F. de Sá Secretary of Policies & Programme MCT – Esplanade dos Ministérios Bloc E, Sala 208 Brasília, DF – 70067-300 Tel: (55 61) 317 7530 Fax: (55 61) 226 0834 E-mail: <u>gfsa@mct.gov.br</u>

Ms Marília Giovanetti de Albuquerque Co-ordinator - Dept. of Scientific Policy & Special Programmes Secretary for Policies & Programmes of Science & Technology Ministry of Science & Technology Esplanada dos Ministérios, Bloco 'E', Sala 217 Brasília, DF 70067-900 Tel: (55 61) 317 80 22 Fax: (55 61) 226 08 34 E-mail: marilia@mct.gov.br

Rear Admiral P.C. Dias de Lima Admiral Paulo Moreira Marine Research Institute Rua Kioto 253 Praia dos Anjos, RJ Tel: (55 22) 26 22 9001 Fax: (55 22) 26 22 1634 E-mail: pauloh.ntg@terra.com.br

Vice-Admiral F. Lucio Franco de Sá Directorate of Hydrography & Navigation Rua Barão de Jaceguay, s/n^o Niteroi, RJ – 24.048-900 Tel: (55 21) 2613 8001 Fax: (55 21) 2613 8066 E-mail: <u>01@dhn.mar.mil.br</u>

Ms Janice Romaguera Trotte Adviser, International Relations Brazilian Navy Directorate of Hydrography & Navigation Rua Barão de Jaceguay s/n^o Niteroi, RJ – 24.048-900 Tel: (55 21) 26 13 80 13 Fax: (55 21) 26 13 80 88 E-mail: <u>07coi@dhn.mar.mil.br</u> j.trotte@openlink.com.br Ms M.C.S. de Castro Fernandez Chancery Officer Permanent Delegation of Brazil to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 28 65 Fax: (33 1) 47 83 28 40 E-mail: dl.brasil@unesco.org

Bulgarie/Bulgarie/Bulgaria

Head of Delegation

Dr S. Manchaca Deputy-Director Institute of Oceanology Bulgarian Academy of Sciences P.O. Box 152 Varna 9000 Tel/Fax: (359 52) 370 485 E-mail: <u>cesum-bs@io-bas.bg</u> snejm@mail.varna.techno-link.com

Representative

Mr Y. Mouche Scientist, Institute of Oceanology Bulgarian Academy of Sciences P.O. Box 152 9000 Varna Tel: (359 52) 370 485 Fax: (359 52) 370 485 E-mail: suegm@mail.varna.techno.link.com

Cameroon/Cameroun/Camerún

Head of Delegation

M. C. Assamba Deuxième Conseiller Délégation Permanente du Cameroun auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 33 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 30 34 E-mail: <u>dl.cameroun@unesco.org</u>

Canada/Canada/Canadá

Head of Delegation

Dr J. Kean-Howie Director-General Oceanography & Aquaculture Science Directorate Dept. of Fisheries & Oceans 200, Kent St, 12W114 Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0E6 Tel: (1 613) 990 0271 Fax: (1 613) 993 7665 E-mail: <u>kean-howiej@dfo-mpo.gc.ca</u>

Alternate

Dr J. Piuze Directeur Régional, Océans et Environnement Région du Québec Ministère des Pêches et des Océans Institut Maurice-Lamontagne 850, route de la mer, C.P. 1000 Mont-Joli, Québec G5H 3Z4 Tel: (1 418) 775 0597 Fax: (1 418) 775 0718 E-mail: piuzej@dfo-mpo.gc.ca

Representatives

Mme G.G. Trubey Chargée de Programmes, Sciences Naturelles Commission Canadienne pour l'UNESCO 350, rue Albert, C.P. 1047 Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5V8 Tel: (1 613) 566 4414, Ext: 5517 Toll Free: (1 800) 263 5588 Fax: (1 613) 566 44 05 E-mail: gisele.trubey@unesco.ca

Dr L. O'Riley Hinds Senior Advisor Oceans, Marine Affairs & Fisheries Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) 200, Promenade du Portage Hull, Québec K1A 0G4 Tel: (1 819) 997 0483 Fax: (1 819) 953 3348 E-mail: <u>lennox_hinds@acdi-cida.gc.ca</u>

Mr D. Bancroft Director, Oceanography & Climate Branch Dept. of Fisheries & Oceans 200, Kent St, 12W 130 Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0E6 Tel: (1 613) 990 0302 Fax: (1 613) 993 7665 Email: bancroftdo@dfo-mpo.gc.ca

Dr S. Narayanan Director, Marine Environmental Data Services Dept. of Fisheries & Oceans W082, 12th Floor, 200, Kent St., 12W082 Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0E6 Tel: (1 613) 990 0265 Fax: (1 613) 993 4658 E-mail: <u>narayanans@dfo-mpo.gc.ca</u> (*Also representing JCOMM*)

Mr V.R. Swail Chief, Climate Monitoring & Data Interpretation Division Climate Research Branch Meteorological Service of Canada 4905, Dufferin St. Downsview, Ontario M3H 5T4 Tel: (1 416) 739 4347 Fax: (1 416) 739 5700 E-mail: val.swail@ec.gc.ca

Adviser

Mr G.L. Holland 2WE Associates Consulting Ltd. 24-295, Lower Ganges Rd. Salt Spring Island, B.C. V8K 1T3 Tel: (1 250) 537 4472 Fax: (1 250) 537 4850 E-mail: hollandg@2weassociates.com

Cape Verde/Cap Vert/Cabo Verde

Not represented

Chile/Chili/Chile

Head of Delegation

Sr. A. Rogers Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Chile to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 29 50 Fax: (33 1) 47 34 16 51 E-mail: jartrogers@yahoo.com dl.chili@unesco.org

Alternate

Cap. de Navío F. Mingram Lopez Director, Servicio Hidrográfico y Oceanográfico de la Armada de Chile Errázuriz 254, Playa Ancha Casilla 324 Valparaíso Tel: (56 32) 26 65 02 Fax: (56 32) 26 65 42 E-mail: <u>director@shoa.cl</u>

Representative

Dr R.H. Nuñez Head, Dept. of Oceanography Servicio Hidrográfico y Oceanográfico de la Armada de Chile Errázuriz 232, Playa Ancha, Casilla 324 Valparaíso Tel: (56 32) 26 66 70 Fax: (56 32) 26 65 42 E-mail: <u>rnunez@shoa.cl</u>

China/Chine/China

Head of Delegation

Mr Haiqing Li Director-General Dept. of International Co-operation State Oceanic Administration 1, Fuxingmenwai Ave. Beijing 100860 Tel: (86 10) 6804 2695 Fax: (86 10) 6801 9791 E-mail: depicsoa@95777.com

Representatives

Prof. Su Jilan Advisor to the Administrator State Oceanic Administraton P. O. Box 1207, Hangzhou Zhejiang 310012 Tel: (86 10) 884 03 32 Fax: (86 10) 807 15 39 E-mail: sujil@zgb.com.cn (*Also Chairman IOC*)

Mr Lin Shanqing Deputy Director-General Dept. of Marine Environmental Protection State Oceanic Administration Beijing 100860 Tel: (86 10) 6804 7638 Fax: (86 10) 6803 0799 E-mail: sqlin@soa.gov.cn

Prof. Lin Shaohua Director, National Marine Data & Information Service 93, Liuwei Rd., Hedong District Tianjin 300171 Tel: (86 22) 2401 0803 Fax: (86 22) 2401 0926 E-mail: shlin@mail.nmdis.gov.cn

Prof. Dexing Wu Vice-President China Ocean University 5, Yushan Rd. Qingdao Tel: (86 532) 203 228 E-mail: <u>dxwu@mail.ouc.edu.cn</u>

Ms Tao Jin First Secretary Permanent Delegation of China to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 53 Fax: (33 1) 42 19 01 99 E-mail: <u>dl.chine7@unesco.org</u>

Colombia/Colombie/Colombia

Head of Delegation

Cap. de Navío M.A. Palacios Moreno CAN - Transv.41 N^{o.} 27-50 P.O. Box 28466 Bogotá Tel: (57 1) 222 04 36 Fax: (57 1) 222 04 16 E-mail: scco@cco.gov.co

Representative

Ms N. Schmidt First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Colombia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 28 57 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 66 09 E-mail: <u>n.schmidt@unesco.org</u>

Comoros/Comores/Comoras

Head of Delegation

H.E. Ms S.O. Thoueybat
Ambassador, Permanent Delegate
Permanent Delegation of Comoros to
UNESCO
1, rue Miollis
75015 Paris
France
Tel: (33 1) 45 68 26 44
Fax: (33 1) 43 06 53 65

Congo

Head of Delegation

Mr Mauria-Nguni Second Secretary Permanent Delegation of Congo to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 32 68 Fax: (33 1) 47 83 38 22 E-mail: <u>dl.congo@unesco.org</u>

Costa Rica

Head of Delegation

Ms C. Sierra Counsellor, Permanent Delegation of Costa Rica to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 25 72 Fax: (33 1) 42 73 16 45 E-mail: <u>dl.costa-rica@unesco.org</u>

Côte d'Ivoire

Head of Delegation

Dr J. Abe Chercheur Océanologue Centre de Recherches Océanographiques 29, rue des Pêcheurs, B.P. V 18 Abidjan Tel: (225) 2135 5014 Fax: (225) 2135 1155 E-mail: jabe@hotmail.com

Croatia/Croatie/Croacia

Head of Delegation

Ms I. Marasovic Director, Institute of Oceanography & Fisheries Set. Ivana Mestrovica 63 21000 Split Tel: (385) 2135 8680 Fax: (385) 2135 8650 Email: marasovic@izor.hr

Representatives

H.E. Ms N. Ritz Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Croatia to UNESCO 5, av. Bosquet 75007 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 47 05 04 42 Fax: (33 1) 45 56 10 74 E-mail: <u>croatie.unesco@free.fr</u> Ms S. Srsen Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Croatia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, France Tel: (33 1) 43 06 12 97 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 31 48

Cuba

Head of Delegation

Lic. G. García Montero Presidente, Comité Oceanográfico Nacional Ministerio de Ciencia, Tecnología y Medio Ambiente Calle 60 y 1^a Miramar Playa Ciudad Habana Tel: (53 7) 209 6401 Fax: (53 7) 209 2737 E-mail: ggarcia@ama.cu

Cyprus/Chypre/Chipre

Head of Delegation

Mr C. Cassimatis Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Cyprus to UNESCO 86, av. Foch 75116 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 00 35 05 Fax: (33 1) 45 01 20 53

Democratic People's Republic of Korea/ République populaire démocratique de Corée/República Popular Democrática de Corea

Head of Delegation

Mr Ri Jang Gon Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of the Democratic People's Republic of Korea to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 25 64 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 25 63 E-mail: <u>dl.dprkorea@unesco.org</u>

Denmark/Danemark/Dinamarca

Head of Delegation

Mr P. Koefoed Bjørnsen Deputy Director-General National Environmental Research Institute Ministry of Environment & Energy P.O. Box 358 DK-4000 Roskilde Tel: (45 46) 30 13 20 Fax: (45 46) 30 13 01 E-mail: <u>pkb@dmu.dk</u>

Alternate

Mr H. Dalsoaard Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Denmark to UNESCO 77, av. Marceau Paris 75016 France Tel: (33 1) 44 31 21 21 Fax: (33 1) 44 31 21 88 E-mail: <u>dl.denmark@unesco.org</u>

Dominica/Dominique/Dominica

Not represented

Dominican Republic/République dominicaine/República Dominicana

Head of Delegation

Ms M. Dominguez Permanent Delegation of the Dominican Republic to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 27 10 Fax: (33 1) 42 73 24 66 E-mail: dl.rep-dominicaine@unesco.org

Ecuador/Equateur/Ecuador

Head of Delegation

Mr B. Sanmiguel Instituto Oceanográfico Base Naval Sur, Avenido 25 Julio Guayaquil Tel: (593 4) 248 1100 Fax: (593 4) 248 5166 E-mail: <u>direccion@inocar.mil.ec</u>

Alternate

H.E. Mr A. Preciado Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Ecuador to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 33 03 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 49 06 E-mail: <u>ecuador.dl@unesco.org</u>

Adviser

Mr R. Martínez Subdirector Científico Instituto Oceanográfico de la Armada del Ecuador Av. 25 de Julio, Base Naval Sur Guayaquil Tel: (593 4) 480 86 18 Fax: (593 4) 448 51 66 E-mail: <u>cdmbac@inocar.mil.ec</u>

Egypt/Egypte/Egipto

Not represented

El Salvador/Salvador/El Salvador

Head of Delegation

Ms N. Viaud Desroches Adviser, Deputy Delegate Permanent Delegation of El Salvador to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 19 Fax: (33 1) 47 34 41 86 E-mail: <u>dl.el-salvador@unesco.org</u>

Eritrea/Erythrée/Eritrea

Head of Delegation

Mr M. Tesfaldet First Secretary Embassy of Eritrea 31-33, rue Lecourbe 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 43 06 15 56 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 07 51 E-mail: ericonsul@wanadoo.fr

Estonia/Estonie/Estonia

Not represented

Ethiopia/Ethiopie/Etiopía

Not represented

Fiji/Fidji/Fiji

Not represented

Finland/Filande/Finlandia

Head of Delegation

Prof. M. Pertillä Head of Dept. Finnish Institute of Marine Research Lyypekinkuja 3A, P.O. Box 33 FIN-00931 Helsinki Tel: (358 9) 61 39 45 10 Cell: (358 4) 61 39 44 94 Fax: (358 9) 61 39 44 94 E-mail: perttila@fimr.fi

Alternates

Mr A. Maki Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Finland to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 32 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 19 02 E-mail: dl.finlande@unesco.org Dr E. Leppakoski Dept. of Biology Abo Akademi University FIN-20500 Turku Tel: (358 2) 215 43 55 Fax: (358 2) 215 34 28 E-mail: <u>eleppako@abo.fi</u>

France/France/Francia

Head of Delegation

M. J-F. Minster Président Directeur Général IFREMER 155, rue Jean-Jacques Rousseau 92138 Issy-les-Moulineaux Tel: (33 1) 46 48 22 87 Fax: (33 1) 46 48 22 48 E-mail: jminster@ifremer.fr

Alternates

M. F. Gérard Président du Comité pour la COI Météo France 1, quai Branly 75007 Paris Tel: (33 1) 45 56 70 24 Fax: (33 1) 45 56 74 42 E-mail: <u>francois.gerard@meteo.fr</u>

M. Ph. Barré Chargé de Mission Ministère des Affaires Etrangères 244, bd. St. Germain 75007 Paris Tel: (33 1) 43 17 80 22 Fax: (33 1) 43 17 88 58 E-mail: philippe.barre@diplomatic.gouv.fr

Representatives

M. E. Jarmache Directeur des Relations et de la Coopération Internationales IFREMER 155, rue Jean-Jacques Rousseau 92138 Issy-les-Moulineaux Tel: (33 1) 46 48 21 81 Fax: (33 1) 46 48 21 88 E-mail: <u>elie.jarmache@ifremer.fr</u> Dr C. Maillard Chef de Service SISMER Centre IFREMER de Brest B.P. 70 29280 Plouzané Tel: (33 2) 98 22 42 79 Fax: (33 2) 98 22 46 44 E-mail: <u>catherine.maillard@ifremer.fr</u>

M. J-P. Rebert Chargé de Mission, IRD 213, rue La Fayette 75010 Paris Tel: (33 1) 48 03 76 83 Fax: (33 1) 48 03 76 81 E-mail: rebert@ird.fr

M. C. Valia-Kollery Conseiller pour les Sciences Commission Française pour l'UNESCO 57, bd. des Invalides 75700 Paris 07 SP Tel: (33 1) 53 69 39 96 Fax: (33 1) 53 69 32 23 E-mail: <u>christophe.valia-</u> kollery@diplomatie.fr

Adviser

M. H. de Longevialle European & International Dept. IFREMER 155, rue Jean-Jacques Rousseau 92138 Issy-les-Moulineaux Cedex Tel: (33 1) 46 48 21 82 Fax: (33 1) 46 48 21 88 E-mail: hugues.de.longevialle@ifremer.fr

Gabon/Gabon/Gabón

Head of Delegation

M. P. Maganga Direction Générale du Droit de la Mer (MAECF) Ministère des Affaires Etrangères B.P. 408 Libreville Tel: (241) 24 65 87 Fax: (241) 73 09 63 E-mail: dgdm@internet.gabon.com

Alternate

Dr S. Loubamono Directeur Général Adjoint Dept. de Géographie Direction Générale de l'Environnement Ministère de l'Economie Forestière, des Eaux, de la Pêche chargé de l'Environnement et de la Protection de la Nature Bd Triomphal, B.P. 3903 Libreville Tel: (241) 76 61 81/ 37 98 74 Fax: (241) 72 13 70 E-mail: loubamonosolange@yahoo.fr Loubamono.solange@caramail.com

Gambia/Gambie/Gambia

Not represented

Georgia/Géorgie/Georgia

Head of Delegation

Prof. I. Khomeriki Head, UNESCO Oceanographic Centre Faculty of Geography & Geology Tbilisi State University 1, Chavehavadze Ave. Tbilisi, 380028 Tel: (995 32) 25 02 76 Fax: (995 32) 25 02 49 E-mail: <u>ocean@mmc.net.ge</u>

Germany/Allemagne/Alemania

Head of Delegation

Prof. Dr P. Ehlers President & Professor Bundesamt für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie Bernhard-Nocht-Strasse 78 20359 Hamburg Tel: (49 40) 3190 10 00 Fax: (49 40) 3190 10 04 E-mail: <u>peter.ehlers@bsh.de</u>

Alternates

H.E. Mr Wrede
Ambassador, Permanent Delegation of
Germany to UNESCO
13-15, av. Franklin Roosevelt
Paris 75008
France
Tel: (33 1) 53 83 46 63
Fax: (33 1) 53 83 46 67

Prof. D. Kohnke Director & Professor Bundesamt für Seeschifffahrt und Hydrographie Bernhard-Nocht-Strasse 78 20359 Hamburg Tel: (49 40) 3190 34 00 Fax: (49 40) 3190 50 00 E-mail: kohnke@bsh.de Representatives

Mr R. Zöllner Deutscher Wetterdienst Jenfelder Allee 70A D-22043 Hamburg Tel: (49 40) 66 90 14 00 Fax: (49 40) 66 90 14 99 E-mail: reinhard.zoellner@dwd.de

Dr U. Wolf BMBF, Projectraeger Juelich Seestr 15 18119 Warnemuende Tel: (49 381) 519 72 88 E-mail: e.wolf@fr-juelich.de

Mr R.D. Preyer Auswartiges Amt D-11013 Berlin Tel: (49 1888) 173 33 18 Fax: (49 1888) 175 33 18

Prof. Dr V. Gopalan Center for Tropical Marine Ecology Fahrenheitstrasse 6 28359 Bremen Tel: (49 421) 23 800 20 Fax: (49 421) 23 800 30 E-mail: ittekot@zmt-bremen.de

Ghana

Head of Delegation

Mr J. Wellens-Mensah Director, Hydrological Services Dept. P.O. Box MB 501 Accra Tel: (233 21) 67 7 3 83 Fax: (233 21) 67 73 84 E-mail: hsd@ghana.com jwellens_mensah@hotmail.com (Also Chairperson IOCEA)

Greece/Grèce/Grecia

Head of Delegation

Dr G. Th. Chronis Director, Institute of Oceanography National Centre for Marine Research (NCMR) P.O. Box 712, 190 13 Anavyssos Athens Tel: (30 22910) 764 62 Fax: (30 22910) 763 23 E-mail: gchronis@ncmr.gr

Alternates

Dr E. Balopoulos Research Director Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR) Institute of Oceanography P.O. Box 712, 190 13 Anavyssos Athens Tel: (30 22910) 763 67 Fax: (30 22910) 763 23 E-mail: efstathios.balopoulos@hnodc.ncmr.gr

Dr E. Gounaris Minister Plenipotentiary – Expert Academias 3 Athens 10671 Tel: (30 210) 368 22 35 Fax: (30 210) 368 22 39

Representatives

Mr. A. Theocharis Senior Researcher Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR) Institute of Oceanography P.O. Box 712, 190 13 Anavyssos Attiki 19013 Tel: (30 22910) 763 29 Fax: (30 22910) 763 23 E-mail: <u>alekos@ncmr.gr</u>

Dr. F. Voutsinou-Taliadouri Research Director Hellenic Centre for Marine Research P.O. Box 712, 190 13 Anavyssos Athens Tel: (30 22910) 763 66 Fax: (30 22901) 763 23 E-mail: <u>fvouts@ycmr.gr</u>

Guatemala

Head of Delegation

Mr. P.Arenales Permanent Delegation of Guatemala to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 42 27 78 63 Fax: (33 1) 47 54 02 06 E-mail: embaguatefrancia@wanadoo.fr

Guinea/Guinée/Guinea

Head of Delegation

M. M. Keita Conseiller Economique Ministère de la Pêche et de l'Aquaculture B.P. 307 Conakry Tel: (224) 54 79 84 Fax: (224) 41 36 60 E-mail: wondedou@caramail.com

Guinea-Bissau/Guinée-Bissau/Guinea-Bissau

Not represented

Guyana

Not represented

Haiti/Haïti/Haití

Head of Delegation

Mr E. Wesner Permanent Delegation of Haiti to UNESCO Embassy of Haiti 35, av. de Villiers 75017 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 42 12 70 54 Fax: (33 1) 42 12 38 82 E-mail: wemmemm@yahoo.fr

Alternate

Ms M-J. Justinuil Embassy of Haiti 35, av. de Villiers 75017 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 42 12 70 54 Fax: (33 1) E-mail: delehaiti@wanadoo.fr

Adviser

Mr E. Wilson Scientific Adviser Embassy of Haiti 35, av. de Villiers 75017 Paris, France Tel: (33 1) 42 12 70 54 Fax: (33 1) 42 12 38 82 E-mail: tiwince@sakapfet.com

Iceland/Islande/Islandia

Head of Delegation

Ms G. Helgadottir Adviser, Embassy of Iceland 8, av. Kleber 75016 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 44 17 32 85 Fax: (33 1) 40 67 99 96 E-mail: gudny.helgadottir@utn.stjr.is

India/Inde/India

Head of Delegation

Dr H.K. Gupta Secretary, Dept. of Ocean Development Mahasagar Bhawan CGO Complex, Block 12, Lodhi Rd. New Delhi 110003 Tel: (91 11) 243 60 87 E-mail: dodsec@dod.delhi.nic.in

Representatives

Dr K. Radhakrishnan Director, Indian National Centre for Ocean Information Services (INCOIS) Dept. of Ocean Development 3, Nandagiri Hills, Jubilee Hills Hyderabad – 500033 Tel: (91 40) 23 54 02 58 Fax: (91 40) 23 55 10 96 E-mail: <u>radhakr@incois.gov.in</u>

Dr E. Desa Director, National Institute of Oceanography Dona Paula Goa 403004 Tel: (91 832) 245 67 07 E-mail: <u>ehrlich@darya.nio.org</u> <u>Ehrlich@csnio.ren.nic.in</u>

Indonesia/Indonésie/Indonesia

Head of Delegation

Mr J. Sopaheluwakan Deputy Chairman for Earth Sciences Jl. Jend. Gatot Subroto 10 Jakarta 12710 Tel/Fax: (62 21) 526 08 04 E-mail: jans@mss.lipi.go.id jans@indo.net.id

Representatives

Dr Z. Arifin Ecological Toxicology Research Centre for Oceanography Pusat Penelitian Oseanografi – LIPI Jl. Pasir I Ancol Timur, P.O. Box 4801 JKTF Jakarta 11048 Tel: (62 21) 68 38 50 Fax: (62 21) 68 19 48 E-mail: <u>zarifin@dnet.net.id</u>

Mr R.W. Matindas Head of Agency National Co-ordination Agency for Surveys & Mapping (Bakosurtanal) Jl. Raya Jakarta-Bogor Km. 46 Cibinong 16911 Tel/Fax: (62 21) 875 45 92 E-mail: <u>secr@indo.net.id</u> <u>matindas@bakosuntanal.go.id</u>

Mr J. Tavares Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Indonesia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 29 73 Fax: (33 1) 45 66 02 37 E-mail: <u>dl.indonesia@unesco.org</u>

Iran, Islamic Republic of/République Islamique d'Iran/Irán, República Islámica del

Head of Delegation

Dr N. Hadjizadeh Zaker Director, Iranian National Centre for Oceanography (INCO) 9, Etemadzadeh St., Fatemi Ave. Tehran Tel: (98 21) 694 48 67 Fax: (98 21) 694 48 66 E-mail: <u>inco@istn.irost.com</u> <u>nhzaker@inco.ac.ir</u>

Iraq/Irak

Head of Delegation

H.E. Dr A. Al-Mashat
Ambassador, Permanent Delegate
Permanent Delegation of Iraq to UNESCO
1, rue Miollis
75015 Paris, France
Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 21/22
Fax: (33 1) 43 06 79 87
E-mail: <u>a.al-mashat@unesco.org</u>

Ireland/Irlande/Irlanda

Not represented

Israel/Isräel/Israel

Head of Delegation

Dr Y. Cohen Director-General Israel Oceanographic & Limnological Research P.O. Box 8030 Haifa 31080 Tel: (972 4) 856 52 21 Fax: (972 4) 851 19 11 E-mail: yuval@ocean.org.il

Italy/Italie/Italia

Head of Delegation

Prof. C. Morelli
Universitá degli Studi di Trieste
Dipartimento di Ingegneria Navale, del Mare
e per l'Ambiente
Via Berlem 27
34136 Trieste
Tel: (39 040) 558 71 58
Fax: (39 040) 558 34 97
E-mail: morelli@geodinna.univ.trieste.it

Representatives

Dr R. Mosetti Director, Dept. of Oceanography Borgo Grotta Gieante 42/C 34010 Sgonico Trieste Tel: (39 040) 214 01 Fax: (39 040) 214 02 66 E-mail: <u>rmosetti@ogr.trieste.it</u>

Dr N. Pinardi INGV Via Donato Creti 12 Bologna Tel: (39 051) 415 1412

Ms S. Vallerga Director of Research, CNR-IAML Serism Oristano c/o IMC Loc SA Mardini 09072 Torregrande Oristano Tel: (39 0335) 30 31 30 Fax: (39 078) 32 20 02 E-mail: <u>vallerga@nameserver.ge.cnr.it</u> (*Also representing I-GOOS*)

Prof. E. Bussoletti Permanent Delegation of Italy to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 31 43 Fax: (33 1) 45 66 41 78 E-mail: <u>dl.italia@unesco.org</u>

Jamaica/Jamaïque/Jamaica

Head of Delegation

H.E. Ms S. Campbell Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Jamaica to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 33 60 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 64 51 E-mail: <u>dl-jamaica@unesco.org</u>

Alternate

Mme S. Beausang Attaché, Permanent Delegation of Jamaica to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 32 23 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 64 51 E-mail: <u>dl-jamaica@unesco.org</u>

Japan/Japon/Japón

Head of Delegation

Dr M. Terazaki Ocean Research Institute University of Tokyo 1-15-1 Minamidai Nakano-ku Tokyo 164-8639 Tel: (81 3) 53 51 65 28 Fax: (81 3) 53 51 65 30 E-mail: terazaki@ori.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Alternate

Mr S. Sato Deputy-Director Japan Oceanographic Data Center Hydrographic & Oceanographic Dept. Japan Coast Guard 5-3-1, Tsukiji, Chuo-ku Tokyo 104-0045 Tel: (81 3) 35 41 42 95 Fax: (81 3) 35 45 28 85 E-mail: <u>satoshi-satou-2@kaiho.mlit.go.jp</u>

Representatives

Mr T. Asai Assistant Secretary-General Japanese National Commission 3-2-2, Kasumigaseki Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8959 Tel: (81 3) 35 81 2174 Fax: (81 3) 55 11 08 45 E-mail: takasai@mext.go.jp

Prof. Y. Michida Associate Professor Ocean Research Institute University of Tokyo 1-15-1 Minamidai Nakano-ku Tokyo 164-8639 Tel/Fax: (81 3) 53 51 65 32 E-mail: <u>ymichida@ori.u-tokyo.ac.jp</u>

Dr A. Umezawa Deputy-Director Ocean Division, Economic Affairs Bureau 2-2-1, Shiba koen, Minato-ku Tokyo 105-8919 Tel: (81 3) 64 02 22 72 Fax: (81 3) 64 02 22 71 E-mail: <u>akima.umezawa@mofa.go.jp</u>

Mr O. Miyaki Special Staff Ocean & Earth Division Research & Development Bureau Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science & Technology 1-3-2, Kashmigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8959 Tel: (81 3) 52 53 41 46 Fax: (81 3) 52 53 41 47 E-mail: <u>omiyaki@mext.go.jp</u>

Mr K. Ishikawa Marine Division Japan Meteorological Agency 1-3-4, Ote-machi, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8122 Tel: (81 3) 32 12 83 41, Ext: 5149 Fax: (81 3) 32 11 69 08 E-mail: <u>k-ishikawa@met.kishou.go.jp</u>

Dr K. Kitazawa Adviser to the Minister of Education, Culture, Sports, Science & Technology Japan Marine Science & Technology Centre 2-15, Natsushima-cho Yokosuka 237-0061 Tel: (81 46) 867 91 91 Fax: (81 46) 867 91 95 E-mail: <u>kitazawa@jamstec.go.jp</u>

Jordan/Jordanie/Jordania

Not represented

Kenya

Head of Delegation

Dr J.M. Kazungu Director, Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute P.O. Box 81651 Mombasa Tel/Fax: (254 11) 47 51 57 E-mail: jkazungu@kmfri.co.ke

Representatives

Mr A. Mottames Co-ordinator NEPAD Coastal & Marine Programmes Ministry of the Environment P.O. Box 67839 Nairobi Tel: (254 20) 60 90 13/79 Fax: (254 20) 60 89 97 E-mail: biofish@africaonline.co.ke

Mr F.M. Makimbi Embassy of Kenya 3, rue Freycinet 75016 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 56 62 25 25 Fax: (33 1) 47 20 44 41

Kuwait/Koweit/Kuwait

Head of Delegation

Mr T. Al-Baghli Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Kuwait to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 26 67 Fax: (33 1) 42 19 96 95 E-mail: <u>dl.koweit01@unesco.org</u>

Lebanon/Liban/Líbano

Head of Delegation

Ms D. Rifai Permanent Delegation of Lebanon to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel/Fax: (33 1) 45 68 33 72 E-mail: <u>dl.liban@unesco.org</u>

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya/Jamahiriya arabe libyenne/Jamahiriya Arabe Libia

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr M.O. Elosta
Ambassador, Permanent Delegate
Permanent Delegation of Libya to UNESCO
1, rue Miollis
75015 Paris
France
Tel: (33 1) 45 68 33 21/23
Fax: (33 1) 45 66 08 55
E-mail: del.libsec@unesco.org
m.elosta@unesco.org

Madagascar

Head of Delegation

Mr M-W. Rabenevanana Directeur, Institut Halieutique et des Sciences Marines, IHSM B.P. 141 Toliara Tel: (261 20) 944 35 52 E-mail: manwai@dts.mg

Adviser

Ms H. Simon Adviser, Permanent Delegation of Madagascar to l'UNESCO 40, rue du Général Foy 75008 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 42 93 34 77 Fax: (33 1) 45 22 22 89 E-mail: <u>sihanja@aol.com</u>

Malaysia/Malaisie/Malasia

Head of Delegation

H.E. Dr Noor Azmi Ibrahim
Ambassador, Permanent Delegate
Permanent Delegate of Malaysia to UNESCO
1, rue Miollis
75015 Paris
France
Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 75
Fax: (33 1) 42 73 33 52
E-mail: del.malaisie@unesco.org

Alternate

Mr A. Naharudin Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Malaysia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 77 Fax: (33 1) 42 73 33 52 E-mail: del.malaisie@unesco.org nahamalasie@hotmail.com

Representatives

Mr M.A. Abdul Halim Head of Oceanography, RMN Oceanography & Meteorology Section RMN Oceanographic Data Center Mindef, Jalan Padang Tembak 50634 Kuala Lumpur Tel: (603) 20 71 63 89 E-mail: <u>rmnodc@tm.net.my</u>

Prof. Dr Ho. Sinn Chye Director, National Oceanography Directorate Ground Floor, Block C5, Parcel C Federal Govt. Administrative Center 62662 Putrajaya Tel: (603) 88 85 80 68 Fax: (603) 88 89 30 08 E-mail: <u>scho@moste.gov.my</u>

Maldives/Maldives/Maldivas

Not represented

Malta/Malte/Malta

Not represented

Mauritania/Mauritanie/Mauritania

Not represented

Mauritius/Maurice/Mauricio

Head of Delegation

Mr S.C. Seeballuck Secretary for Home Affairs Prime Minister's Office, Govt. House Port Louis Tel: (230) 201 10 06 Fax: (230) 201 38 59 E-mail: <u>sseeballuck@hotmail.com</u>

Alternate

DrM-H. Chavrimootoo First Secretary Embassy of Mauritius 127, rue de Tocqueville Paris 75017 France Tel: (33 1) 45 71 02 61 Fax: (33 1) 40 53 02 91

Mexico/Mexique/México

Head of Delegation

Ing. M.P. Bernal Yarahuan Subsecretario, Subsecretaría de Educación e Investigación Tecnólogicas – SEP Argentina No. 28, 2º piso, Oficina 3069 Col. Centro, C.P. 06029 Mexico D.F. Tel: (525) 510 07 39/55 12 26 98 Fax: (525) 521 65 46 E-mail: <u>mbernal@seit.mx</u> <u>Mbernal_neptuno@hotmail.com</u>

Alternates

Biol. F. Brizuela Venegas Director-General Educación en Ciencia y Tecnología del Mar-SEP Dr Jiménez No. 47, 2° piso Col. Doctores C.P. 06720 Mexico, D.F. Tel: (525) 578 57 63/55 68 Fax: (525) 578 56 43 E-mail: <u>vincula@sep.gob.mx</u> <u>brizuela@sep.gob.mx</u> <u>fbrizuela-venegas@hotmail.com</u> Ms M. Gomez Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Mexico to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 04 Fax: (33 1) 47 34 92 45 E-mail: dl.Mexique@unesco.org

Representative

Mr J. Barros Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Mexico to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 04 Fax: (33 1) 47 34 92 45 E-mail: <u>dl.mexique@unesco.org</u>

M. I. Madrigal Chargé du Secteur des Sciences Permanent Delegation of Mexico to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 04 Fax: (33 1) 47 34 92 45 E-mail: <u>i.madrigal@unesco.org</u>

Monaco/Monaco/Mónaco

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr J. Pastorelli Minister Plenipotentiary & Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Monaco to UNESCO Villa Girasole, 16, bd. de Suisse Monte Carlo 98030 Tel: (377) 93 15 88 22 Fax: (377) 93 15 87 98 E-mail: <u>delperm@gouv.mc</u>

Alternate

Ms C. Magail First Secretary Ambassade de Monaco 22, bd Suchet Paris 75016 France Tel: (33 1) 45 04 74 54 Fax: (33 1) 45 04 45 16 E-mail: cmagail@gouy.mc

Representatives

M. R. Passeron
Président, Centre Scientifique de Monaco
Villa Girasole, 16, bd de Suisse
Monte Carlo 98030
Tel: (377) 93 15 82 53
Fax: (377) 93 15 86 74

Mme M. Dufrenne Directeur, Musée Océanographique Av. St. Martin 98000 Monaco

Dr D. Doumenc Professeur, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle 57, rue Cuvier Paris 75005 France Tel: (33 1) 40 79 31 07

Morocco/Maroc/Marruecos

Head of Delegation

Mr A.N. Nejjar Adviser, Permanent Delegation of Morocco to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 31 31 Fax: (33 1) 45 67 18 69 E-mail: <u>dl.maroc@unesco.org</u>

Alternate

Mme El Idrissi Souad Conseiller des Affaires Etrangères Délégation Permanente du Maroc auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 31 33 Fax: (33 1) 45 67 18 69 E-mail: <u>dl.maroc@unesco.org</u>

Mozambique

Head of Delegation

Mr I. Goenha Hydrographer, Instituto Nacional de Hidrografia e Navegação – INAHINA 153, av. Karl Marx, 6th Floor Maputo Tel: (258 1) 30 31 78 Fax: (258 1) 43 01 85 E-mail: goenhailidio@teledata.mz

Myanmar

Mr Myint Soe Minister Counsellor Embassy of Myanmar 60, rue de Courcelles Paris 75008 France Tel: (33 1) 42 25 43 89 Fax: (33 1) 42 56 49 41

Namibia/Namibie/Namibia

Not represented

Netherlands/Pays-Bas/Países Bajos

Head of Delegation

Dr A.C. Pierrot-Bults Evolutionary Biology Institute for Biodiversity & Ecosystem Dynamics (IBED) Zoological Museum, University of Amsterdam P.O. Box 94766 1090 GT Amsterdam Tel: (31 20) 525 71 94 Fax: (31 20) 525 54 02 E-mail: <u>pierrot@science.uva.nl</u>

Representative

Mr J.W. de Leeuw Director, NIOZ P.O. Box 59 1790 AB Den Burg – Texel Tel: (31 222) 36 93 66 E-mail: <u>deleeuw@nioz.nl</u>

New Zealand/Nouvelle-Zélande/ Nueva Zelandia

Head of Delegation

Dr A. Laing Regional Manager, Wellington National Institute of Water & Atmospheric Research Ltd. NIWA, Taihoro Nukurangi 301, Evans Bay Parade, Greta Point Wellington, Private Bag 14901, Kilbirnie Wellington Tel: (64 4) 386 0300 Fax: (64 4) 386 2153 E-mail: <u>a.laing@niwa.co.nz</u>

Nicaragua

Head of Delegation

Mme X. Flores Déléguée Permanente Délégation Permanente du Nicaragua auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 28 14 Fax: (33 1) 47 83 67 03 E-mail: <u>dl.flores@unesco.org</u>

Nigeria

Head of Delegation

Mr Y. Nwafor Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Nigeria to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 27 27 Fax: (33 1) 45 67 59 41 E-mail: <u>dl.nigeria@unesco.org</u>

Norway/Norvège/Noruega

Head of Delegation

Prof. P.M. Haugan Geological Institute University of Bergen Allegaten 70 N-5007 Bergen Tel: (47 5) 558 26 78/02 Fax: (47 5) 558 98 83 E-mail: peter.haugan@gfi.uib.no

Alternate

Prof. U. Lie Centre for Studies of Environment & Resources High Technology Centre University of Bergen Professorveien 9 N-5072 Bergen Tel: (47 5) 536 06 65 Fax: (47 5) 558 96 78 E-mail: ulf.lie@smr.uib.no

Oman/Oman/Omán

Head of Delegation

H.E. Dr M.J. Hassan Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Oman to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France (Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 52 Fax: (33 1) 45 67 57 42 E-mail: <u>dl.oman@unesco.org</u>

Alternate

Ms. H. Fertikh Permanent Delegation of Oman to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 50 Fax: (33 1) 45 67 57 42 E-mail: hadjark@yahoo.fr

Pakistan/Pakistan/Pakistán

Head of Delegation

Dr S.M. Haq Permanent Delegation of Pakistan to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 77 Fax: (33 1) 45 66 62 15 E-mail: <u>dl.pakistan@unesco.org</u>

Panama/Panama/Panamá

Head of Delegation

Mr J. Patino Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Panama to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 32 94 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 02 51 E-mail: <u>dl.panama@unesco.org</u>

Peru/Pérou/Perú

Heads of Delegation

Cap. de Navio A.P. Carcovich Sub-Director Dirc. Hidrografía y Navegación Av. Gamarra 500, Chucuito-Callao Lima Tel: (51 1) 429 98 68 Fax: (51 1) 429 98 68 E-mail: <u>acarcovich@dhn.mil.pe</u>

Mr E. Martinetti Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Peru to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 29 31 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 29 20 E-mail: dl.peru@unesco.org

Alternates

Cap. de Fragata E. Lazo Jefe del Departamento de Medio Ambiente Dirección de Hidrografia y Navegación Av. Gamarra No. 500, Callao Lima Tel/Fax: (55 1) 420 21 22 E-mail: <u>edulazo@terrondil.com.pe</u>

Mr A. Picasso de Oyague Consejero para Asuntos de Cooperación Científica y Tecnólogica Delegación Permanente del Perú ante la UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, France Tel/Fax: (33 1) 45 27 63 42 E-mail: <u>a.picasso@unesco.org</u>

Philippines/Philippines/Filipinas

Head of Delegation

Dr M.D. Fortes Professor, 2330 Roxas Blvd., Pasay City Metro Manila Tel: (632) 834 48 43 Fax: (632) 924 76 78 E-mail: fortesm@upmsi.ph

Representative

Dr R.P. Encarnación Weather Specialist Philippine Atmospheric Geophysical & Astronomical Services Administration (PAGASA) Agham Rd, Diliman, Quezon City Metro Manila Tel: (632) 926 50 60 Fax: (632) 926 31 51 E-mail: rolu@pagasa.dost.gov.ph

Adviser

Ms D. Ongpin-Recto Senior Foreign Affairs Adviser for UNESCO Permanent Delegation of the Philippines to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 12 Fax: (33 1) 45 67 07 97 E-mail: <u>dl.filipinas@unesco.org</u>

Poland/Pologne/Polonia

Head of Delegation

Dr J. Dera Professor, Dr. of Physics Member, Polish Academy of Sciences Chairman, Scientific Council Institute of Oceanology P.O. Box 197 Powstaricow Warszawy 55 Sopot 81-712 Tel: (48 58) 551 72 81 Fax: (48 58) 551 21 30 E-mail: <u>dera@iopan.gda.pl</u>

Representative

Dr J. Piechura Professor, Institute of Oceanology Polish Academy of Sciences Powstaricow Warszawy 55 Sopot 81-712 Tel: (48 58) 551 72 81 Fax: (48 58) 551 21 30 E-mail: <u>piechura@iopan.gda.pl</u>

Portugal

Head of Delegation

Prof. Mário Ruivo Chairman, Portuguese Committee for IOC Av. Infante Santo – 42/4th Floor Lisbon 1350-179 Tel: (351 21) 390 43 30 Fax: (351 21) 395 22 12 E-mail: <u>cointersec.presid@fct.mces.pt</u>

Alternate

Prof. J. Coimbra Professor, Centre for Marine & Environmental Research (CIMAR) University of Porto Rua dos Bragas, 177 4150-180 Porto Tel: (351 22) 339 06 07 Fax: (351 22) 339 06 08 E-mail: jcoimbra@icbas.up.pt

Adviser

Ms A-P. Zacarias Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Portugal to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 55/6/7 Fax: (33 1) 45 67 82 93 E-mail: zacarias@unesco.org dl.portugal@unesco.org

Qatar

Not represented

Republic of Korea/République de Corée/República de Corea

Head of Delegation

Dr Sang-Kyung Byun President, Korea Ocean Research & Development Institute (KORDI) Ansan P.O. Box 29 Seoul 425-600 Tel: (82 31) 400 60 11/61 27 Fax: (82 31) 408 58 21 E-mail: skbyun@kordi.re.kr

Alternates

Dr Hak Gyoon Kim Director-General Oceanography & Marine Environment Dept. National Fisheries Research & Development Institute Ministry of Maritime Affairs & Fisheries 408-1, Sirang-ri, Gijang-up, Gijang-gun Busan City 619-902 Tel: (82 51) 720 25 00 Fax: (82 51) 720 22 66 E-mail: hgkim@nfrdi.re.kr

Mr Jong-Goo Yeo First Secretary Permanent Delegation of the Republic of Korea to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 31 55 Fax: (33 1) 40 56 38 88 E-mail: <u>dl.coree-edu@unesco.org</u>

Representatives

Mr Yong-Ju Lee Deputy-Director Marine Development Division Ministry of Maritime Affairs & Fisheries (MOMAF) 139, Chungjeong-No 3, Seodaemun-Gu Seoul 120-175 Tel: (82 2) 31 48 65 35 Fax: (82 2) 31 48 65 48 E-mail: leeyj1@momaf.go.kr

Dr Yong-Hoon Youn Director, Marine Meteorology & Earthquake Research Lab. Meteorological Research Institute (KMA) 460-18, Shindaebang-dong, Dongjak-gu Seoul 156 720 Tel: (82 2) 847 24 95 Fax: (82 2) 847 24 96 E-mail: yhyoun@metri.re.kr

Dr Jangwon Seo Senior Research Scientist Marine Meteorology & Earthquake Research Lab. Meteorological Research Institute (KMA) 450-18 Sindaebang-dong, Dongjak-gu Seoul 156-720 Tel: (82 2) 842 09, Ext: 873/847 24 95 Fax: (82 2) 847 24 96 E-mail: jwseo@metri.re.kr
Dr Hyung Tack Huh Senior Research Fellow Korea Ocean Research & Development Institute (KORDI) Ansan P.O. Box 29 Seoul 425-600 Tel: (82 31) 400 62 01 Fax: (82 31) 408 59 34 E-mail: <u>hthuh@kordi.re.kr</u> (*Also Chairperson of WESTPAC*)

Adviser

Ms Hyun Joo Kang Chief, International Co-operation & Public Relations Section Korea Ocean Research & Development Institute (KORDI) Ansan P.O. Box 29 Seoul 425-600 Tel: (82 31) 400 60 70 Fax: (82 31) 406 69 25 E-mail: <u>hjkang@kordi.re.kr</u>

Romania/Roumanie/Rumania

Head of Delegation

Prof. Dr D. Preda Ministre Conseiller Délégation Permanente de la Roumanie auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 26 71 Fax: (33 1) 47 34 91 38 E-mail: dl.roumanie@unesco.org

Russian Federation/Fédération de Russie/Federación de Rusia

Head of Delegation

Admiral A.A. Komaritsyn Chief, Head Dept. of Navigation & Oceanography Ministry of Defense & Hydrographer of the Navy 8-11 Liniya B-34 St. Petersburg 199034 Tel: (7 812) 323 72 29 Fax: (7 812) 323 75 48 E-mail: <u>gunjo@chastplox.ru</u> *Alternates*

Dr S.S. Khodkin Deputy-Head Russian Federal Service for Hydrometeorology & Environmental Monitoring Novovagankovsky St. 12 123242 Moscow Tel: (7 095) 252 32 36 Fax: (7 095) 255 22 69 E-mail: khodkin@mecom.ru (*Also Vice-Chairperson IOC*)

Dr V.N. Zhivago Deputy Head Division of Earth Sciences & World Ocean Dept. of Life & Earth Sciences Ministry of Industry, Science & Technologies 11, Tverskaya St. Moscow 103905 Tel: (7 095) 229 03 64 Fax: (7 095) 925 96 09 E-mail: <u>zhivago@minstp.ru</u>

Dr A.V. Frolov Deputy Head Russian Federal Service for Hydrometeorology & Environmental Monitoring (ROSGIDROMET) 12, Novovagankovsky St. 123242 Moscow Tel: (7 095) 252 03 13 Fax: (7 095) 255 22 69 E-mail: frolov@mecom.ru

Representatives

Mr S. Lappo Director, Institute of Oceanology (RAS) P.P. Shirshov Russian Academy of Sciences 36, Nakhimovsky ave. Moscow 117851 Tel: (7 095) 124 59 96 Fax: (7 095) 124 59 83 E-mail: lappo@gulev.sio.rssi.ru Dr A. Tolkachev National Oceanographic Committee of the Russian Federation 11, Tverskaya St. Moscow 103905 Tel: (7 095) 229 25 72 Fax: (7 095) 925 96 09 E-mail: tolkatchev@minstp.ru

Mr N. Michailov Head, Russian NODC 6, Korolev, Obninsk Kaluga Region 249020 Tel: (7 084) 397 49 07 Fax: (7 095) 255 22 25 E-mail: nodc@meteo.ru

Mr G.E. Ordzhonikidze Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of the Russian Federation to UNESCO 8, rue de Prony 75017 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 42 12 84 30 Fax: (33 1) 42 67 51 99 E-mail: dl.russie@unesco.org

Adviser

Prof. Anatoly Kolodkin 3^aB, Koptevsky pr. Moscow 125319 Tel: (7 095) 159 75 88 Fax: (7 095) 152 09 16

Saint Lucia/Sainte-Lucie/Santa Lucía

Head of Delegation

Ms V. Lacoeuilhe Permanent Delegation of St. Lucia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 25 30 Fax: (33 1) 40 70 18 91 E-mail: <u>dl.sainte-lucie@unesco.org</u>

Representative

Miss Y. Walcott 45, rue Lecourbe Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 6) 17 98 54 63 Fax: (33 1) 40 70 18 91 E-mail: <u>ywalcott@aol.com</u>

Samoa

Not represented

Saudi Arabia/Arabie Saoudite/ Arabia Saudita

Not represented

Senegal/Sénégal/Senegal

Head of Delegation

Mr K.A. Ndour Adviser, Permanent Delegation of Senegal to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 33 89 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 10 55 E-mail: <u>dl.senegal@unesco.org</u>

Seychelles

Not represented

Sierra Leone/Sierra Leona

Not represented

Singapore/Singapour/Singapur

Not represented

Slovenia/Slovénie/Slovenia

Not represented

Solomon Islands/Iles Salomon/ Islas Salomón

Not represented

Somalia/Somalie/Somalia

Not represented

South Africa/Afrique du Sud/ Africa del Sur

Head of Delegation

Mr A.S. Johnson Research Scientist, Fore Trust Building Private Bag X2 Roggebay 8012 Tel: (27 21) 402 32 81 Fax: (27 21) 425 69 76 E-mail: ajohnson@mcm.wcape.gov.za

Representative

Ms L. Graham Adviser, Multilateral Affairs Permanent Delegation of South Africa to UNESCO Embassy of South Africa 59, quai d'Orsay 75007 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 53 59 23 23 Fax: (33 1) 53 59 23 09 E-mail: info@afriquesud.net

Spain/Espagne/España

Head of Delegation

Mr A. Dicenta Relaciones Internacionales Instituto Español de Oceanografía (IEO) Ministerio de Ciencia y Tecnología Avda. del Brasil, 31 28020 Madrid Tel: (34 91) 597 44 43 Fax: (34 91) 597 47 70 E-mail: antonio.dicenta@md.ieo.es

Alternate

Dr C. Palomo Oceanógrafo, Coordinador de Geología y Geofísica Marina Instituto Español de Oceanografía Corazón de Maria, 8 28002 Madrid Tel: (34 91) 347 36 19 Fax: (34 91) 413 55 97 E-mail: <u>carlos.palomo@md.ieo.es</u>

Sri Lanka

Head of Delegation

Mr R. Zarook Chairman, National Aquatic Resources Research & Development Agency (NARA) Crow Island, Mattakkuliya Colombo 15 Tel: (94 1) 52 10 06, Ext: 101 Fax: (94 1) 52 18 81 E-mail: <u>chairman@nara.ac.lk</u>

Sudan/Soudan/Sudán

Head of Delegation

Mr A. Mohammad Abdalrahman-Barri Secretary-General Ministry of Higher Education & Scientific Research P.O. Box 2081 Khartoum Tel: (249 11) 77 25 15 Fax: (249 11) 79 31 27 E-mail: ali_barri@hotmail.com

Representative

Mr A. El Awad Second Secretary Permanent Delegation of Sudan to UNESCO Embassy of Sudan 56, av. Montaigne Paris 75008, France Tel: (33 1) 42 25 55 71/73/76 Fax: (33 1) 45 63 66 73

Surinam/Suriname

Not represented

Sweden/Suède/Suecia

Head of Delegation

Mr S. Carlberg Senior Oceanographer Swedish Meteorological & Hydrological Institute (SMHI) Nya Varvet 31 SE-246 71 V: Frolunda Tel: (46 31) 751 89 76 Fax: (46 31) 751 89 80 E-mail: <u>stig.carlberg@smhi.se</u>

Alternate

Mr H. Dahlin Director, Swedish Meteorological & Hydrological Institute (SMHI) SE-601 76 Norrkoping Tel: (46 11) 495 83 00/05 Fax: (46 11) 495 80 01 Cell: (46) 708 24 27 13 E-mail: hans.dahlin@smhi.se (*Also representing EuroGOOS*)

Switzerland/Suisse/Suiza

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr D. Feldmeyer Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Switzerland to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 33 96 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 21 39 E-mail: <u>dl.suisse@unesco.org</u>

Alternate

Mr N. Mathieu Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Switzerland to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 33 10 Fax: (33 1) 43 06 21 39 E-mail: <u>dl.suisse@unesco.org</u>

Syrian Arab Republic/République arabe syrienne/República Arabe Siria

Not represented

Thailand/Thailande/Tailandia

Not represented

Togo

Head of Delegation

M. K. Kpayedo Deuxième Conseiller Délégation Permanente du Togo auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 43 80 12 13 Fax: (33 1) 43 80 06 05

Tonga

Not represented

Trinidad and Tobago/Trinité-et-Tobago/ Trinidad y Tobago

Not represented

Tunisia/Tunisie/Túnez

Head of Delegation

Dr A. El Abed Directeur Général Institut national des sciences et technologies de la mer 28, rue du 2 Mars 1934 2025 Salambo Tel: (216 1) 73 05 48/420 Fax: (216 1) 73 26 22 E-mail: amor.elabed@instm.rnrt.tn

Alternate

Mr W. Chiha Délégué Permanent Adjoint Délégation Permanente auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 29 92 Fax: (33 1) 40 56 04 22 E-mail: <u>dl.tunisie@unesco.org</u>

Turkey/Turquie/Turquía

Head of Delegation

Rear Adm. N. Cubukcu Director, Hydrographic Office Seyir Hidrografi ve Osinografi Dai.Bck 34805 Çubuklu Istanbul Tel: (90 216) 425 82 82 Fax: (90 216) 331 05 25 E-mail: <u>director@shodb.gov.tr</u>

Alternate

Prof. Dr M. Ergun Institute of Marine Sciences & Technology Dokuz Eylul University Baku Balvar No. 10, Incird Izmir Tel: (90 232) 278 51 12 Fax: (90 232) 278 50 82 E-mail: <u>director@imst.deu.edu.tr</u>

Advisers

Mr M.K. Eruygur First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Turkey to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 27 15 Fax: (33 1) 40 56 04 13 E-mail: <u>dl.turquie@unesco.org</u>

Mr S. Besiktepe Middle East Technical University Institute of Marine Sciences P.K. 28, Erdemli, Içel 33731 Tel: (90 32) 45 21 21 50 Fax: (90 32) 45 21 23 27 E-mail: <u>sukru@metu.edu.tr</u>

Ukraine/Ukraine/Ucrania

Head of Delegation

Prof. V.N. Eremeev Director-General, Oceanological Center Ukrainian National Academy of Sciences 2, Kapitanskaya St. Sevastopol 99011 Tel: (380 692) 54 04 52/44 10 Fax: (380 692) 55 43 52/28 13 E-mail: eremeev@mhi2.sebastopol.ua eremeev@alpha.mhi.iuf.net

Alternates

Mr O. Demianiuk Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Ukraine to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 26 42 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 26 61 E-mail: <u>dl.ukraine@unesco.org</u>

Mr M. Serhiienko Specialist, Ministry of Foreign Affairs Mihaylivskat Tel: (380 442) 38 16 71 E-mail: <u>ukgs@mfa.gov.ua</u>

United Arab Emirates/Emirats arabes unis/Emiratos Arabes Unidos

Head of Delegation

Mr F. Kahmah Permanent Delegation of the United Arab Emirates to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 27 03 Fax: (33 1) 45 66 99 86 E-mail: dl.emirats-arabes-unis@unesco.org

United Kingdom of Great Britain & Northern Ireland/Royaume-Uni de Grande Bretagne et d'Irlande du Nord/Reino Unido de Gran Bretaña e Irlanda del Norte

Head of Delegation

Dr D.T. Pugh Southampton Oceanography Centre Empress Dock Southampton SO14 32H Tel: (44 23) 80 59 66 12 Fax: (44 23) 80 59 63 95 E-mail <u>d.pugh@soc.soton.ac.uk</u> (*Also Vice-Chairperson IOC*)

Alternate

Dr J.E. Portmann The Shieling, 26, Sheepcotes Lane South Minster, Essex CM0 7AF Tel/Fax: (44 1621) 77 27 02 E-mail: johneportmann@compuserve.com

Representatives

Dr C. Gordon Head, Ocean Applications, Met. Office London Rd. Bracknell Tel: (44 1344) 85 66 60

Mr T. Guymer Head, Ocean Circulation & Climate Division Southampton Oceanography Centre University of Southampton & Natural Environment Research Council Empress Dock Southampton SO14 32H Tel: (44 23) 80 59 64 30 Fax: (44 23) 80 59 62 04 E-mail: thg@soc.soton.ac.uk

Prof. A.E. Hill Natural Environment Research Council Proudman Oceanographic laboratory Director, Bidston Observatory Bidston Hill, Prenton Merseyside, CH43 7RA Tel: (44 151) 653 86 33 Fax: (44 151) 652 27 54 E-mail: ehill@pol.ac.uk

United Republic of Tanzania/République-Unie de Tanzanie/República Unida de Tanzania

Head of Delegation

Dr A.M. Dubi Director, Institute of Marine Sciences University of Dar es Salaam P.O. Box 668 Zanzibar Tel: (255 24) 223 21 28 Fax: (255 24) 223 30 50 E-mail: <u>dubi@ims.udsm.ac.tz</u>

Alternate

Prof. M.S. Sheya Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of the United Republic of Tanzania to UNESCO 13, av. Raymond Poincaré 75016 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 53 70 63 67 Fax: (33 1) 47 55 05 46 E-mail: <u>mssheya@noos.fr</u> <u>ambtanzanie@wanadoo.fr</u>

United States of America/Etats-Unis d'Amérique/Estados Unidos de América

Head of Delegation

Vice-Adm. C. Lautenbacher Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans & Atmosphere NOAA, US Dept. of Commerce 14th & Constitution Av. NW, Room 5128 Washington, D.C. 20230 Tel: (1 202) 482 34 36 Fax: (1 202) 408 96 74 E-mail: <u>Conrad.lautenbacher@noaa.gov</u>

Alternates

Dr S. Wilson NOAA/NESDIS Senior Scientist SSMC-I, Room 8212 1335, East-West Highway Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: (1 301) 713 33 89 Fax: (1 301) 713 12 49 E-mail: <u>stan.wilson@noaa.gov</u>

Ms M. Cole Programme Specialist, Ocean US 2300, Clarendon Bend, Suite 1350 Arlington, VA 22201 Tel: (1 703) 588 08 51 Fax: (1 703) 588 08 72 E-mail: <u>muriel.cole@noaa.gov</u>

Ms E.J. Tirpak Foreign Affairs Officer Oceans Research Policy & Vessel Clearances US Dept. of State OES/OA Room 5805, 2201 C St. NW Washington, D.C. 20520 Tel: (1 202) 647 02 38 Fax: (1 202) 647 11 06 E-mail: tirpakj@state.gov

Representatives

Dr N. Cyr NOAA/NMFS/ST, Room 12555 SSMC3 1315 East-West Highway Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: (1 301) 713 23 63 Fax: (1 301) 713 18 75 E-mail: <u>ned.cyr@noaa.gov</u>

Ms J. Murphy International Affairs Specialist International Affairs, NOAA US Dept. of Commerce 14th & Constitution Av., NW, Room 6228 Washington, D.C. 20230 Tel: (1 202) 482 51 39 Fax: (1 202) 482 43 07 E-mail: Jennifer.Murphy@noaa.gov Ms K. Turner International Relations Specialist NOAA, 1335 East-West Highway, Suite 7311 Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: (1 301) 713 20 24 Fax: (1 301) 713 20 32 E-mail: kelly.turner@noaa.gov

Dr C. Decker Liaison Branch (N962CD) Oceanographer of the Navy US Naval Observatory, Bldg. 1 3450, Massachusetts Av., NW Washington, D.C. 20392-5421 Tel: (1 202) 762 02 72 Fax: (1 202) 762 09 56 E-mail: Cynthia.decker@navy.mil

Mr A.B. Sielen Counselor for International Activities US Environmental Protection Agency OPPTS (7101M) Washington, D.C. 20760 Tel: (1 202) 564 05 63 Fax: (1 202) 565 24 07 E-mail: <u>sielen.alan@epa.gov</u>

Ms A. Tenney Staff Associate National Science Foundation 4201, Wilson Blvd, Suite 725 Arlington, VA 22230 Tel: (1 703) 292 85 80 Fax: (1 703) 292 90 85 E-mail: atenney@nsf.gov

Adviser

Dr B. Brennan Deputy Assistant Secretary for International Affairs, NOAA Office of International Affairs, NOAA Dept. of Commerce, Mail Stop 5230 HCHB 14th & Constitution Av., NW Washington, D.C. 20230 Tel: (1 202) 482 61 96 Fax: (1 202) 482 60 00 E-mail: bill.brennan@noaa.gov

Uruguay

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr A. Castells Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Uruguay to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 70 Fax: (33 1) 42 73 31 52 E-mail: <u>dl.uruguay@unesco.org</u>

Alternate

Ms E. Moretti Permanent Delegation of Uruguay to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 34 70 Fax: (33 1) 42 73 31 52 E-mail: <u>dl.uruguay@unesco.org</u>

Venezuela

Head of Delegation

Prof. H. Pérez Nieto Presidente Comisión Nacional de Oceanología (CNO) Ministerio de Ciencia y Tecnología Av. Principal Cortijos de Lourdes Caracas Tel: (58 212) 987 68 46/239 64 75 Fax: (58 212) 985 64 89 E-mail: pereznietoh@cantu.net

Representative

Mr J. Diaz First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Venezuela to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 25 32 Fax: (33 1) 47 34 28 93 E-mail: <u>venezuela.dl@unesco.org</u>

Viet Nam

Head of Delegation

Dr Nguyen Tac An Chairman, Vietnam National IOC Committee Vietnam National Committee for UNESCO No. 01 Cau Da Nha Trang City Tel: (84 58) 59 00 35/032/036 Fax: (84 58) 59 00 34 E-mail: <u>haiduong@dng.vnn.vn</u>

Representatives

Prof. Dr Dang Ngoc Thanh Vice-President, National Centre for Natural Science & Technology Hanoi Tel: (84 4) 836 17 78 Fax: (84 4) 756 44 83 E-mail: <u>dnthanh@ncst.ac.vn</u>

Ms Thi Thuan Vu Centre National des Sciences et Technologie du Hanoi Tel: (84 4) 756 46 07 Fax: (84 4) 756 27 64

Adviser

Mr Van Quy Pham Directeur Général Adjoint Centre National des Sciences et Technologie du Hanoi Tel: (84 4) 756 46 07 Fax: (84 4) 756 27 64

Yemen

Head of Delegation

Mr A.B. Mohamed Saad Permanent Delegation of Yemen to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1 45 68 33 25 Fax: (33 1) 45 66 01 51 E-mail: dl.yemen@unesco.org

III. OBSERVERS FROM NON-MEMBER STATES OF THE IOC/ OBSERVATEURS D'ETATS NON-MEMBRES DE LA COI/OBSERVADORES DE PAISES NO MIEMBROS DE LA COI

Honduras

Head of Delegation

H.E. Ms S. Mendieta de Badaroux Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Honduras to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 65 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 30 75 E-mail: dl.honduras@unesco.org

Representative

Mr J.C. Bendana-Pinel Adviser, Permanent Delegation of Honduras to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 30 65 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 30 75 E-mail: <u>dl.honduras@unesco.org</u>

Vatican/Sainte Siège/Vaticano

Head of Delegation

Mgr F. Follo Observateur Permanent du Sainte Siège auprès de l'UNESCO 10, av. du Président Wilson Paris 75016 France Tel: (33 1) 45 68 33 13/53 23 01 50 E-mail: op.saint-siege@unesco.org

- IV. REPRESENTATIVES AND OBSERVERS OF ORGANISATIONS/ REPRESENTANTS ET OBSERVATEURS D'ORGANISATIONS/ REPRESENTANTES Y OBSERVADORES DE ORGANIZACIONES
- A. IOC ADVISORY BODIES/ORGANISMES CONSULTATIFS DE LA COI/ ORGANOS CONSULTIVOS DE LA COI

Global Sea-Level Observing System/Système Mondial d'Observation du Niveau de la Mer/Sistema Mundial de la Observación del Nivel del Mar (GLOSS)

Prof. P. Woodworth Chairman, GLOSS Director, Permanent Service for Mean Sea Level Proudman Oceanographic Laboratory Natural Environment Research Council Bidston Observatory, Bidston Hill, Prenton Merseyside CH43 7RA UNITED KINGDOM Tel: (44 151) 653 15 61 Fax: (44 151) 653 62 69 E-mail: psmsl@pol.ac.uk plw@pol.ac.uk

IOC Consultative Group on Ocean Mapping/Groupe consultatif de la COI sur la cartographie des océans/Grupo Asesor de la COI sobre Cartografía Oceánica (CGOM)

Dr G. Giermann Chairman, IOC/CGOM Offenbachstr. 32 D-53173 Bonn - Bad Godesberg GERMANY Tel/Fax: (49 228) 35 47 94 B. ICSPRO AGENCIES/ORGANISATIONS FAISANT PARTIE DU CIPSRO/ORGANIZACIONES QUE FORMAN PARTE DEL ICSPRO

International Atomic Energy Agency/Agence Internationale de l'Energie Atomique/ Organismo Internacional de Energía Atómica (IAEA)

Mr R.F.C. Manoura Director, Marine Environment Lab. Dept. of Nuclear Sciences & Applications 4, quai Antoine 1er, B.P. 800 MC 98012, Monaco Cedex MONACO Tel: (377) 97 97 72 79 Fax: (377) 97 97 72 75 E-mail: f.mantoura@iaea.org

United Nations Environment Programme/ Programme des Nations Unies pour l'Environnement/Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Medio Ambiente (UNEP)

Dr Ellik Adler Senior Programme Officer Regional Seas Programme Coordinator Division of Environmental Conventions UNEP Room T-232 P.O. Box 30552 Nairobi KENYA Tel.: (254 2) 62 40 33/62 45 44 Fax: (254 2) 64 46 18 E-mail: <u>ellik.adler@unep.org</u>

Mr N. Andrade Colmenares Co-ordinator, UNEP CAR/RCU 14-20, Port Royal St., Kingston JAMAICA Tel: (876) 922 92 67 to 9 Fax: (876) 922 92 92 E-mail: nac.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com

Mr Yihang Jiang Senior Expert UNEP/GEF Project Co-ordinating Unit UN Building, 9th Floor, Block 'A' Rajadamnern Av., Bangkok 10200 THAILAND Tel: (66 2) 288 20 84 Fax: (66 2) 281 24 28 E-mail: jiang.unescap@un.org jiangyh@loxinfo.co.th

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO)/ Organisation des Nations Unies pour l'Education, la Science et la Culture/ Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Educación, la Ciencia y la Cultura (UNESCO)

Dr A. Suzyumov Programme Specialist Environment & Development in Coastal Regions & in Small Islands (CSI) 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: (33 1) 45 68 39 65 Fax: (33 1) 45 68 58 08 E-mail: <u>a.suzyumov@unesco.org</u>

World Meteorological Organisation/ Organisation Météorologique Mondiale/ Organización Meteorológica Mundial (WMO)

Dr E. Sarukhanian Acting Director World Weather Watch, Applications Dept. 7bis, av. de la Paix, Case Postale 2300 1211 Geneva 2 SWITZERLAND Tel/Fax: (41 22) 730 82 21 E-mail: <u>sarukhan@www.wmo.ch</u>

Dr P. Dexter Chief, Ocean Affairs Division 7bis, av. de la Paix, Case Postale 2300 1211 Geneva 2 SWITZERLAND Tel: (41 22) 730 82 37 Fax: (41 22) 730 80 21 E-mail: <u>dexter@www.wmo.ch</u> C. OTHER ORGANIZATIONS/AUTRES ORGANISATIONS/OTRAS ORGANIZACIONES

European Commission/Commission européenne/Comisión Europea

Mr. C. Donlon Joint Research Center Inland & Marine Waters Satellite Oceanographer Institute for Environment & Sustainability (IES) 1-21020 Ispara, Varese ITALY Tel: (39 0332) 78 63 53 Fax: (39 0332) 78 90 34 E-mail: craig.donlon@jrc.it

Geographic Information Systems BV (CARIS)

Mr L.H. van Opstal International Business Development Mgr. Van Oorschotstraat 13 5473 AX Heeswijk P.O. Box 47 THE NETHERLANDS Tel: (31 413) 29 60 10 Fax: (31 413) 29 60 12 E-mail: <u>sales@caris.nl</u>

Miss S. Cockburn Project Manager – Special Projects Marine Division 264, Rookwood Av., Fredericton NB, CANADA E3B 2M2 Tel: (1 506) 458 85 33 Fax: (1 506) 459 38 49 E-mail: sara.cockburn@caris.com

Global Climate Observing System/Système Mondial d'Observation du Climat/Sistema Mundial de Observación del Clima (GCOS)

Prof. P.J. Mason Chairman, GCOS Steering Committee Director, Natural Environment Research Council Centre for Atmospheric Science Universities Weather Research Network Dept. of Meteorology, University of Reading Earley Gate, P.O. Box 243 Reading RG6 6BB UNITED KINGDOM Tel: (44 118) 378 89 57/63 11 Fax: (44 118) 378 87 91 E-mail: <u>p.j.mason@reading.ac.uk</u>

International Council for Science/Conseil International pour la Science/Consejo Internacional para la Ciencia (ICSU

Mr T. Rosswall Executive Director 51, bd. Montmorency Paris 75016 FRANCE Tel: (33 1) 45 25 03 29 E-mail: Thomas.rosswall@icsu.org

International Hydrographic Bureau/ Bureau Hydrographique International/Oficina Hidrográfica Internacional (IHO)

Cap. H. Gorziglia Director, IHO 4, quai Antoine 1^{er} B.P. 445, MC 98011 Monaco Cedex MONACO Tel: (377) 93 10 81 02 Fax: (377) 93 10 81 40 E-mail: <u>dir2@ihb.mc</u>

International Ocean Institute/ Institut International de l'Océan/ Instituto Oceánico Internacional (IOI)

Dr I. Oliounine Executive Director P.O. Box 3, Gzira GZR 01 MALTA Tel: (356) 34 65 28 Fax: (356) 34 65 02 E-mail: <u>ioimla@kemmunet.net.mt</u>

NAUSICAA – Centre National de la Mer

Mr P. Valette Director-General Bd. St. Beuve, B.P. 189 62203 Boulogne-sur-Mer Cedex FRANCE Tel: (33 3) 21 30 99 99 Fax: (33 3) 21 30 93 94 E-mail: generalmanager@nausicaa.fr

Mr M. Cira Cultural Manager Bd. St. Beuve, B.P. 189 62203 Boulogne-sur-Mer Cedex FRANCE Tel: (33 3) 21 30 99 99 Fax: (33 3) 21 30 93 94 E-mail: <u>culture@nausicaa.fr</u>

Miss S. Courouble Assistant, International Projects Bd. St. Beuve, B.P. 189 62203 Boulogne-sur-Mer Cedex FRANCE Tel: (33 3) 21 30 99 99 Fax: (33 3) 21 30 93 94 E-mail: <u>culture@nausicaa.fr</u>

North Pacific Marine Science Organisation/Organisation des Sciences de la Mer pour le Pacifique Nord/Organización del Pacífico Norte para las Ciencias del Mar (PICES)

Dr V. Alexander Chairman, c/o Institute of Ocean Sciences P.O. Box 6000, Sidney, B.C. CANADA V8L 4B2 Tel: (1 250) 363 63 66 Fax: (1 250) 363 68 27 E-mail: <u>secretariat@pices.int</u>

Dr A.S. Bychkov Executive Secretary C/o Institute of Ocean Sciences P.O. Box 6000, Sidney, B.C. CANADA V8L 4B2 Tel: (1 250) 363 63 64 Fax: (1 250) 363 68 27 E-mail: bychkov@pices.int

Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans/Partenariat pour l'observation de l'océan mondial/Colaboración para la Observación de los Océanos Mundiales (POGO)

Dr S. Sathyendranath Executive Director Bedford Institute of Oceanography 1, Challenge Drive, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia CANADA Tel: (1 902) 426 80 44 Fax: (1 902) 426 93 88 E-mail: shubha@dal.ca

Permanent Commission for the South Pacific/Commission permanente du Pacifique sud/Comisión Permanente Del Pacífico Sur (CPPS)

Mr G. Pereira Puchy Secretario General Avenida C.J. Arosemena Km 3 Edificio Inmaral Primer Piso, Guayaquil ECUADOR Tel: (59 3) 422 22 02/03 Fax: (59 3) 222 12 01 E-mail: <u>subsecre@cppsnet.org</u>

Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research/ Comite Scientifique de la Recherche Océanique/Comité Científico de Investigaciones Oceánicas (SCOR)

Prof. R. Duce Dept. of Oceanography Texas A&M University College Station, TX 77843-3148 USA Tel: (1 979) 845 57 56 Fax: (1 979) 862 89 78 E-mail: rduce@ocean.tamu.edu

Dr E.R. Urban Executive Director, SCOR Dept. of Earth & Planetary Sciences The Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, MD 21218 USA Tel: (1 410) 516 40 70 Fax: (1 410) 516 40 19 E-mail: scor@jhu.edu

Seaforth Engineering Group Inc.

Ms A. St. Onge Vice President Finance 780, Windmill Rd., Suite 302 Dartmouth, Nova Scotia CANADA B3B 1T3 Tel: (1 902) 468 35 79 Fax: (1 902) 468 68 65 E-mail: astonge@seaforthend.ca

Ship & Ocean Foundation (SOF)

Mr J.A. Dolan Researcher, Institute for Ocean Policy Kaiyo Senpaku Bldg. 1-15-16, Toranomon, Minato-ku Tokyo 105-0001 JAPAN Tel: (81 3) 35 02 18 94 Fax: (81 3) 35 02 21 27 E-mail: j-dolan@sof.ne.jp

South Pacific Applied Geoscience Commission/ Commission du Pacifique Sud pour les Geosciences Appliquées/Comisión de Geociencias Aplicadas del Pacífico Sur (SOPAC)

Ms C. Pratt Manager, Ocean & Islands Programme Private mail bag, Suva FIJI Tel: (679) 338 13 77 Fax: (679) 337 00 40 E-mail: <u>cristelle@sopac.org</u>

Two Oceans Aquarium

Ms H.S. Lockhart Communications Manager Dock Rd. Victoria & Alfred Waterfront P.O. Box 50603, Waterfront 8002, Cape Town SOUTH AFRICA Tel: (27 21) 418 38 23 Fax: (27 21) 418 20 64 E-mail: <u>hlockhart@aquarium.co.za</u>

D. INDIVIDUALS

Mr Robert Hopkins Director External Affairs National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 14th Constitution Ave NW STE. 6217 Washington, D.C. 20230 USA Tel: (1 202) 482 46 40 Fax: (1 202) 482 31 54 E-mail: robert.hopkins@noaa.gov

Sr. Fataï Chitou Géographe Résidence la Plaine, Bât. A3 Rue Fernand Hebuterne 91520 Egly FRANCE Tel.: (33 6) 03 43 42 30 E-mail: <u>fatai.chitou@wanadoo.fr</u>

V. SECRETARIAT/SECRETARIAT/ SECRETARIA

Tel:	(33 1) 45 68 10 00/45 68 39 83	
Fax:	(33 1) 45 68 58 12/10	
Tlx:	20446 PARIS	
Cbl.:	UNESCO PARIS/740057 IOCS UC	
E-mail: initial.familyname@unesco.org		

Executive Secretary Mr Patricio Bernal

Senior Assistant Secretaries Mr Colin Summerhayes Mr Ümit Ünlüata Mr Peter Pissierssens

Technical Assistant Secretaries Mr Thorkild Aarup Mr Bernardo Aliaga Mr Julian Barbière Ms Maria Hood Seconded Experts Mr Yves Tréglos

Associate Experts Mr Kazuya Hashimoto

Documentalist Mr Patrice Boned

Editor Mr Ray C. Griffiths

IOC Consultants Mr Justin Ahanhanzo Ms Diénaba Beye Mr Greg Reed Mr Benjamin Sims Mr Dimitri Travin Mr Ole Vestergaard

Young Professionals Ms Boram Lee

Staff Away From Headquarters

Dr Cesar Toro IOCARIBE Secretariat Casa del Marquez de Valdehoyos Calle de la Factoría, Centro Cartagena COLOMBIA Tel: (57 5) 664 6399 Fax: (57 5) 660 0407 E-mail: <u>iocaribe@col3.telecom.com.co</u> iocaribe@cartagena.cetcol.net.co

Mr Henrik Enevoldsen Project Co-ordinator Harmful Algal Bloom Programme IOC Science & Communication Centre on Harmful Algae, Botanical Institute University of Copenhagen Oster Farimagsgade 2 D, 1353 Copenhagen K DENMARK Tel: (45) 33 13 44 46 Fax: (45) 33 13 44 47 E-mail: henrike@bot.ku.dk http://ioc.unesco.org/hab Mr William Erb Head, Perth Regional Programme Office c/o Bureau of Meteorology P.O. Box 1370, West Perth, WA 6872 AUSTRALIA Tel: (61 8) 92 26 28 99 Fax: (61 8) 92 26 05 99 E-mail: w.erb@bom.gov.au

Dr B. Reguera IOC Centre in Vigo International Project on Harmful Algal Blooms (IPHAB) Instituto Español de Oceanografía Apartado 1552, 36200 Vigo SPAIN Tel: (34 986) 46 29 26 Fax: (34 986) 49 23 51 E-mail: <u>beatriz.reguera@vi.ieo.es</u>

Mr Mika Odido Head, IOCINCWIO Project Office P.O. Box 95832, Mombasa 80106 KENYA Tel: (254 41) 47 25 27 Fax: (254 41) 47 51 57 E-mail: m.odido@unesco.org

VI. IOC SUBSIDIARY BODIES/ ORGANES SUBSIDIAIRES DE LA COI/ORGANOS SUBSIDIARIOS DE LA COI

IOC Regional Committee for the Central Eastern Atlantic/Comité régional de la COI pour l'Atlantique du Centre-Est/ Comité Regional de la COI para el Atlántico Centrooriental (IOCEA)

Mr J. Wellens-Mensah Hydrologist, Hydrological Services Dept. P. O. Box MB 501, Accra GHANA Tel: (233 21) 67 73 83 Fax: (233 21) 67 73 84 E-mail: <u>hsd@ghana.com</u> (*Also representing Ghana*)

Mr. L. Awosika Marine Geological/Geophysical Division Nigerian Institute for Oceanography & Marine Research (NIOMR) Wilmot Point Rd., Bar-Beach, Victoria Island P.M.B. 12729, Lagos NIGERIA Tel: (234 1) 261 95 17 Fax: (234 1) 261 95 17 Fax: (234 1) 261 75 30 E-mail: niomr@linkserve.com.ng larryawosika@yahoo.com

IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System/Comité COI-OMM-PNUE pour le Système mondial d'observation de l'océan/ComitéCOI-OMM-PNUMA para el Sistema Mundial de Observación de los Océanos (I-GOOS)

Ms S. Vallerga Director of Research, CNR-IAML Serism Oristano c/o IMC Loc SA Mardini, 09072 Torregrande Oristano ITALY Tel: (39 0335) 30 31 30 Fax: (39 078) 32 20 02 E-mail: <u>vallerga@nameserver.ge.cnr.it</u> (*Also representing Italy*)

IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data & Information Exchange/Echange International des Données et de l'Information Océanographiques/ Intercambio Internacional de Datos e Información Oceanográficos (IODE)

Dr L. Rickards (Ms.) Chairperson IODE, Deputy-Director BODC Bidston Observatory, Bidston Hill Prenton CH43 7RA UNITED KINGDOM Tel: (44 151) 653 15 14 Fax: (44 151) 652 39 50 E-mail: <u>ljr@bodc.ac.uk</u> Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography & Marine Meteorology/Commission technique mixte d'océanographie et de météorologie maritime/Comisión Técnica Mixta sobre Oceanografía y Meteorología Marina (JCOMM)

Dr S. Narayanan Co-President JCOMM Director, Marine Environmental Data Services Dept. of Fisheries & Oceans W082, 12th Floor, 200, Kent St., 12W082 Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0E6 CANADA Tel: (1 613) 990 02 65 Fax: (1 613) 993 46 58 E-mail: <u>narayanans@dfo-mpo.gc.ca</u> (*Also representing Canada*)

IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific/Sous-Commission de la COI pour le Pacifique Occidental/Subcomisión de la COI para el Pacífico Occidental (WESTPAC)

Dr Hyung Tack Huh Senior Research Fellow Korean Academy of Science & Technology Korea Ocean Research & Development Institute (KORDI) Ansan P.O. Box 29, Seoul 425-600 REPUBLIC OF KOREA Tel: (82 31) 400 62 01 Fax: (82 31) 408 59 34 E-mail: <u>hthuh@kordi.re.kr</u> (*Also representing Republic of Korea*)

VII. BRUUN MEMORIAL LECTURES/PERSONNES AYANT PRONONCE DES CONFERENCES A LA MEMOIRE D'ANTON BRUUN/PERSONAS QUE HAN PARTICIPADO EN LAS CONFERENCIAS CONMEMORATIVAS DE ANTON BRUUN

Dr H.K. Gupta Secretary, Dept. of Ocean Development Mahasagar Bhawan CGO Complex, Block 12, Lodhi Rd. New Delhi 110003 INDIA Tel: (91 11) 243 60 87 E-mail: dodsec@dod.delhi.nic.in (*Also representing India*)

Mr P. Takahashi Director Emeritus Hawaii Natural Energy Institute School of Ocean and Earth Science and Technology University of Hawaii at Manoa USA Tel.: (1 808) 956 73 36 Fax: (1 808) 956 23 36 E-mail: patkentak@hotmail.com VIII. PANIKKAR MEMORIAL LECTURES/CONFERENCES EN MEMOIRE DU PROFESSOR PANIKKAR/CONFERENCIAS CONMEMORATIVAS DEL PROF. PANIKKAR

Dr K. Koranteng Director, Marine Fisheries Research Division P.O. Box BT-62, Tema GHANA Tel: (233 22) 208 048 E-mail: kwamek@africaonline.com.gh

Dr J. Francis Executive Secretary Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA) P.O. Box 3298, Zanzibar TANZANIA Tel: (255 24) 223 34 72 Fax: (255 24) 223 38 52 E-mail: julius@wiomsa.or jfwoisa@yahoo.com

IX. AWARDS

Prof. Dr G. Hempel Germany

Mr A. Ayala Castañares Mexico

Mr A. Alexiou USA

Mr W. Nowlin USA

Prof. K. Taira Japan (in absence)

ANNEX XII

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AARSE	African Association of Remote Sensing of the Environment
ACC	Administrative Committee on Co-ordination [New name: United Nations
	System Chief Executives Board for Co-ordination (CEB). A UN Committee]
ACMAD	African Centre of Meteorological Applications for Development
ADB	African Development Bank
AFRICAGIS	Africa's foremost event on GIS technology and its applications
	(every two years)
ALD	Appointment of limited duration/UNESCO
AMCEN	African Ministerial Conference on the Environment
Argo	Array for Real-time Geostrophic Oceanography
8-	(GODAE global profiling float project)
Black Sea GOOS-	(002122 groom proming row project)
ARENA Project	A Regional Capacity-Building and Networking Programme to Upgrade
intel (in insjeet	Monitoring and Forecasting Activity in the Black Sea Basin
BREDA	UNESCO Regional Bureau for Education in Africa
CASPAS	Integrated Programme on Hydrometeorology and Monitoring of
	Environment in the Caspian Sea Region
CASPCOM	Co-ordinating Committee on Hydrometeorology and Pollution Monitoring
	of the Caspian Sea
CEOS	Committee on Earth Observating Satellites - European Commission
CLIVAR	Climate Variability and Predictability
CNES	Centre national d'études spatiales/France
CoML	Census of Marine Life
COOP	Coastal Ocean Observations Panel
COP	Conference of the Parties
CPPS	Permanent Commission for the South Pacific
DBCP	Data Buoy Co-operation Panel
DNA	• 1
DOALOS	Designated National Agency
	UN Department of Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea
ECONEPAD	Environment Component of NEPAD Exclusive Economic Zone
EEZ	
ESA	European Space Agency
ETDMP	Expert Team on Data Management Practices
EUMETSAT	European Organisation for the Exploitation of Meteorological Satellites
EuroGOOS	European Regional GOOS/IOC
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations
FWIS	Future Information System/WMO
GCOS	Global Climate Observing System
GE-BCDMEP	Group of Experts on Biological and Chemical Data Management Exchange
0.0.0.	Programme
GEF	Global Environment Facility/World Bank–UNEP–UNDP
GEOHAB	Global Ecology and Oceanography of Harmful Algal Blooms
GESAMP	Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental
	Protection
GETADE	Group of Experts on Technical Aspects of Data Exchange
GIS	Geographic Information System

GLOBEC	Global Ocean Ecosystem Dynamics Programme/SCOR-IGBP-IOC
GLOSS	Global Sea Level Observing System Programme/IOC
GLOSS-OC	GLOSS Ocean Circulation/IOC
GMA	Global Marine Assessment
GODAE	Global Ocean Data Assimilation Experiment
GOOS	Global Ocean Observing System/IOC–WMO–UNEP
GOOS-AFRICA	African Global Ocean Observing System
GOSUD	Global Ocean Surface Underway Profile Programme
GPO	GOOS Project Office/IOC
GPS	Global Positioning System
GRAND	GOOS Regional Alliances Network Development
GRA	GOOS Regional Alliance
GSC	GOOS Steering Committee
HAB	Harmful Algal Blooms
IAEA	International Atomic Energy Agency
IASPEI	International Association of Seismology and Physics of the Earth's Interior
IBCWP	International Bathymetric Chart of the Western Pacific
ICAM	Integrated Coastal Area Management Programme/IOC
ICES	International Council for the Exploration of the Sea
ICL	International Consortium on Landslides
ICP	Informal Consultative Process
ICSPRO	Inter-secretariat Committee on Scientific Programmes Relating to
	Oceanography
ICSU	International Council for Science
IGCP	International Geoscience Programme
I–GOOS	Intergovernmental Committee for GOOS/IOC-WMO-UNEP
IHP	Intergovernmental Council of the International Hydrological
	Programme/UNESCO
IMBER	Integrated Marine Biogeochemistry and Ecosystem Research Project
	/SCOR–IGBP
IMO	International Maritime Organisation
INSA	Indian National Science Academy
IOC	Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission/UNESCO
IOC/ABE-LOS	IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea
IOCARIBE	IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions
IOCEA	IOC Regional Committee for the Central Eastern Atlantic
IOCINCWIO	IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North
	and Central Western Indian Ocean
IOCINDIO	IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean
IOCWIO	IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean [ex IOCINCWIO]
IODE	International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange/IOC
IOGOOS	Indian Ocean GOOS/IOC
IOI	International Ocean Institute
IPHAB	IOC Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms
IPO	International Project Office
ITC	International Institute for Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation/
	The Netherlands
IUGG	International Union of Geodesy and Geophysics
IUGS	International Union of Geological Sciences
IWG	Intergovernmental Working Group

JCOMM	IOC–WMO Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine
	Meteorology
MAB	International Co-ordinating Council of the Programme on Man and the
	Biosphere/UNESCO
MAB	Programme on Man and the Biosphere/UNESCO
MASMA	Marine Science for Management
MEDI	Marine Environmental Data Inventory
MLA	Main Lines of Action
MOST	Management of Social Transformations and Capacity-Building Unit
MOST	Secretariat of the Management of Social Transformations Programme
MOU	Memorandum of Understanding
MSR	Marine scientific research
NASA	US National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NEAR-GOOS	North-East Asian Regional GOOS
NEPAD	New Partnership for Africa's Development
NOAA	US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NODC	National Oceanographic Data Centre
NORSEPP	North Sea Ecosystem Pilot Project/ICES–EuroGOOS
NOWPAP	Northwest Pacific Action Plan/UNEP
OAU	Organization of African Unity
ODIN	Oceanographic Data and Information Network
ODIN ODINAFRICA	Ocean Data and Information Network for Africa/IOC
ODINCARSA.	Ocean Data and Information Network for the Caribbean and South America
	Regions/IOC
ODINCINDIO	ODIN for the IOCINDIO region/IOC
OIT	Ocean Information Technology Pilot Project
ONR	US Office of Naval Research
OOPC	Ocean Observations Panel for Climate
OOSDP	Ocean Observing Systems Development Panel
OPeNDAP	Open-source Project for a Network Data Access Protocol (both the name of
	a non-profit organisation and the name of the protocol which the
	OPeNDAP organisation has developed
OTEC	Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion
PACSICOM	Pan-African Conference on Sustainable Integrated Coastal Management
PICES	North Pacific Marine Science Organization
PICHTR	Pacific International Center For High Technology Research
PIRATA	Pilot Research Moored Array in the Tropical Atlantic
POGO	Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans
RG	Real Growth Scenario
RNODC	Responsible National Oceanographic Data Centre
ROOFS-AFRICA	Regional Ocean Observing and Forecasting System for Africa
ROSTA	Regional Office for Science and Technology for Africa
RRG	Reduced Real Growth [budgetary scenario]
RSP	UNEP's Regional Seas Programme
SAP	System Applications and Products
SBSTA	System Applications and Froducts Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice/UNESCO
SCOR	Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research
SEAGOOS	South-East Asian Regional GOOS
Seasat	Earth satellite dedicated to oceanographic applications/USA
SeaWiFS	Sea-Viewing, Wide-Field-of-View Sensor/USA
SISTER	System of Information on Strategies, Tasks and the Evaluation of Results

SOC	Southampton Oceanography Centre/UK
SOCA	ACC Sub-Committee on Oceans and Coastal Areas
SOOP	Ship-of-Opportunity Programme/IOC–WMO
STRC	Scientific, Technical and Research Commission/OAU
TMT	Transfer of marine technology
TTR	Training-Through-Research
TWAS	Third World Academy of Sciences
UK	United Kingdom
UN	United Nations
UNCED	United Nations Conference on Environment and Development
UNCLOS	United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNGA	United Nations General Assembly
UNIDO	United Nations Industrial Development Organisation
US NSF	US National Science Foundation
USA	United States of America
VOS	Vessel of Opportunity/WMO
WDC	World Data Centre
WESTPAC	IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific
WHO	World Health Organisation
WIOMAP	Western Indian Ocean Marine Applications Project
WIOMSA	Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association
WOCE	World Ocean Circulation Experiment
WSSD	World Summit on Sustainable Development
XML	Extensible Mark-up Language
ZNG	Zero Nominal Growth [budgetary scenario]